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NEO BATTERY MATERIALS LTD. 
NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL AND SPECIAL MEETINGOF SHAREHOLDERS 

 
NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN an Annual General and Special Meeting (the "Meeting") of the shareholders (the 
"Shareholders") of NEO BATTERY MATERIALS LTD. (the "Company") will be held at the Company's office at 
Suite 700 - 838 West Hastings Street, Vancouver, BC V6C 0A6 on February 21, 2023 at 3:30 p.m. for the following 
purposes: 
 
1. To receive and consider the financial statements of the Company for the year ended February 28, 2022, 
and the auditor's report thereon; 
 
2. To set the number of directors to be elected at the Meeting at seven (7) and to elect the directors of the 
Company until the Company's next annual meeting of shareholders; 
 
3. To appoint DeVisser Gray LLP, Chartered Professional Accountants as auditors of the Company and to 
authorize the directors of the Company to fix their remuneration; 
 
4. To approve the Company's 10% rolling stock option plan, as described in the Circular (as defined below); 
 
5. To consider and, if thought fit, pass, with or without variation, a resolution approving the "Change of 
Business" of the Company (as defined in Exchange Policy) from a mining issuer to a technology issuer (the "Change 
of Business"), the text of which is set forth in the Circular (as defined below);  
 
6. To approve by special resolution the continuation of the Company from the Business Corporations Act 
(British Columbia) to the Business Corporations Act (R.S.O. 1990, c.B.16) (“OBCA”), and to adopt a new By-Law No. 
1 for the Company, as described in the accompanying Management Information Circular); and 
 
7. To transact such other business as may properly be brought before the Meeting. 
 
Information relating to the matters to be brought before the Meeting is set forth in the information circular 
accompanying this Notice of Meeting (the "Circular"). 
 
The Circular provides additional information relating to the matters to be dealt with at the Meeting and is deemed to 
form part of this Notice.  Also accompanying the Notice and the Circular is a form of proxy for use at the Meeting.  
Any adjourned meeting resulting from an adjournment of the Meeting will be held at a time and place to be specified at 
the Meeting.  Only Shareholders of record at the close of business on January 10, 2023, will be entitled to receive 
notice of and vote at the Meeting. 
 
Registered Shareholders unable to attend the Meeting are requested to date, sign and return the enclosed form 
of proxy and deliver it in accordance with the instructions set out in the proxy and in the Circular.  If you are a 
non-registered Shareholder and receive these materials through your broker or through another intermediary, 
please complete and return these materials in accordance with the instructions provided to you by your broker 
or the other intermediary.  Failure to do so may result in your shares of the Company not being voted at the 
Meeting. 
 
Dated at Vancouver, British Columbia, this 20th day of January, 2023. 
 
BY ORDER OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

 
       
Spencer Huh, CEO and Director 
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GLOSSARY 
 
"Arm’s Length Transaction" means a transaction which is not a Related Party Transaction. 
 
"Change of Business" means a transaction or series of transactions which will redirect an Issuer’s resources 
and which changes the nature of its business, for example, through the acquisition of an interest in another 
business which represents a material amount of the issuer’s market value, assets or operations, or which 
becomes the principal enterprise of the issuer. 
 
"Company" unless specifically indicated otherwise, means a corporation, incorporated association or 
organization, body corporate, partnership, trust, association or other entity other than an individual. 
 
"Completion Date" means the date of the Final Exchange Bulletin. 
 
"Control Person" means any Person that holds or is one of a combination of Persons that holds a sufficient 
number of any of the securities of an issuer so as to affect materially the control of that issuer, or that holds 
more than 20% of the outstanding voting securities of an issuer except where there is evidence showing that 
the holder of those securities does not materially affect the control of the issuer.  
 
"Exchange" means the TSX Venture Exchange Inc. 
 
"Final Exchange Bulletin" means the bulletin issued by the Exchange following closing of the Change of 
Business and the submission of all Post-Approval Documents which evidences the final Exchange acceptance 
of the Change of Business. 
 
"Person" means a Company or individual. 
 
"Post-Approval Documents" mean the documents prescribed as such in Policy 5.2 – Changes of Business and 
Reverse Takeovers. 
 
"Financing" means the private placement of Units to be completed by the Company as soon as practicable 
prior to or concurrent with the Completion Date for gross proceeds of $3,200,000 at a price of $0.40 per Unit. 
 
"Units" means the units to be sold by the Company in the Financing, each Unit consisting of one common 
share of the Company and one-half of one common share purchase warrant, each whole warrant exercisable at 
a price of $0.80 for one additional common share of the Company for a period of 36 months from closing of 
the Financing.  
 
 



 

7 

NEO BATTERY MATERIALS LTD. 
MANAGEMENT INFORMATION CIRCULAR 

 
As at January 10, 2023 except as otherwise indicated 

 
SUMMARY 

 
The following is a summary of information relating to NEO BATTERY MATERIALS LTD. (the “Company”), 
(assuming completion of the Change of Business) and should be read together with the more detailed 
information and financial data and statements contained elsewhere in this Information Circular (the 
“Circular”). 
 
The Circular is furnished in connection with the solicitation of proxies by the management of the 
Company for use at the Annual General and Special Meeting of its shareholders to be held on February 
21, 2023 (the "Meeting"), at the time and place and for the purposes set forth in the accompanying 
Notice of the Meeting.  
 
In this Circular, references to "the Company", "we" and "our" refer to NEO BATTERY MATERIALS LTD. 
"Common Shares" means common shares without par value in the capital of the Company and 
"Shareholders" means the holders of Common Shares.  
 
Shareholders as of the close of business on January 10, 2023 (the "Record Date") are entitled to vote at the 
Meeting and any adjournments thereof. Each Common Share is entitled to one vote on those items of business 
identified in the Notice of Meeting. The Meeting is being held for the following purposes: 

 
1. To receive and consider the financial statements of the Company for the year ended February 28, 

2022, and the auditor's report thereon; 
 
2. To set the number of directors to be elected at the Meeting at seven (7) and to elect the directors 

of the Company until the Company's next annual meeting of shareholders; 
 
3. To appoint DeVisser Gray LLP, Chartered Professional Accountants as auditors of the Company 

and to authorize the directors of the Company to fix their remuneration; 
 
4. To approve the Company's 10% rolling stock option plan, as described in the accompanying 

management information circular; 
 
5. To consider and, if thought fit, pass, with or without variation, a resolution approving the "Change 

of Business" of the Company (as defined in Exchange Policy) from a mining issuer to a 
technology issuer (the "Change of Business"), the text of which is set forth in the Circular (as 
defined below);  

 
6. To approve by special resolution the continuation of the Company from the Business 

Corporations Act (British Columbia) to the Business Corporations Act (R.S.O. 1990, c.B.16) 
(“OBCA”), and to adopt a new By-Law No. 1 for the Company, as described in the accompanying 
management information circular); and 

 
7. To transact such other business as may properly be brought before the Meeting. 

 
The Change of Business has consisted of a series of Arm’s Length Transactions. The Company intends to use 
its commercially reasonable efforts to complete the Financing for gross proceeds of $3,200,000 at a price of 
$0.40 per Unit as soon as practicable prior to or concurrent with the Completion Date. Each Unit to be sold by 
the Company is to consist of one common share of the Company and one-half of one common share purchase 
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warrant, each whole warrant exercisable at a price of $0.80 for one additional common share of the Company 
for a period of 36 months from the close of the Financing.  
 
The funds available to the Company, including the concurrent Financing is an aggregate of $5,200,000 and the 
following breakdown of those and other available funds: 
 

1. $2,000,000 the estimated consolidated working capital as at the most recent month end prior to the 
date of this Information Circular; and 
 

2. $3,200,000 are the net proceeds from the sale of any securities to be issued in connection with the 
Change of Business and concurrent Financing to be undertaken by the Company; and 
 

 
The net proceeds received by the Company from the Financing will be $3,200,000. The Company has 
approximately $2,000,000 in cash as of the date of this Circular.  
 
There are risks associated with the completion of the Change of Business. These risks include: (i) that market 
reaction to the Change of Business and the future trading prices of the Common Shares cannot be predicted; 
(ii) uncertainty as to whether the Change of Business will have a positive impact on the business or share price 
of the Company; and (iii that there is no assurance that required approvals will be received. 
 
Shareholders should review carefully the risk factors set forth under "Risk Factors" in this Information 
Circular. 
 
The Exchange has conditionally accepted the Change of Business subject to the Company fulfilling all of the 
requirements of the Exchange. 
 
Change of Business to a Technology Company  
 
The Company, or "NEO", is focused on becoming a battery materials developer that is developing and 
commercializing high-performance and cost-effective silicon anode active materials, named NBMSiDE™, for 
high energy-dense and ultra-fast charging lithium-ion batteries for electric vehicle (EV) and energy storage 
solution (ESS) applications. The Company has developed a single-step, one-pot nanocoating process that 
allows for economical manufacturing of silicon anode active materials. NEO’s proprietary solution has a 
substantial opportunity in the silicon anode market as the Company’s unparalleled coating technology will 
enable longer run-time, lowered cost, and ultra-fast charging characteristics for state-of-the-art lithium-ion 
batteries for the electric vehicle market. 
 
NEO is currently on track to develop three types of silicon anode active materials with a functional 
nanocoating layers that functionalize the long-term cycle life of Silicon anode in Li-ion batteries. Silicon anode 
pipelines will be customizable to match the needs and specifications of each individual client. As a battery 
materials developer, NEO will be mainly supplying its materials to battery cell manufacturers and automotive 
OEMs that are planning in-house battery manufacturing. Revenue outputs will revolve around two routes: 1) 
In-house manufacturing through commercial plant operations with joint venture expansion options, and 2) 
Licensing technology to the supply chain downstream such as battery manufacturers and EV Original 
Equipment Manufacturers (OEMs).  
 
NEO Battery Materials (NBM) Korea Co., Ltd., (“NBM Korea Co”) was established as a wholly-owned NEO 
subsidiary in September 2021. Effectively after the closed the financing of approximately $3 million dated July 
1, 2022, A&P, a company publicly traded on Korea Stock Exchange, becomes the 2nd shareholder of NBM 
Korea Co with 40% of ownership. NEO Battery Materials reduced its ownership to 60%. NBM Korea Co. is 
operating under the management of NEO. NBM Korea Co. has also established a R&D Scale-Up Center at 
Yonsei University in Korea to respond to customer requests.  NBM Korea Co. has 7 employees that work 
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regarding daily operation in South Korea, including the activities and communication with the Gyeonggi-do 
government and daily lab operations.  
 
The Company's plan to advance the above venture will constitute a Change of Business under Exchange Policy 
5.2. 
 
Patents 
 
The Company has developed the following patents (the "Patents"), either independently or pursuant to its 
Exclusive Licence Agreements with the Yonsei University: 
 

  Name of Invention Patent No./ 
Registration No. Request: highlight 

Registration 
to NEO Expiry Date 

1 

Negative electrode active material 
for lithium secondary battery, 
method of preparing the same, and 
lithium secondary battery 
comprising the same 

KR 10-2014579/KR 
10-2016-0004294 

Pre-lithiation method for 
enhancing initial 
charge/discharge efficiency. 
This method can increase 
cycleability of Si based full-
cell system.  Feb. 08, 2021 Jan. 13, 2036 

2 
Three-phase Titanium dioxide 
nanoparticles and method of 
manufacturing the same 

KR 10-2085756/KR 
10-2018-0095980 

TiO2 based anode materials 
for Li-ion battery. Controlled 
crystaline structure of TiO2 is 
beneficial for Li-ion storage.  Feb. 08, 2021 Aug. 17, 2038 

3 

Silicon/polymer composite 
nanoparticles, anode for lithium 
secondary battery comprising the 
same, and method for manufacturing 
the silicon/polymer composite 
nanoparticles 

KR 10-2334001/KR 
10-2020-0153827 

Highly durable Si anode 
materials which is coated by 
x-linked polymer. This 
materials showed enhanced 
long-term stability when it 
was used as a anode in Li-ion 
batteries. Feb. 08, 2021 Nov. 17, 2040 

4 
Silicon composite for lithium 
secondary battery and 
manufacturing method thereof 

KR 10-2021-0092783 

Si micron-sized particle which 
is coated by functionalized 
CNT conducting agent for 
increased long-term stability 
of Li-ion batteries.  July. 20, 2021 July. 15, 2041 

5 

Composite nanoparticle comprising 
non-carbon nanoparticle and 
carbonaceous layer thereon, and 
process of preparing the same 

KR-10-2021-0135113 

Highly durable and 
conductive Si anode materials 
which is coated by ultra-thin 
carbon layer. This materials 
showed enhanced long-term 
stability and C-rate 
performance when it was used 
as a anode in Li-ion batteries. 

Oct. 12, 2021 Oct. 12, 2041 

 
 

USE OF PROCEEDS 
 

The net proceeds received by the Company from the Financing will be $3,200,000.  The Company has 
approximately $2,000,000 in cash as of the date of this Circular.  
 
The Company intends to use the proceeds from the Financing as follows in order of priority for the use of 
funds: 
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As at the date of this Circular, the Company has not used any of the proceeds of the Financing.  The proceeds 
to be used for groundwork for construction site, working capital. The groundwork, permit, design, architecture, 
processing, construction crew and procurement will be paid with the proceeds. The general corporate purposes will 
be utilized for general administrative expenses including employee salaries, legal, accounting and audit costs 
as well as regulatory fees. 
 
The Company intends to spend the proceeds of the Financing as stated herein; however, there may be 
circumstances where, for sound business reasons, a reallocation of the net proceeds may be deemed prudent or 
necessary.  
 

GENERAL PROXY INFORMATION  
Solicitation of Proxies  
 
The solicitation of proxies will be primarily by mail, but proxies may be solicited personally or by telephone 
by directors, officers and regular employees of the Company. The Company will bear all costs of this 
solicitation.  
 
Appointment of Proxyholders  
 
The individuals named in the accompanying form of proxy (the "Proxy") are officers and/or directors of the 
Company. If you are a Shareholder entitled to vote at the Meeting, you have the right to appoint a 
person or company other than either of the persons designated in the Proxy, who need not be a 
Shareholder, to attend and act for you and on your behalf at the Meeting. You may do so either by 
inserting the name of that other person in the blank space provided in the Proxy or by completing and 
delivering another suitable form of proxy.  
 
Voting by Proxyholder  
 
The persons named in the Proxy will vote or withhold from voting the Common Shares represented thereby in 
accordance with your instructions on any ballot that may be called for. If you specify a choice with respect to 
any matter to be acted upon, your Common Shares will be voted accordingly. The Proxy confers discretionary 
authority on the persons named therein with respect to:  
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a) each matter or group of matters identified therein for which a choice is not specified, other than the 
appointment of an auditor and the election of directors;  
 

b) any amendment to or variation of any matter identified therein; and  
 

c) any other matter that properly comes before the Meeting.  
 
In respect of a matter for which a choice is not specified in the Proxy, the management appointee acting 
as a proxyholder will vote in favour of each matter identified on the Proxy and, if applicable, for the 
nominees of management for directors and the auditor as identified in the Proxy.  
 
Registered Shareholders  
 
As a registered Shareholder you may wish to vote by Proxy whether or not you attend the Meeting in person. If 
you submit a Proxy you must complete, date and sign the Proxy, and then return it to the Company’s transfer 
agent, located at Suite 350 – 409 Granville Street, Vancouver, BC V6C 1T4R., not less than 48 hours 
(excluding Saturdays, Sundays and holidays) before the Meeting or the adjournment thereof at which the 
Proxy is to be used.  
 
Non-Registered Shareholders 
 
If you are a non-registered shareholder of the Company and receive these materials through your broker or 
through another intermediary, please complete and return the materials in accordance with the instructions 
provided to you by your broker or by the other intermediary. Failure to do so may result in your Common 
Shares not being eligible to be voted by proxy at the Meeting. 
 
Revocation of Proxies  
 
In addition to revocation in any other manner permitted by law, a registered shareholder who has given a Proxy 
may revoke it by:  

 
a) executing a Proxy bearing a later date or by executing a valid notice of revocation, either of the 

foregoing to be executed by the registered shareholder or the registered shareholder’s authorized 
attorney in writing, or, if the shareholder is a corporation, under its corporate seal by an officer or 
attorney duly authorized, and by delivering the Proxy bearing a later date to the office of the 
Company, located at Suite 700 – 838 West Hastings Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, V6C 0A6 
Canada, at any time up to and including the last business day that precedes the day of the Meeting or, 
if the Meeting is adjourned, the last business day that precedes any reconvening thereof, or to the 
chairman of the Meeting on the day of the Meeting or any reconvening thereof, or in any other manner 
provided by law; or  
 

b) personally attending the Meeting and voting the registered shareholder’s Common Shares.  
 
A revocation of a Proxy will not affect a matter on which a vote is taken before the revocation.  
 
Votes Necessary to Pass Resolutions 
 
Along with the Change of Business resolution (the "Change of Business Resolutions") (attached as Schedule 
"A" hereto), a simple majority of affirmative votes cast at the Meeting is required to pass the resolutions 
described herein, with the exception  of the Continuance Resolution (as defined below). The Change of 
Business Resolutions must be approved by not less than 50% of the votes cast by all holders of Common 
Shares present in person or represented by proxy at the Meeting and entitled to vote on the Change of Business 
Resolution. 
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In order to complete the Continuance to Ontario, Shareholders will also be asked to pass the continuance 
resolution attached hereto as Schedule “B” (the “Continuance Resolution”), being a special resolution 
approving the Continuance upon substantially the terms and conditions set out herein. The Continuance 
Resolution must be passed by not less than 66⅔% of the votes cast by all holders of Common Shares present in 
person or represented by proxy at the Meeting and entitled to vote on the Continuance Resolution. 
 
Notice-and-Access Process  
 
In accordance with the notice-and-access rules under National Instrument 54-101 Communications with 
Beneficial Owners of Securities of a Reporting Issuer, the Company has sent its proxy-related materials to  
registered holders and non-objecting beneficial owners using notice-and-access. Therefore, although 
Shareholders still receive a proxy or voting instruction form (as applicable) in paper copy, the Company’s 
Meeting materials are not 2 physically delivered. Instead, Shareholders may access these materials under the 
Company’s profile on SEDAR at www.sedar.com or on the Company’s website at 
http://www.neobatterymaterials.com. Registered holders or beneficial owners of the Company may request 
paper copies of the Meeting materials be sent to them by postal delivery at no cost to them. Requests may be 
made up to one year from the date the meeting materials are posted on the website referenced above. In order 
to receive a paper copy of the Meeting materials or if you have questions concerning notice-and-access, please 
call Odyssey Trust Company at (778) 819- 1184 or email info@odysseytrust.com. Requests for paper copies of 
the Meeting materials shall be fulfilled within 3 business days if requested prior to the meeting date and within 
10 calendar days if requested after the meeting date.  
 
Risk Factors 
 
Shareholders should carefully consider the following risk factors in evaluating whether to approve the Change 
of Business. These risk factors should be considered in conjunction with the other information included in this 
Information Circular. 
 
Risks Relating to the Change of Business 
 
There are risks associated with the Change of Business including: (i) that market reaction to the Change of 
Business and the future trading prices of the Shares cannot be predicted, (ii) that the Change of Business may 
give rise to significant adverse tax consequences to Shareholders (each Shareholder is urged to consult his or 
her own tax advisor), (iii) uncertainty as to whether the Change of Business will have a positive impact on the 
entities involved in the Change of Business, and (iv) that there is no assurance that required approvals will be 
received. 
 
The completion of the Change of Business is subject to a number of conditions precedent, certain of which are 
outside the control of the Company. There can be no certainty, and the Company cannot provide any 
assurance, that these conditions will be satisfied or, if satisfied, when they will be satisfied. If the Change of 
Business is not completed, the market price of the Common Shares may decline to the extent that the market 
price reflects the assumption that the Change of Business will be completed. If the Change of Business is not 
completed, and the Board decides to seek another Change of Business, there can be no assurance that it will be 
able to find a party willing to pay an equivalent or more attractive price than the total amount invested by the 
Company in advancing the Change of Business. 
 
Possible Failure to Realize Anticipated Benefits of the Change of Business 
 
The success of the Company upon completion of the Change of Business will depend in large part on 
successfully commercializing the Patents and developing and expanding operations, projects, procedures and 
personnel in a timely and efficient manner, as well as its ability to realize the anticipated growth opportunities 
from the business and operations of the battery material business. The inability to achieve such growth could 
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result in the failure of the Company to realize the anticipated benefits of the Change of Business and could 
impair the results of operations, profitability and financial results of the Company. 
 
Risks Relating to the Company 
 
Whether or not the Change of Business is completed, the Company will continue to face many risk factors that 
it currently faces with respect to its business and affairs. Certain of these risk factors are described under the 
risks sections in its management’s discussions and analysis for the year ended February 28, 2022. 
 
Inability to complete future research and development and engineering projects in a timely manner could have 
a material adverse effect of our results of operations, financial condition and cash flows. 
 
If research and development projects are not completed in a timely fashion, the Company could experience: 

 
• substantial additional cost to obtain a marketable product; 

 
• additional competition resulting from competitors in the surveillance and facial recognition market; 

and 
 

The Company could face intense competition, which could result in lower revenues and higher research and 
development expenditures and could adversely affect the results of operations. 
 
Unless the Company keeps pace with changing technologies, the Company could lose existing customers and 
fail to win new customers. In order to compete effectively in providing battery technology solutions, the 
Company must continually design, develop and market new and enhanced technologies. The future success of 
the Company will depend, in part, upon its ability to address the changing and sophisticated needs of the 
marketplace.   
 
For the market for the battery technology innovations the Company is developing, if the industry adopts test 
criteria that are different from internal test criteria of the Company, our competitive position would be 
negatively affected.  Our plan to pursue sales in international markets may be limited by risks related to 
conditions in such markets. 
 
If the Company is not able to adequately protect the intellectual property, then the Company may not be able 
to compete effectively and may not be profitable. 
 
Commercial success may depend, in part, on obtaining and maintaining patent protection, trade secret 
protection and regulatory protection of our technologies and product candidates as well as successfully 
defending third-party challenges to such technologies and candidates. The Company will be able to protect our 
technologies and product candidates from use by third parties only to the extent that valid and enforceable 
patents, trade secrets or regulatory protection cover them and we have exclusive rights to use them. The ability 
of licensors, collaborators and suppliers of the Company to maintain their patent rights against third-party 
challenges to their validity, scope or enforceability will also play an important role in determining our future. 
 
The copyright and patent positions of software and technology related companies can be highly uncertain and 
involve complex legal and factual questions that include unresolved principles and issues. No consistent policy 
regarding the breadth of claims allowed regarding such companies’ patents has emerged to date in Korea, and 
the patent situation outside Korea is even more uncertain. Changes in either the patent laws or in 
interpretations of patent laws in Canada, Korea or other countries may diminish the value of the Patents. 
Accordingly, the Company cannot predict with any certainty the range of claims that may be allowed or 
enforced concerning patents of the Company. 
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The Company may also rely on trade secrets to protect our technologies, especially where the Company does 
not believe patent protection is appropriate or obtainable. However, trade secrets are difficult to protect. While 
the Company seeks to protect confidential information, in part, through confidentiality agreements with our 
consultants and scientific and other advisors, they may unintentionally or willfully disclose our information to 
competitors. Enforcing a claim against a third party related to the illegal acquisition and use of trade secrets 
can be expensive and time consuming, and the outcome is often unpredictable. If we are not able to maintain 
patent or trade secret protection on our technologies and product candidates, then we may not be able to 
exclude competitors from developing or marketing competing products, and we may not be able to operate 
profitability. 
 
If the Company is the subject of an intellectual property infringement claim, the cost of participating in any 
litigation could cause the Company to go out of business. 
 
There has been, and the Company believes that there will continue to be, significant litigation and demands in 
the battery technology industry regarding patent and other intellectual property rights. Although the Company 
anticipates having a valid defense to any allegation that the Patents infringe the valid and enforceable 
intellectual property rights of any third parties, the Company cannot be certain that a third party will not 
challenge the position of the Company in the future. Other parties may own patent rights that the Company 
might infringe with the Patents or other activities, and our competitors or other patent holders may assert that 
our products and the methods that the Company employs are covered by their patents. These parties could 
bring claims against the Company that would cause the Company to incur substantial litigation expenses and, 
if successful, may require the Company to pay substantial damages. Some of the potential competitors may be 
better able to sustain the costs of complex patent litigation, and depending on the circumstances, the Company 
could be forced to stop or delay research, development, manufacturing or sales activities. Any of these costs 
could cause the Company to go out of business. 
 
The Patents may become obsolete and unmarketable if the Company is unable to respond adequately to 
rapidly changing technology and customer demands. 
 
The battery technology industry is characterized by rapid changes in technology and customer demands. As a 
result, products and software of the Company may quickly become obsolete and unmarketable. The 
Company’s future success will depend on the ability to adapt to technological advances, anticipate customer 
demands, develop new products and enhance current products on a timely and cost-effective basis. Further, 
products and software of the Company must remain competitive with those of other companies with 
substantially greater resources. The Company may experience technical or other difficulties that could delay or 
prevent the development, introduction or marketing of new products and software or enhanced versions of 
existing products. Also, the Company may not be able to adapt new or enhanced services to emerging industry 
standards, and new products and software of the Company may not be favorably received. 
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INFORMATION CONCERNING THE ISSUER 
 
NEO BATTERY MATERIALS LTD. was incorporated pursuant to the Business Corporations Act (British 
Columbia).  The head office, principal address and records office of the Company are located at Suite 700 – 
838 West Hastings Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada, V6C 2V6. The Company’s registered 
address is Suite 1500 - 1055 West Georgia Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada, V6E 4N7.  
 
General Development of the Business 
 
NEO Battery Materials Ltd. (the "Company", “Neo” or "NEO Battery") is Vancouver-based junior resource 
company.  NEO Battery is a publicly listed company incorporated under the Business Corporations Act of 
British Columbia on February 10, 2006, as 0748496 B.C. Ltd. On March 1, 2006, the Company changed its 
name to BCGold Corp, and on March 16, 2017, to Pan Andean Minerals Ltd, and again on March 2, 2021, to 
NEO Battery Materials Ltd. The Company is listed on the Exchange under the symbol "NBM". On September 
3, 2021, the Company started trading on OTCQB under the symbol "NBMFF". The head office, principal 
address and records office of the Company are located at Suite 700 – 838 West Hastings Street, Vancouver, 
British Columbia, Canada, V6C 2V6. The Company’s registered address is Suite 1500 - 1055 West Georgia 
Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada, V6E 4N7. 
 
As a junior resource company, the Company has had an interest in and operated the following property 
interests: 
 
Minto/Carmacks Copper-Gold Properties, Yukon  
 
On April 9, 2019, the Company sold its 100% interest in the Yukon (the "Minto Property") to Pembridge and 
received $182,537 cash and 100,000 Pembridge ordinary shares initially valued at $22,200.  
 
Rainbow Property, BC  
 
On July 10, 2015, the Company sold its 100%-owned 926-hectare Rainbow Property, situated three kilometres 
south of the Mt. Milligan copper-gold mine, to Terrane Metals Corp. (‘TMC’) for $35,000. On February 28, 
2019, the Company decided to write-off the remaining value of the property but retains a 2.5% NSR, which 
may be purchased by TMC at any time for $250,000.  
 
Chanape and Pucacorral, Peru.  
 
On August 2, 2016, the Company announced that it had completed agreements to acquire a 100% interest in 
the Chanape and Pucacorral properties located in Peru. One of the Peruvian subsidiaries, Cima de Oro S.A.C. 
("Cima"), has an option agreement (the "Tres Agreement") to purchase all the issued and outstanding shares of 
another private Peruvian company, SMRL Cerro de Oro Tres ("Tres"). On February 28, 2019, the Company 
decided to write-down the value of the property to $1 as the Company no longer intends to pursue exploration 
of the properties under the Tres Agreement but retains it’s earned interest to date. 
 
Golden Property, BC  
 
In January 2021, the Company has staked new mining claims in Golden, BC, along a strike with a quartzite 
bed, targeting silica in the quartzites for a total of 467 hectares. In July 2021, the first phase of geological 
mapping program was conducted. The samples were taken to the lab to the analyze the purity of the silica.  
 
The Company is now focused on transitioning to producing silicon anode active materials through its 
proprietary single-step nanocoating process for electric vehicle lithium-ion batteries. The Company’s silicon 
anodes provide improvements in capacity, charging rate, and efficiency over lithium-ion batteries using 
graphite in the anode materials.  
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In connection with the COB, the Company impaired its remaining exploration and evaluation assets during the 
six months ended August 31, 2022 
 
Intercorporate Relationships 
 
The Company has one subsidiary, NEO Battery Materials (NBM) Korea Co., Ltd., with 60% of ownership, a 
company incorporated in the Republic of Korea. 
 
Financing 
 
The Company intends to use its commercially reasonable efforts to complete the Financing for gross proceeds 
of $3,200,000 00 at a price of $0.40 per Unit as soon as practicable prior to or concurrent with the Completion 
Date. Each Unit to be sold by the Company is to consist of one common share of the Company and one-half of 
one common share purchase warrant, each whole warrant exercisable at a price of $0.80 for one additional 
common share of the Company for a period of 36 months from the close of the Financing.  
 
Description of the Change of Business 
 
The Company is focused on becoming a battery materials developer that is developing and commercializing 
high-performance and cost-effective silicon anode active materials, named NBMSiDE™, for high energy-
dense and ultra-fast charging lithium-ion batteries for electric vehicle (EV) and energy storage solution (ESS) 
applications. The Company has developed a single-step, one-pot nanocoating process that allows for 
economical manufacturing of silicon anode active materials. NEO’s proprietary solution has a substantial 
opportunity in the silicon anode market as the Company’s unparalleled coating technology will enable longer 
run-time, lowered cost, and ultra-fast charging characteristics for state-of-the-art lithium-ion batteries for the 
electric vehicle market. 
 
NEO is currently on track to develop three types of silicon anode active materials with a functional 
nanocoating layers that functionalize the long-term cycle life of Silicon anode in Li-ion batteries. Silicon anode 
pipelines will be customizable to match the needs and specifications of each individual client. As a battery 
materials developer, NEO will be mainly supplying its materials to battery cell manufacturers and automotive 
OEMs that are planning in-house battery manufacturing. Revenue outputs will revolve around two routes: 1) 
In-house manufacturing through commercial plant operations with joint venture expansion options, and 2) 
Licensing technology to the supply chain downstream such as battery manufacturers and EV Original 
Equipment Manufacturers (OEMs).  
 
NEO Battery Materials Korea Co., Ltd., (“NBM Korea Co”) was established as a wholly owned NEO 
subsidiary in September 2021. After the closing the financing of approximately $3 million dated July 1, 2022, 
A&P, a company publicly traded on Korea Stock Exchange, becomes the 2nd shareholder of NBM Korea Co 
with 40% of ownership and NEO Battery Materials reduced its ownership to 60%. NBM Korea Co. is 
operating under the management of NEO. NBM Korea Co. has also established a R&D Scale-Up Center at 
Yonsei University in Korea to respond to customer requests.  NBM Korea Co. has 7 employees that work 
regarding daily operation in South Korea, including the activities and communication with the Gyeonggi-do 
government and daily lab operations.  
 
NEO retains a proprietary nanocoating process to manufacture the silicon anode active materials. As the 
production of the materials occurs under a single-step, one-pot process with low-cost nanocoating materials, 
the Company enables economical manufacturing of the silicon anode materials. Implementing NEO’s silicon 
into the anode component delivers improvements in energy density, efficiency, and charging rates over 
traditional anode materials composed of pure graphite.  
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Patents 
 
The Company has developed the following patents (the "Patents"), either independently or pursuant to its 
Exclusive Licence Agreements with the Yonsei University: 
 

  Name of Invention Patent No./ 
Registration No. Request: highlight 

Registration 
to NEO Expiry Date 

1 

Negative electrode active material 
for lithium secondary battery, 
method of preparing the same, and 
lithium secondary battery 
comprising the same 

KR 10-2014579/KR 
10-2016-0004294 

Pre-lithiation method for 
enhancing initial 
charge/discharge efficiency. This 
method can increase cycleability 
of Si based full-cell system.  Feb. 08, 2021 Jan. 13, 2036 

2 
Three-phase Titanium dioxide 
nanoparticles and method of 
manufacturing the same 

KR 10-2085756/KR 
10-2018-0095980 

TiO2 based anode materials for 
Li-ion battery. Controlled 
crystaline structure of TiO2 is 
beneficial for Li-ion storage.  Feb. 08, 2021 Aug. 17, 2038 

3 

Silicon/polymer composite 
nanoparticles, anode for lithium 
secondary battery comprising the 
same, and method for manufacturing 
the silicon/polymer composite 
nanoparticles 

KR 10-2334001/KR 
10-2020-0153827 

Highly durable Si anode 
materials which is coated by x-
linked polymer. This materials 
showed enhanced long-term 
stability when it was used as a 
anode in Li-ion batteries. Feb. 08, 2021 Nov. 17, 2040 

4 
Silicon composite for lithium 
secondary battery and 
manufacturing method thereof 

KR 10-2021-
0092783 

Si micron-sized particle which is 
coated by functionalized CNT 
conducting agent for increased 
long-term stability of Li-ion 
batteries.  July. 20, 2021 July. 15, 2041 

5 

Composite nanoparticle comprising 
non-carbon nanoparticle and 
carbonaceous layer thereon, and 
process of preparing the same 

KR-10-2021-
0135113 

Highly durable and conductive 
Si anode materials which is 
coated by ultra-thin carbon layer. 
This materials showed enhanced 
long-term stability and C-rate 
performance when it was used as 

Oct. 12, 2021 Oct. 12, 2041 
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a anode in Li-ion batteries. 

 
 
 
Research and Development 
 
Silicon has received significant attention as a viable alternative to graphitic carbon as the negative electrode in 
lithium-ion batteries due to its high capacity and availability. Elemental silicon can theoretically store >3500 
mAh/g, nearly an order of magnitude higher than graphite (372 mAh/g and 818 mAh/mL, respectively). 
However, several problems have been identified that limit its utility including large crystallographic expansion 
(~320%) upon lithiation which translates to particle cracking, particle isolation, and electrode delamination 
issues. Further, there are fundamental and volume changes related to SEI stability issues, which affect cycling 
efficiency. The wealth of previous studies in this area is both a testament to its potential and the size of the 
challenge that must be overcome, requiring a great amount of innovation on multiple fronts. 
 
Recently astonishing advances in portable electronics and hybrid/full EV during the past decades have 
responded to the persistent demand for higher energy density Li-ion batteries powering them longer. Due to the 
limited specific capacity of traditional graphite anode material (370 mAhg-1 ),1-3 attractive features of silicon as 
an anode material – much higher theoretical specific capacity of 4,200 mAhg-1, low discharge potential of 
around +0.5 V versus Li/Li+, and natural abundance – have made silicon as one of the most promising 
alternatives to fulfil the demand. 
 
However, a large volume expansion/shrinkage (~400 %) of silicon during repeated lithium insertion/extraction 
substantially deteriorates its cycle performance by inducing fractures both inside Si and between Si particles 
and conductive additive or current collector that can result in the loss of electronic paths and the instability of 
solid electrolyte interphase, which have thus driven numerous studies focusing on an improvement in the cycle 
performance. 
 
Li-ion current into/from Si is strongly dependent upon Li-ion flux (i.e., areal current density) and total cross-
section area Li ions pass through. In terms of Li-ion flux, this is affected by Li-ion conductivity which is in 
proportion to Li-ion mobility and concentration. In fact, Li-ion mobility in Si cannot be tuned because it is 
dependent on the atomic structure of Si. Besides, the viscosity and Li-ion concentration of commonly used 
liquid electrolytes, which govern Li-ion mobility and concentration around Si particles in the electrolyte, have 
been already set optimally for the highest Li-ion conductivity. In the case of the total cross-section area for Li-
ion current, it has almost optimized by increasing the specific surface area of Si from nano-structural designs.  
 
Accordingly, there would be few factors for Si-based anode to increase Li-ion flux and total cross-section area. 
However, at this point, we should note that the effective contact surface area for Li- ion current corresponds to 
the contact area between Si particles and electrolyte, meaning that the better wettability of electrolyte to the 
surface of Si particles can bring about a larger contact surface area to increase Li-ion current. None can 
confirm that the entire exposed surface area of Si nanoparticles in an electrode is covered with liquid 
electrolyte even after enough time. Moreover, conventional polymer binders simply mixed with Si 
nanoparticles cannot maximize the wettability, which inherently affects the effective contact surface area for 
Li-ion current. 
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NEO BM Magic Nanocoating Solution 
 
A nanometre-thick polymer coating strategy developed by the Company on Si nanoparticles and microparticles 
is greatly beneficial to increase the effective contact surface area of Li-ion current. In addition, the polymer 
thin coating layer can provide strong adhesive force to keep Si particles in contact with carbon conductive 
additive and Cu current collector to ensure excellent cyclability of Si. In the context of developing a flexible 
battery for future wearable electronic devices which goes through physical deformation of bending and 
twisting that can lead to the detachment of electrode layer from the current collector, the expected strong 
adhesion strength of our Si anode material would prevent such detachment. Along with the polymer coating 
layer, the Company retains additional nanocoating material pipelines - carbon nanotubes (CNT) and carbon 
coatings - to manufacture its silicon anode active materials. In December 2021, NEO Battery Materials 
released three products, NBMSiDE-P100, NBMSiDE-P200, and NBMSiDE-C100, that retain different 
nanocoating materials and coating thickness to resolve the volume expansion problem of silicon during 
charging. 

 
The three types of products are manufactured through NEO’s proprietary nanocoating technology and are 
based on metallurgical-grade silicon with purities of at least 99.95%. NEO’s products have all achieved an 
initial coulombic efficiency (ICE) greater than 86%, and high specific capacity (>2,500 mAh/g). In addition, 
an ICE of 92% or higher can be attained when NEO’s silicon is mixed with existing graphite anode. NEO’s 
technology significantly improves the life span and cycling stability compared to conventional metallurgical 
silicon-based particles. 
 
 
Product Types 
 
Silicon Nanoball (Soft version) 
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Our technology can make sticky silicon nanoballs with an approximately 2-nm-thick PAN layer coats 
the Si NP surface. 
 

 
 
Our technology can make sticky silicon nanoballs with an increase in Li-ion current for ultra-fast rate-
capability: Nanometer-thick polymer coating leads to larger effective cross-section area for Li-ion transfer 
between Si and liquid electrolyte, which can enable higher rate-capability and prolonged stability by increasing 
Li-ion current into/from Si nanoparticles. 

0 100 200 300 400 500 600 700 800 900 1000
0

1000

2000

3000

4000

 
Di

sc
ha

rg
e 

ca
pa

cit
y 

(m
Ah

 g
-1
)

 Convensional Si anode
 Sticky Nanoball

Cycle number

 

 

 
Our sticky Si nanoball (soft version) shows ultra-stable cyclability with > 91.4% retention after 100 cycles 
and more than 65% after 1000 cycles. 
 
Silicon Nanoball (Hard version) 
 
On the basis of our previous Sticky Silicon Nanoball (Soft version) background, we produce more robust 
polymer shell layer by crosslinking. Like Sticky Silicon Nanoball (Soft version), Sticky Silicon Nanoball 
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(Hard version) can maintain similar uniform radial Li ion flux from superior wettability to liquid 
electrolytes, but also with enhanced elastic modulus for aiming the cycle-capability of Si anode system. 
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Conductive Silicon Nanoball  
 
Thermo-gravimetric analysis (TGA) of pure polymer coating layer under oxygen-free conditions confirmed 
that more than 40 mass percent of initial polymer remained after carbonization at 600°C. The Si nanoball can 
be coated by very uniform ultra-thin conductive carbon layer with ~2-nm-thick.   
 

 
 
 
Manufacturing & Cost: Silicon Microparticle Feedstock & Simplified, Single-Step Manufacturing 
 
Following the industry demand of implementing cost-effective silicon, NEO Battery Materials is in the 
strategic direction towards developing silicon anode active materials with an emphasis on silicon microparticle 
feedstocks, being a first-mover in the industry.  
 
On average, microparticles are recognized to be at least 8 to 10 times less expensive compared to nanoparticles 
due to a lower level technical and engineering difficulties during manufacturing. Despite the cost-effective 
capabilities of micro-silicon, the issue lies with the performance as the cracking issue are more prominent with 
larger particle sizes; hence, numerous silicon anode start-ups and companies are pursuing nanoparticle and 
nanostructure options to resolve the expansion problem, but due to cost, scalability of the materials have been 
another issue of contention. 
 
Along with reducing costs with inexpensive silicon precursors, NEO Battery Materials implements a 
simplified, single-step manufacturing process that contributes to further cost-savings in production and 
overhead. Competitors currently utilize energy-intensive and high-cost engineering methods such as chemical 
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vapor deposition (CVD) to manufacture silicon anode materials. However, the manufacturing methods 
preclude these companies from achieving scale to lower unit costs and transitioning into continuous processing 
from batch processing. NEO circumvents both problems faced in the industry through its proprietary 
nanocoating method, enabling silicon anode costs to be reduced for mass-use by battery cell manufacturers and 
EV OEMs. 
 
NEO recognizes functionalizing silicon microparticles into the anode material through inexpensive processes 
will be of essence and the top value proposition in the lithium-ion battery industry. As the industry keenly 
scopes for new options for silicon anode technology, NEO Battey Materials is aiming towards delivering the 
solution that provides synergy between both improving the performance of silicon in the battery and reducing 
the cost of the manufacturing process and silicon input feedstock. 
 
Future R&D: Silicon-Graphite Composite, High-Content Silicon & 100% Silicon 
 
1. Silicon-Graphite Composite Anode 
Due to the technical difficulty of functionalizing and implementing silicon in the anode material, graphite must 
be used together in the anode material. Hence, the first-generation of silicon anodes in the lithium-ion battery 
will be used as silicon-graphite composite anodes. NEO Battery Materials currently focuses on developing and 
supplying compatible silicon anodes for graphite, but the Company is also on a strategic R&D direction to 
develop optimal silicon-graphite composite anode that can be directly used by downstream customers. 
 
 
 

 
Above graph shows the illustration of the impact of increasing anode capacities on the total capacity of Li-ion 
full-cells in combination with different cathodes, i.e., varying cathode capacities, here exemplarily presented 
for state-of-the-art LiCoO2 (140 mAh/g, in black), a next-generation layered lithium-rich transition metal 
oxide cathode (LR-MO, 250 mAh/g, in red), an oxygen cathode with a limited specific capacity of 500 mAh/g 
(in yellow), and a capacity-limited sulphur cathode (1,000 mAh/g, in green). Accordingly, the incorporation of 
reasonable amounts of NBMSiDE™ with the graphite appears as a very suitable approach for the realization of 
next-generation lithium-ion anodes. 
 
2. High-Content Silicon & 100% Silicon Anodes 
While technical limitations of silicon require the input of graphite in the anode material, the industry will head 
in a direction to load a higher content of silicon to fully replace graphite. NEO will look to implement higher 
loadings of silicon, up to 30%, as the first phase of its high-content silicon anode R&D. As a final target, NEO 
aims to target commercializing 100% silicon to replace graphite as the anode material. Higher loading of 
silicon will enable the increase of battery capacity in an order of magnitude and will essentially contribute to 
further cost reduction when producing the battery. 
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Value Chain Target Customer 
 
1: Battery Cell Manufacturers 
 
Through collaboration with current battery cell manufacturers, we aim to create a market as an alternative 
material for existing battery anode materials. For this direction, we will start to work with major battery cell 
companies in South Korea, such as LG Energy Solution, Samsung SDI, and SK ON, to prove the superior 
performances of NEO’s Si anode materials. Possibly, the incorporation of reasonable amounts of our Si 
nanoballs with the graphite is observed to be the most agile approach for the first commercialization. 
 
2: Automotive Original Equipment Manufacturers 
 
Numerous automotive manufacturers are attempting to implement an in-house Li-ion battery system. For 
instance, Tesla Gigafactory #1 is a lithium-ion battery and electric vehicle component factory in Storey 
County, Nevada. The factory started limited production of Powerwalls and Powerpacks in the first quarter of 
2016 using third-party battery cells and began mass production of cells in January 2017. Nevada Governor 
Brian Sandoval estimated that Nevada could experience a $100 billion in economic benefit over two decades 
from the construction and operation of the factory. 
 
NEO’s Si nanoball family materials hence can be an excellent alternative for increasing Si contents in anode 
materials due to superior stability and safety compared to conventional Si nanoparticles currently used in 
battery manufacturing. 100% Si anode system may require more time for development, but the Si/graphite 
material can easily replace conventional graphite based one as an alternative to the Si nanoparticle can be 
applied directly to the existing battery production process.  
 
Business/Revenue Model Options 
 
In summary, the above two options for generating revenue upon mass-production will be through 1) 
commercial plant production or 2) technology licensing. NEO will be able to decide between the two revenue 
models based on variables and conditions considered by management. The commercial plant production will 
by nature entail a lower margin than technology licensing due to the need for various cost considerations for 
plant operations, supply chain logistics, and raw material costs. Technology licensing is another option to 
generate revenue, and this option would consider licensing to the aforementioned value chain clients. 
Specifications and structures for revenues and margins would be discussed with each individual licensee. 
 
 
Business Objective 
 
NEO is on a mission to accelerate the mass adoption trend of electric vehicles through its low-cost silicon 
anode innovation, NBMSiDE™, that enables longer-running and faster-charging lithium-ion batteries for EVs. 
 
Milestones 
 
In the next 18 months, the Company intends to build up its own commercialized plant, which will produce 240 
tons of NBMSiDE™ on an annual basis. When loading 5% of NEO’s Silicon into the anode material, the 
initial capacity will allow the Company to supply to 160,000 EVs. NEO’s long-term goal is to accelerate and 
streamline the manufacturing process and technology in which the Company expects to supply to 1.3 million 
EVs by increasing the First Commercial Plant capacity to 2,000 tons per annum. The Company expects to 
construct or license additional NBMSiDE™ mass production lines across the globe, securing market share and 
dominance in technology within the supply chain. 
 
With the overall goal of development of a commercial plant as noted above, the following specific milestones 
will need to be achieved: 
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2022  

a) Collaborative Development Agreement with YUIF for Silicon Anode Technology 

i. Objective: To conduct research and forward the development and commercialization of the 
proprietary ion-conductive polymer nanocoating technology for silicon anode applications 

ii. Period of 3 years from May 10, 2021, and any potential IP rights resulting from Collaboration will 
be wholly owned by NEO Battery Materials 

 
b) Successful Results Integrating NEO’s Silicon into Graphite-Based Anodes 

i. Highly effective in conventional graphite/Si mixture anodes, overcoming a major barrier to the 
commercialization of Si anodes in graphite anode systems 

ii. Demonstrated the longevity and stability of NEO’s Si anode when mixed with a conventional 
graphite-based anode 

iii. Introducing 10% of NEO’s nanocoated silicon in a natural graphite anode allows a more uniform 
solid-electrolyte interface (SEI) layer formation with minimal volume expansion during cycling, 
and thus, more than two-times higher capacity retention is obtained 

 
c) Pilot Plant Design Initiation 

i. Initiation of a pilot plant project whereby NEO intends to use in house resources to design and test 
equipment that will use NEO’s single-step silicon (Si) nanocoating process 

ii. NEO’s single-step and one-pot solution process effectively removes the need for a multistage 
manufacturing process, granting the reduction of processing time and improving the throughput 
rate through the elimination of unnecessary treatment steps, hence, bottlenecks 

 
d) Memorandum of Understanding with Ferroglobe Innovation 

i. Ferroglobe Innovation, a subsidiary of NASDAQ-listed Ferroglobe PLC, is one of the world’s 
leading suppliers of silicon metal, silicon-based and manganese-based specialty alloys and 
ferroalloys 

ii. Under the terms of the MOU, the parties intend to pursue synergies and mutual benefit through 
combining NEO’s silicon nanocoating technology and FGI’s silicon materials to optimize the 
electrochemistry, performance, and cost of the silicon powder and anode materials in lithium-ion 
batteries 

 
e) Second Licensing Agreement with YUIF for Silicon Anode Technology 

i. Granted an exclusive worldwide license for the patent regarding silicon anode nanocoating 
technology for lithium-ion batteries 

ii. Patent: Silicon composite for lithium secondary battery and manufacturing method thereof 
iii. With regards to a modified carbon nanotube (CNT) coating material that is directly integrable and 

suitable with NEO’s current silicon (Si) nanocoating technology and process 
 

f) File 5th Silicon Anode Nanocoating Process Patent 

i. Patent extends the protection related to the Si nanocoating process by the single-step, one-pot 
solution process which was originally developed by NEO 

ii. The patent will provide coverage for a novel method for a more uniform formation of the SEI 
layer and stabilization of lithium-ion battery Si anodes 

 
g) First Prototype Samples Sent for Battery Cell Evaluation and Characterization 
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i. First prototype of silicon (Si) anode active materials had been successfully produced, and samples 
had been sent to NDA partners for full cell evaluation and electrochemical characterization 

ii. NEO has completed due diligence during and after testing to refine and strengthen the prototype 
for commercialization 

 
h) Upscales Pilot Plant to Semi-Commercial Scale Facility for Silicon Anode Materials 

i. NEO had upscaled the capacity of production from the pilot plant to a semi-commercial scale 
facility for silicon anode materials manufactured through NEO’s proprietary nanocoating process 
due positive internal results of silicon anode materials and optimization of manufacturing process 

ii. NEO’s semi-commercial plant project was planned to produce 120 tons per year, making this is a 
12-fold increase from the original capacity of ~10 tons per year 

iii. Mr. Suk Joong Hwang, Member of the Scientific Advisory Board, had been appointed as the 
project manager for the semi-commercial plant project. Mr. Hwang has over 20 years of 
experience in process engineering in the chemical and polymer industry. He specializes in scaling 
up products from the lab to mass production through pilot and semi-commercial plants 

 
i) Breakthrough Cycling Performance on All-Solid-State Electrolyte Batteries 

i. NEO’s metallurgical-grade silicon (Si) microparticle anode materials had achieved exceptional 
stability and breakthrough cycling performance with an all-solid-state electrolyte compared to the 
cells of conventional liquid electrolytes 

ii. NEO’s low-cost, metallurgical-grade silicon particles of micron-size were able to sustain its 
original specific capacity of 3000 mAh/g without major capacity loss or performance degradation 
in the cell 

iii. A sulfide-based solid-state electrolyte, argyrodite, was utilized with a 100% loading of NEO’s 
silicon microparticle anode materials. The battery test was conducted and validated by a South 
Korean third-party laboratory 

 
j) Completion of Semi-Commercial Plant Conceptual Design and Initiates EPC Stage 

i. Completed over course of three months through fast-track effort by NEO’s management and 
engineering team 

ii. Conceptual design report has validated that the annual production rate of 120 tons of silicon anode 
materials is viable through NEO’s proprietary process 

iii. In addition to the completion of the Basic Engineering Design Data (BEDD), the Configuration 
and Equipment of major production processes for NEO’s one-pot nanocoating technology have 
been confirmed and finalized 

iv. The Engineering of the EPC (Engineering, Procurement, and Construction) stage was commenced 
with expectations to complete the facility on a fast-track basis 

v. With the design following a globally-recognized International Code, there will be no restriction or 
limitation for future commercial plants being built elsewhere such as North America and Europe 

 
k) Launch of 3 Silicon Anode Material Products “NBMSiDE™” 

i. Launched 3 types of silicon (Si) anode active materials, NBMSiDE-P100, NBMSiDE-P200, and 
NBMSiDE-C100 to produce on commercial plant 

ii. Manufactured through NEO’s proprietary nanocoating technology and based on metallurgical-
grade silicon with purities of at least 99.95% 

iii. Achieved an initial coulombic efficiency (ICE) greater than 86%, and high specific capacity 
(>2500 mAh/g) & ICE of 92% or greater can be attained when mixed with existing graphite 
anodes 

iv. Working to add 2 more product pipelines of silicon anode active materials to meet market needs 
and initiatives of emerging silicon anode market 
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l) Korean Intellectual Property Office Issues Core Patent for Silicon Anodes 

i. Korean Intellectual Property Office had issued a core patent of NEO’s silicon anode material 
technology 

ii. NEO will further submit this patent to the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office and the World 
Intellectual Property Organization to bolster and protect the proprietary manufacturing 
nanotechnology the Company possesses 

iii. The Company retains 3 issued patents and 2 which are pending issuance 
 

m) Additional Installation of Equipment & Materials Evaluation  

i.      Additional installation of equipment for agile optimization of mass production process. 
ii.      Downstream user material evaluation with in-house cell assembly & additional product series 

 
 

2023 

a) Final Site Approval for Land Use of 106,700 Square Feet for Commercial Plant 

i. Received final site approval by the Province of Gyeonggi to construct NBMSiDE™ Commercial 
Plant for EV lithium-ion batteries 

ii. Secured land with approximately an area of 106,700 square feet, or 2.5 acres, for the initial phase 
of NBMSiDE Commercial Plant Facility 

iii. Situated in an industrial complex known as Oseong International (Foreign) Investment Zone in 
Pyeongtaek City 

iv. Entitled to several benefits and subsidies that will translate into both drastic cost savings in the 
short- and long-term for the anode material plant facility. 

1. 99% reduction of annual lease payments or payment of 1% of the officially assessed land 
value with a long-term based lease contract 

2. Annual lease payment can be minimized to zero after completion of plant construction and 
fulfillment of requirements 

3. Corporation tax, income tax, land transfer tax, and customs taxes may be fully exempted for 5 
years and may be reduced by 50% for an additional two years 

4. NEO could also access provincial financial support for equipment purchases, employment 
subsidies, and education/training subsidies 

 
b) Doubles Target Annual Production to 240 Tons for Silicon Anode Commercial Plant 

i. With the final site approval, NEO had additionally doubled the initial target annual silicon anode 
production capacity to 240 tons on the same mass-production lines and has consequently renamed 
the semi-commercial plant into a commercial-scale plant facility to accommodate for industry 
capacity standards 

ii. Full-fledged facility, after installing the maximum number of mass-production lines through 
expansion, will have the capacity to manufacture 2,000 tons of NBMSiDE per year 

iii. With a 5% loading of NEO’s silicon, the initial capacity will be able to supply to 160,000 electric 
vehicles 
 

c) Pouch-Type Full Cell Manufacturing Completion 

i. Commissioned a third-party evaluation agency for a product performance and viability assessment 
of NBMSiDE™ through manufacturing and cycle-testing 500 mAh pouch-type full cells 

ii. Subjected to a cycle test using a 1C rate (1-hour) charging protocol with dynamic stress tests 
(DST) and a 100% depth of discharge (DoD), and pouch full cells characterized as high-rate 
capable cells will be tested with a variety of ultra-fast charging C-rates such as 3C rate (20 
minutes) or 5C rate (12 minutes) 



 

27 

 

d) Strategic Investments  

i. Funding for construction and mass production engineering of approximately $3 million CAD financing 
into NBM Korea Co., Ltd. 

 
e) Commercial plant facility in Oseong Industrial Zone 

 
 

i. Design Process Engineering – P&ID 1st Issue 
ii. Design Process Engineering – AFC PFD 1st Issue 

iii. Design Process Engineering – DWG 1st issue 
iv. Design Process Engineering – Piping Plan 
v. Architectural Design – Applying for Approval for Use 

vi. Architectural Design – Construction Drawings 
vii. Architectural Design – Construction Drawing Completion 

 
f) Continued Product Testing & Optimization with Battery Cell Manufacturers & Chemical Material 

Companies 

i. Manufacturer-specific NBMSiDE™ product tailoring and performance optimization 
ii. Increased battery cell format and capacity testing to validate usability and integrability of 

NBMSiDE™ in EV-scale batteries 
iii. Reiterative NBMSiDE™ testing for assurance of performance reliability and product replicability 

at NBMK R&D Scale-Up Centre  
 

g) Commercial plant facility in Oseong Industrial Zone 

i. Architectural Design – Complete Construction-Related Permits 
ii. Design Process Engineering – Production Planning Process Followed by Completion of Details 
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iii. Construction in 2023 – Breaking Ground for Building 1 out of 3 Buildings in Oseong Zone 
 

h) Joint Development Agreement & Off-Take Agreements with Battery Cell Manufacturers, Chemical 
Material Companies & EV OEM 

i. Expand implementation/testing capacity and optimization speed through joint development 
agreements with battery cell manufacturers & chemical material companies 

ii. Fast-track construction timeline for commercial plant and ensure smooth integration of 
NBMSiDE™ by validating compatibility with EV-scale lithium-ion batteries 

iii. Off-take agreements with battery cell manufacturers and EV OEMs to secure future cash flow 
generation & revenue through sales of NBMSiDE™ 
 

i) Additional Development of NBMSiDE™ Products for Mass Production 
i. Widen product scope of NBMSiDE™ through developing silicon-graphite composite anodes, 

high-silicon content anodes and 100% silicon anodes to diversify and extend customer segments 
and needs in battery supply chain 

ii. Apply for additional patents regarding both product and manufacturing technology in Canada, 
U.S., South Korea, PCT and etc. 
 

j) Financing by Discretion: Debt/Equity or Strategic Investments 

i. May undertake additional financing for commercialization through debt and equity issuances or 
strategic investments by collaboration partners 

 

k) Sample testing with battery manufactures and chemical companies 

 

 
 
 

We aim to achieve mass production of our new technology-based Si anode materials within the completion of 
NBMSiDE™. Observing the runaway into 2023, NEO Battery Materials is settled on a clear pathway to 
commercialization. 
 
 
Selected Consolidated Financial Information and Management’s Discussion and Analysis 
 
As at February 28, 2022, the Company has no current operating income or cash flow. The Company incurred a 
net loss of $2,079,374 for the year ended February 28, 2022, as compared to net loss of $1,657,195_ for the 
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comparative period in 2021. At February 28, 2022, the Company held assets recorded at $1,674,592 consisting 
of $1,247,750 of cash. 
 
The following is selected financial information for each completed financial year and any period subsequent to 
the most recent financial year end for which financial statements are included in this Information Circular:  
 

 
 
Factors causing significant variations in quarterly results are as follows: The increase in total loss for the year 
ended February 28, 2022 was mainly comprised of $132,713 in R&D; $127,502 in advertising and marketing; 
$85,641 in investor relation; $76,251 in filing fee; $45,563 in payroll. 
 
Please see Schedule "F" and "G" of this Information Circular for a MD&A for annual financial statements for 
the years ended February 28, 2022 and 2021 of the Company, respectively. 
  
Description of Securities 
 
The Company is authorized to issue an unlimited number of common shares without par value and an 
unlimited number of preferred shares without par value. 
 
The Company has only one class of common shares, without any special rights or restrictions. All of its 
common shares rank equally as to voting rights, participation in a distribution of our assets on liquidation, 
dissolution or winding-up and the entitlement to dividends. There are no cumulative voting rights, in 
consequence of which a simple majority of votes at the annual meeting can elect all of the directors. The 
shareholders are entitled to receive notice of all meetings of shareholders and to attend and vote their common 
shares at such meetings. Each common share carries with it the right to one vote. 
 
In the event of liquidation, dissolution or winding-up or other distribution of the Company’s assets, the 
shareholders will be entitled to receive, on a pro rata basis, all of the assets remaining after the Company has 
paid its liabilities. There are no sinking fund provisions. There is no set dividend rate or dividend schedule for 
the common shares. The Board will decide if and when dividends should be declared and paid. 
 
The Company’s common shares are not subject to any future call or assessment and there are no provisions for 
exchange, conversion, exercise, redemption or retraction. 
 
Stock Option Plan 
 
The Company has established a stock option plan (the "Plan") for directors, employees, and consultants of the 
Company. From time to time, shares may be reserved by the Board, in its discretion, for options under the 
Plan, provided that at the time of the grant, the total number of shares so reserved for issuance by the Board 
shall not exceed the greater of 10% of the issued and outstanding listed shares (on a non-diluted basis) as at the 
date of grant. No options shall be granted, without regulatory approval, entitling any single individual to 
purchase in excess of 5% of the then outstanding shares in the Company in any 12-month period and no more 
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than 2% of the optioned shares may be issued to any one individual in any 12-month period. If the option 
rights granted under the plan shall expire or terminate for any reason without having been exercised, such 
optioned shares may be made available for other options to be granted under the plan. The shares so reserved 
by the Board under the Plan shall be authorized but unissued shares. The options are non-transferable and will 
expire, if not exercised, immediately upon dismissal by the Company with cause or 90 days following the date 
the optionee otherwise ceases to be a director, officer, manager, consultant or employee of the Company for 
reasons other than death.  
 
In the case of death, the expiry becomes one year after the death of an optionee. Pursuant to the policies of the 
Exchange, options granted pursuant to the Plan in excess of 10% of the issued and outstanding common shares 
at the time of the grant must be subject to vesting. The Board has previously established a rolling Stock Option 
Plan which reserves for issuance up to 10% of the Company's outstanding common shares. The policies of the 
Exchange require such stock option plans to be approved annually by the Company's shareholders by way of 
an ordinary resolution. Shareholder approval shall be sought at the next AGM for the Stock Option Plan, as 
such, any options issued prior to such approval shall not be exercisable until such approval is granted by 
shareholders. 
 
The following stock options were granted or exercised during the year ended February 28, 2022 and were 
outstanding as of the date of this Information Circular: 
 
During the year ended February 28, 2022, the Company granted stock options as follows: 
 

- 520,000 stock options with an exercise price of $0.20 and a five-year term 
- 80,000 stock options with an exercise price of $0.33 and a five-year term 
- 750,000 stock options with an exercise price of $1.00 with a five-year term.  

 
During the year ended February 28, 2022, 600,000 stock options were exercised at a price of $0.06 and 50,000 
stock options were exercised at a price of $0.20 for total proceeds of $46,000. 90,000 stock options were 
cancelled as certain optionees ceased working with the Company under the terms of Company’s Stock Option 
Plan. 
 
The following options are outstanding and exercisable as of this report: 
 

Expiry Date Weighted Average 
Exercise Price 

Number of Options 
Outstanding 

Weighted Average 
Remaining Years 

Number of Options 
Exercisable 

March 21, 2023 $0.06 166,667 0.30 166,667 
February 28, 2024 $0.06 1,400,000 1.25 1,400,000 
February 10, 2026 $0.20 2,840,000 3.20 2,840,000 
May 13, 2026 $0.20 320,000 3.45 320,000 
May 25, 2026 $0.20 30,000 3.48 30,000 
June 1, 2026 $0.20 100,000 3.50 100,000 
June 9, 2026 $0.33 40,000 3.53 40,000 
July 30, 2026 $1.00 750,000 3.67 750,000 
 $0.27 5,646,667 2.80 5,646,667 

 
 
Prior Sales 
 
In the last 12 months before the date of this Information Circular, the Company has sold the following 
securities: 
 

• On May 4, 2021, the Company closed a non-brokered private placement of 17,141,667 units at a price 
of $0.12 per unit for gross proceeds of $2,057,000. Each unit consists of one common share and one 
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common share warrant, with each warrant entitling the holder to purchase one common share at a 
price of $0.16 per common share within 36 months of the closing of the private placement.  

 
• During the year ended February 28, 2022, 1,000,000 warrants were exercised at a price of $0.30 per 

share and 8,500,000 were exercised at a price of $0.16 per share, for total proceeds of $1,660,000.  
 

• During the nine months ended November 30, 2022, 333,332 warrants were exercised at a price of 
$0.16 for total proceeds of $53,333. 

 
• During the year ended February 28, 2022, 600,000 stock options were exercised at a price of $0.06 per 

share and 50,000 were exercised at a price of $0.20 per share, for total proceeds of $46,000. 
 

• During the nine months ended November 30, 2022 and the date of this report, 20,000 stock options 
were exercised at a price of $0.20 for total proceeds of $4,000, and 1,558,333 stock options were 
exercised at a price of $0.06 for total proceeds of $93,500. 

 
Stock Exchange Price 
 
The following is the price range and volume traded on a monthly basis for each month, of the current quarter 
and the immediately preceding quarter and on a quarterly basis for the preceding seven quarters on the 
Exchange: 
 

 High Price: Low Price: Volume Traded: 

November 1, 2022 to November 30, 
2022 

0.15 0.12 1,102,188 

October 1, 2022 to October 31, 2022 0.18 0.13 1,765,200 

September 1, 2022 to September 
30,2022 

0.22 0.16 1,494,900 

August 1, 2022 to August 31, 2022 0.26 0.18 2,614,000 

July 1, 2022 to July 31, 2022 0.27 0.16 4,006,900 

June 1, 2022 to June 30, 2022 0.335 0.21 5,688,581 

Quarter ending May 31, 2022 0.46 0.295 5,399,264 

Quarter ending February 28, 2022 0.425 0.28 5,243,121 

Quarter ending November 30, 2021 0.93 0.35 29,725,199 

Quarter ending August 31, 2021 1.31 0.20 94,426,437 

Quarter ending May 31, 2021 0.235 0.135 2,770,407 

Quarter ending February 28, 2021 0.30 0.08 2,621,648 
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Executive Compensation 
 
The Company does not have a compensation program other than paying base salaries to the Named Executive 
Officers (as defined below). The Company recognizes the need to provide a compensation package that will 
attract and retain qualified and experienced executives, as well as align the compensation level of each 
executive to that executive’s level of responsibility. The objectives of base salary are to recognize market pay, 
and acknowledge the competencies and skills of individuals.  
 
The objectives of incentive bonuses in the form of cash payments are designed to add a variable component of 
compensation, based on corporate and individual performances for executive officers and employees. The 
objectives of the stock option are to reward achievement of long-term financial and operating performance and 
focus on key activities and achievements critical to the ongoing success of the Company. 
 
The Company has no other forms of compensation, although payments may be made from time to time to 
individuals or companies they control for the provision of consulting services. Such consulting services are 
paid for by the Company at competitive industry rates for work of a similar nature by reputable arm’s length 
services providers. 
 
Summary Compensation Table for Named Executive Officers 
 
The following table sets forth all compensation paid, payable, awarded, granted, given or otherwise provided, 
directly or indirectly, for the fiscal years ended February 28, 2022, February 28, 2021 and February 28, 2020, 
to the CEO, CFO and the next three mostly highly compensated executive officers of the Company whose total 
compensation and bonus was, individually, in excess of $150,000 per annum (collectively, the "Named 
Executive Officers"). 
 

Name and 
Principal 
Position 

Fiscal 
Year 

Ended 
February 

28 
Salary 

($) 

Share-
based 

awards 
($) 

Option-
based 

awards 
($) 

Non-equity incentive 
plan compensation 

($) 

Pension 
Value 

($) 

All other 
compensation 

($) 

Total 
compensation 

($) 

Annual 
incentive 

plans 
($) 

Long-
term 

incentive 
plans 

Spencer Huh 

Chief 
Executive 
Officer and 
President  

2022 150,000 - - - - - -  
2021 144,000 - 252,560 - - - -  

2020 115,000 - - - - - -  

Nancy Zhao 
Chief 
Financial 
Officer  

2022 62,405 - - - - - -  
2021 54,952 - 12,628 - - - -  

2020 42,500 - - - - - -  
 
Incentive Plan Awards for Named Executive Officers 
 
As at the most recently completed fiscal year ended February 28, 2022, the following option based or share 
based awards were granted or were outstanding for the Company: 

 
• On February 10, 2021, the Company granted 2,930,000 stock options to its directors, officers and 

consultants at an exercise price of $0.20 per option. The options are exercisable on and before 
February 10, 2026. 
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• On July 30, 2022, the Company granted 750,000 stock options to its directors and consultants at an 
exercise price of $1.00 per option. The options are exercisable on and before July 30, 2026. 
 

 
Pension Plan Benefits 
 
The Company does not have any pension plans that provide for payments of benefits at, following or in 
connection with retirement or provide for retirement or deferred compensation plans for the Named Executive 
Officers or directors. 
 
Termination and Change of Control Benefits 
 
The Company has no plan or arrangement whereby any Named Executive Officer may be compensated in the 
event of that Named Executive Officer’s resignation, retirement or other termination of employment, or in the 
event of a change of control of the Company or a change in Name Executive Officer’s responsibilities 
following such a change of control. 
 
Principal Securityholders 
 
To the knowledge of the directors and executive officers of the Company, as of the Record Date 
and the date of this Circular, the following persons beneficially own, directly or indirectly, or 
exercise control or direction over, directly or indirectly, 10% or more of the issued and 
outstanding common shares of the Company:  
 
Name of Shareholder Type of Ownership  Number of Voting Shares Owned Percentage of Class  
 
CDS&Co.   Indirect    95,121,145   95.37% * 
 
Note: The beneficial owners of common shares held by depositories are not known to the directors or executive 
officers of the Company.  
 
Material Contracts 
 
The Company has entered into the following material contracts in regards to the proposed Change of Business: 
 

(1) Collaborative Development Agreement with the Yonsei University. 
(2) Two (2) Exclusive Licence Agreements with the Yonsei University. 
(3) Advisory Standard Agreement with Yonsei University 

 
Legal Proceedings 
 
The Company is unaware of pending legal proceedings to which the Company is or is likely to be a party or of 
which any of its assets are, or to the best of knowledge of management of Company is likely to be subject.  
 
Transfer Agent and Registrar 
 
The Company’s registrar and transfer agent is Odyssey Trust Company with offices at Suite 350 – 409 
Granville Street, Vancouver, BC V6C 1T4R. 
 
Experts 
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The audited financial statements of the Company as at February 28, 2022, referred to in this Information 
Circular have been so included in reliance upon the report of DeVisser Gray LLP and upon the authority of 
such firm as experts in accounting and auditing. DeVisser Gray LLP is independent within the meaning of the 
applicable rules of professional conduct in Canada. 
 
Each of the above named experts has advised the Company that they beneficially own, directly or indirectly, 
less than 1% of the outstanding shares of the Company, and as a group they own less than one (1%) percent of 
the issued shares of the Company.  
 

COMPENSATION OF DIRECTORS 
 
Summary Compensation Table for Directors 
 
The following table sets forth information concerning the annual and long-term compensation in respect of the 
directors of the Company other than the Named Executive Officers, during the fiscal year ended February 28, 
2022. For details of the compensation for the Named Executive Officers who are, or were previously, also 
directors of the Company, see disclosure in "Summary Compensation Table for Named Executive Officers". 
 

Name 

Fees 
earned 

($) 

Share-
based 

awards 
($) 

Option-
based 

awards 
($) 

Non-equity 
incentive plan 
compensation 

($) 
Pension 
value ($) 

All other 
compensation 

($) 
Total 

($) 
Spencer Huh 

Director, Chief 
Executive 
Officer and 
President  

150,000 - - - - - 150,000 

John 
Kowalchuk 
Director 

14,690 - - - - - 14,690 

Sung Rock 
Hwang 
Director 

35,400 - - - - - 35,400 

Chris Chung 
Director and 
VP, Corporate 
Finance 

6,000 - - - - - 6,000 

Larry Okada 
Director  1,000 - - - - - 1,000 

  - - - - -  
 
Incentive Plan Awards for Directors 
 
600,000 incentive plan awards were granted during the most recently completed fiscal year ended February 28, 
2022 to one director of the Company. 
 

AVAILABLE FUNDS AND PRINCIPAL PURPOSES 
 
The Company intends to use its commercially reasonable efforts to complete the Financing for gross proceeds 
of $3,200,000 at a price of $0.40 per Unit as soon as practicable prior to or concurrent with the Completion 
Date. Each Unit to be sold by the Company is to consist of one common share of the Company and one-half of 
one common share purchase warrant, each whole warrant exercisable at a price of $0.80 for one additional 
common share of the Company for a period of 36 months from the close of the Financing.  
 



 

35 

The funds available to the Company, including the concurrent Financing, is an aggregate of $5,200,000 and the 
following is a breakdown of those and other available funds: 
 

1. $2,000,000 the estimated consolidated working capital as at the most recent month end prior to the 
date of this Information Circular; and 
 

2. $3,200,000 are the net proceeds from the sale of any securities to be issued in connection with the 
Change of Business and concurrent Financing to be undertaken by the Company; and 
 

The net proceeds received by the Company from the Financing will be $3,200,000. The Company has 
approximately $2,000,000 in cash as of the date of this Circular.  
 
The Company intends to use the proceeds from the above as follows in order of priority for the use of funds: 

 
 
As at the date of this Circular, the Company has not used any of the proceeds of the Financing.  The proceeds 
to be used for groundwork for construction site, working capital. The groundwork, permit, design, architecture, 
processing, construction crew and procurement will be paid with the proceeds. The general corporate purposes will 
be utilized for general administrative expenses including employee salaries, legal, accounting and audit costs 
as well as regulatory fees. 
 
The Company intends to spend the proceeds of the Financing as stated herein; however, there may be 
circumstances where, for sound business reasons, a reallocation of the net proceeds may be deemed prudent or 
necessary.  
 
 

SECURITIES AUTHORIZED FOR ISSUANCE UNDER THE EQUITY COMPENSATION PLAN 
 
The following table sets forth aggregated information as at February 28, 2022 with respect to the Stock Option 
Plan, which is the only compensation plan under which equity securities of the Company are authorized for 
issuance to employees or non-employees such as directors and consultants. For further information regarding 
the Incentive Stock Option Plan, see the section immediately below entitled "Summary of Terms and 
Conditions of the Stock Option Plan". 
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Number of securities to 
be issued upon exercise 
of outstanding options, 

warrants and rights 

Weighted-average 
exercise price of 

outstanding options, 
warrants and rights 

Number of securities 
remaining available for 
future issuance under 
equity compensation 

plans (excluding 
securities reflected in 

column (a)) 
Plan Category (a) (b) (c) 
Equity compensation 
plans approved by 
securityholders 

- - - 

Equity compensation 
plans not approved by 
securityholders 

- - - 

Total - - - 
 
Summary of Terms and Conditions of the Stock Option Plan 
 
The Stock Option Plan was last approved by Shareholders at the Company’s Annual General and Special 
Meeting held on April 6, 2021. 
 
The purpose of the Stock Option Plan is to encourage ownership of Common Shares by directors, officers, 
employees and consultants of the Company and thereby provide additional incentive for them to promote the 
successes of the Company. 
 
The following is a summary of the material terms of Stock Option Plan: 

 
(a) the Stock Option Plan reserves up to 10% of the Company’s currently issued and outstanding share 

capital, for issuance to directors, officers, employees and/or consultants upon the exercise of Options 
granted under the Stock Option Plan.   
 

(b) the Stock Option Plan is administered by the Executive Committee of directors appointed from time to 
time by the board of directors, or, if no Executive Committee is appointed, by the President of the 
Company, in either case subject to approval by the board of directors pursuant to rules of procedure 
fixed by the board of directors; 
 

(c) during any 12-month period, the number of Common Shares reserved for issuance to any one person 
pursuant to Options granted shall not exceed the maximum number of shares permitted by the 
Exchange (presently 5% of the issued and outstanding share capital of the Company, or in the case of 
a consultant or investor relations employee, 2%);  
 

(d) the administrator of the Stock Option Plan may determine the time during which any Options may 
vest and the method of vesting, or that no vesting restriction shall apply;  
 

(e) the exercise price of any Options granted shall not be lower than the price permitted by the Exchange;  
 

(f) Options granted under the Stock Option Plan shall be exercisable for a maximum period of five years 
from the date of granting; 
 

(g) unless otherwise determined by the administrator, an Option will terminate ninety days after an 
optionee ceases to be a director, officer or employee of the Company.  This period is reduced to thirty 
days if the optionee was engaged in investor relations activities for the Company 
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(h) in the event of the death an optionee’s death, Options will only be exercisable within 12 months of 
such death; 
 

(i) disinterested Shareholder approval will be sought in the event that the Company wishes to amend the 
Incentive Stock Option Plan to increase the number of Common Shares reserved for issuance, or in the 
event of any proposal to reduce the exercise price of Options granted to insiders of the Company; and 
 

(j) all Options are non-transferable. 
 
Corporate Governance and Other Matters 
 
The Canadian Securities Administrators have adopted National Policy 58-201 – Corporate Governance 
Guidelines ("NP 58-201"), which provides guidance on corporate governance practices for issuers such as the 
Company and National Instrument 58-101 – Disclosure of Corporate Governance Practices ("NI 58-101"), 
which prescribes certain disclosure by the Company of its corporate governance practices. This disclosure is 
presented below. 
 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
 
There are currently seven directors of the Company: Spencer Huh, Dr. Jong Hyeok Park, Sung Rock Hwang, 
Larry Okada, Chris Chung, John Kowalchuk and Roberto Fia.  NP 58-201 states that the board of directors of 
every corporation should have a majority of independent directors. Three directors of the Company, are 
independent. Roberto Fia, Larry Okada and John Kowalchuk are considered to be independent directors since 
they are independent of management and free from any material relationship with the Company.  The 
remaining directors are not considered to be "independent" as a result of their current or previous position as 
executive officers and officers.  
 
To facilitate the directors of the Company functioning independent of management, where appropriate, during 
regularly scheduled meetings, non-independent directors and members of management are excluded from 
certain discussions. 
 
Directorships 
 
The following directors of the Company are also directors of other reporting issuers (or the equivalent) as set 
forth below: 
 

Director Other Reporting Issuers 
Larry Okada EMX Royalty Corp. 

Forum Energy Metals Corp. 
Santacruz Silver Mining Ltd. 

Roberto Fia Therma Bright Inc. 
City View Green Holdings Inc. 

Spencer Huh Therma Bright Inc. 
 
Orientation and Continuing Education 
 
The Board has not adopted a formal policy on the orientation and continuing education of new and current 
directors.  When a new director is appointed, the Board delegates individual directors the responsibility for 
providing an orientation and education program for any new director.  This may be delivered through informal 
meetings between the new directors and the Board and senior management, complemented by presentations on 
the main areas of the Company’s business.  When required the Board may arrange for topical seminars to be 
provided to members of the Board or committees of the Board.  Such seminars may be provided by one or 
more members of the Board and management or by external professionals. 



 

38 

 
Interests of Directors 
 
As some of the directors of the Company also serve as directors and officers of other companies, the Board 
must comply with the conflict of interest provisions of the Business Corporations Act (British Columbia), as 
well as the relevant securities regulatory instruments, in order to ensure that directors exercise independent 
judgment in considering transactions and agreements in respect of which a director or officer has a material 
interest. Each director is required to declare the nature and extent of his interest and is not entitled to vote at 
meetings which involve such conflict. 
 
Nomination of Directors 
 
The Board performs the functions of a nominating committee with respect to appointment of directors.  The 
Board believes that this is a practical approach at this stage of the Company’s development.  While there are 
not specific criteria for board membership, the Company attempts to attract and maintain directors with 
business knowledge, which assists in guiding management of the Company. 
 
Compensation 
 
The Company does not have a compensation committee.  The Board reviews compensation to directors and 
officers with respect to industry comparable and with regards to the particular circumstances of the Company. 
 
Audit Committee 
 
The Audit Committee is responsible for the Company’s financial reporting process and the quality of its 
financial reporting. The Audit Committee is charged with the mandate of providing independent review and 
oversight of the Company’s financial reporting process, the system of internal control and management of 
financial risks, and the audit process, including the selection, oversight and compensation of the Company’s 
external auditors. The Audit Committee also assists the Board in fulfilling its responsibilities in reviewing the 
Company’s process for monitoring compliance with laws and regulations and its own code of business 
conduct. In performing its duties, the Audit Committee maintains effective working relationships with the 
Board, management, and the external auditors and monitors the independence of those auditors. The Audit 
Committee is also responsible for reviewing the Company’s financial strategies, its financing plans and its use 
of the equity and debt markets. 
 
Audit Committee Charter 
 
The text of the Audit Committee’s charter is attached as Schedule "I" to this Circular. 
 
Composition of the Audit Committee 
 
The Audit Committee is comprised of the following members of the Board: 
 

Name  Independent Financial Literacy 
Larry Okada Yes Yes 
John Kowalchuk Yes Yes 
Sung Rock Hwang No Yes 

 
Reliance on Certain Exemptions 
 
The Company is relying on the exemption provided in section 6.1 of MI 52-110 as the Company is a "venture 
issuer" and is exempt from the requirements of Part 5 (Reporting Obligations) of MI 52-110. 
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Audit Committee Oversight 
 
At no time since the commencement of the Company’s most recently completed financial period was a 
recommendation of the Audit Committee to nominate or compensate an external auditor not adopted by the 
Board. 
 
Pre-Approval Policies and Procedures 
 
The Audit Committee charter provides for the Audit Committee to establish the auditors’ fees. Such fees have 
been based upon the complexity of the matters in question and the time incurred by the auditors. Management 
of the Company believes that the fees negotiated in the past with the auditors of the Company were reasonable 
in the circumstances and would be comparable to fees charged by other auditors providing similar services. 
 
External Auditor Service Fees 
 
The following table sets forth the aggregate fees billed to the Company by DeVisser Gray LLP, Chartered 
Accountants, for services rendered in the fiscal years ended February 28, 2022 and 2013. 
 

Service 

Fiscal Year Ended 
February 28, 2022 

($) 

Fiscal Year Ended 
February 28, 2021 

($) 
Audit fees(1) 28,500 17,500 

Audit-related fees - Nil 
Tax fees(2) 5,000 7,500 

All other fees(3) - Nil 
Total: $33,500 $25,000 

Notes: 
(1) Audit and review services included quarterly reviews, audits and consultation work. 
(2) Tax services included tax compliance, tax advice and tax planning. 
(3) Other fees included expenses reimbursed for services rendered to the Company and its services, other than 

the services described above. 
 
Other Board Committees 
 
The only standing committee of the Board is the Audit Committee.  The Board does not have any other 
committees.  Given the size of the Company and the nature of its activities, the Board does not see fit at this 
time to create other committees. 
 
Assessments 
 
The Board does not have any formal policies to evaluate the effectiveness of the Board, the Audit Committee 
and the individual directors.  The Board may appoint a special committee of the directors to evaluate the 
Board, its committees and assess the contribution of its individual directors and to recommend any 
modifications to the functioning and governance of the Board and its committees.  To date, the Board has not 
appointed any such special committees of directors to perform such analysis. 
 
Indebtedness of Directors and Executive Officers 
 
No individual who is or, at any time during the most recently completed financial year, was a director or 
executive officer of the Company, and no person who is a proposed nominee for election as a director of the 
Company, and no associate of any such director, executive officer or proposed nominee is, or at any time since 
the beginning of the last completed financial year, was indebted to the Company or any of its subsidiaries. 
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Interests of Certain Persons in Matters to be Acted Upon and Interests of Informed Persons in Material 
Transactions 
 
Management is not aware of any material interest, direct or indirect, of any "informed person" of the 
Company, insider of the Company, proposed director, or any associate or affiliate of any informed person or 
proposed director, in any transaction since the commencement of the Company’s most recently completed 
financial year or in any proposed transaction which has materially affected or would materially affect the 
Company or any of its subsidiaries. An "informed person" means: (i) a director or executive officer of the 
Company or of a subsidiary of the Company; (ii) any person or company who beneficially owns, directly or 
indirectly, voting securities of the Company or who exercises control or direction over voting securities of the 
Company carrying more than 10% of the voting rights attached to all outstanding voting securities of the 
Company; (iii) a director or officer of a company that is itself an informed person of the Company or of a 
subsidiary of the Company or (iv) any person who has been a director or officer of the Company at any time 
since the beginning the Company’s last fiscal  
 

PARTICULARS OF MATTERS TO BE ACTED UPON  
 
Financial Statements 
 
The consolidated audited financial statements of the Company for the years ended February 28, 2022, February 
28, 2021, and condensed consolidated reviewed interim financial statements, together with the report of the 
auditors thereon, will be presented to the shareholders at the Meeting for their review and consideration. 
 
Election of Directors 
 
The Articles of the Company provide that the Company shall have a minimum of three and a maximum of that 
number of directors as may be fixed or changed from time to time by majority approval from the Shareholders. 
At the Meeting, the Shareholders will be asked to pass an ordinary resolution to set the number of directors of 
the Company for the ensuing year at seven (7). Such resolution will be approved if the majority of Common 
Shares present or represented by proxy at the Meeting and entitled to vote are voted in favour thereof. 
 
At the Meeting, shareholders will be asked to elect the five nominees set forth in the table below. Two of the 
nominees will only hold office as of the Completion Date.  Each director elected will hold office until the next 
annual meeting or until his successor is appointed, unless his office is earlier vacated in accordance with the 
Business Corporations Act (British Columbia) (the "BCA") and the Articles of the Company. 
 
All of the nominees are currently members of the Board and have been since the dates indicated below. 
Management does not contemplate that any of the nominees will be unable to serve as a director.  
 
However, if a nominee should be unable to so serve for any reason prior to the Meeting, the persons 
named in the enclosed form of proxy reserve the right to vote for another nominee in their discretion. 
The persons named in the enclosed form of proxy intend to vote FOR the election of all of the nominees 
whose names are set forth below unless otherwise instructed to withhold from voting thereon on a 
properly executed and validly deposited proxy. 
 
The following table sets forth certain information concerning management’s nominees for election as directors, 
including the approximate number of Common Shares beneficially owned, directly or indirectly, by each of 
them, or over which they exercise control or direction.  
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Name of Nominee, Province 
and Country of Residence and 

Current Positions with the 
Company 

Occupation, Business or 
Employment 

Director of the 
Company Since 

Common Shares 
Beneficially Owned 

or Controlled 
Sung Rock Hwang(1) 

Vancouver, BC 
Director, Chief Operating 
Officer and Senior Vice 
President 
 
 

President, ENP Co. Ltd.; 
Advisor, Samsung SDI 

December 2018 Nil 

Spencer Huh(1) 
Vernon, BC 
Director, President and Chief 
Executive Officer 
 

President & CEO of the Company; 
Business Consultant 

January 2018 7,163,333 

Dr. Jong Hyeok Park(1) 

Burnaby, BC 
Director, Chief Scientific 
Advisor 
 

Professor, Department of Chemical 
and Biomolecular Engineering of 
Yonsei University in Seoul, South 
Korea 

 

March 2021 250,000 

Larry Okada 
Independent Director 
 

Director of EMX Royalty Corp. 
Director of Santacruz Silver Mining 
Ltd. 

March 2021 Nil 

Chris Chung 
Director, VP Corporate Finance 
 

Vice President Corporate Finance of 
the Company, Vice President, 
Corporate Sales (Triview Capital); 
Regional Sales Manager (Walton 
International Group) 
 

September 2018 300,000 

John Kowalchuk 
Independent Director 
 

President, CEO and Director of 
Atoro Capital Corp.; Director 
of Firestone Ventures Ltd.; 
Project Manager, San Albino 
gold project; Director of Providence 
Gold Mines; VP Exploration of 

Fabled Copper and Gold 

May 2013 200,000 

Roberto Fia 
Independent Director 
 

CEO and Director and Therma Bright 
Inc. 

February 2021 300,500 

Notes: 
(1) The information as to Shares beneficially owned, not being within the knowledge of the Company, has 

been obtained from SEDI or furnished by the proposed directors individually. Does not include Shares 
issuable upon exercise of options or warrants. 

 
Relevant Education and Experience 
 
In addition to each member’s general business experience, the following describes the education and 
experience of each member that is relevant to the performance of their responsibilities: 
 
Spencer Sung Bum Huh 
Director, President and Chief Executive Officer 
Residence - Canada 
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Mr. Spencer Sung Bum Huh graduated from the Korea University in Seoul with a BEc. He is an experienced 
and proven financial professional with more than 25 years of financial and operational experience in Canada 
and Korea, and a track record of supporting ambitious growth plans. His expertise includes financial 
operations, strategy, performance management, and business planning for Korean and Canadian companies. 
 
Mr. Huh began his career in 1993 as an investment advisor with Hanwha securities in Korea. After 
immigration to Canada in 2000, he served for 6 years as an investment advisor with BMO Nesbitt Burns in 
Toronto and, subsequently, he joined TD Canada Trust in Vancouver. Since 2012, Mr. Huh worked with 
numerous private and publicly listed companies in Korea and Canada, including mining, medical device, and 
high-tech companies. He has played an integral role in the establishment, acquisitions, and financing for these 
companies. 
 
Dr. Jong Hyeok Park 
Director, Chief Scientific Advisor 
Residence – South Korea 
 
 
Dr. Park served as a Senior Researcher for LG Chem, currently the largest lithium-ion battery manufacturer in 
the world. Dr. Park was among the core researchers for 42 patents at LG Chem and the co-developers of LG 
Chem’s core innovative technology of the Safety-Reinforced Separator (SRS), which was crucial to being 
chosen as the provider of lithium-ion batteries to global carmakers, such as Tesla, Volkswagen Group, BMW 
and Mercedes-Benz. Dr. Park owns an additional 50 patents, including patents relating to cathode materials – a 
total of 92 patents including his patents with LG Chem. 
 
Dr. Park served on the Board of Directors of L&F Co. Ltd., a global top-tier cathode supplier, since 2012. In 
December 2020, L&F signed a two-year contract worth $1.66-billion to supply cathode to LG Chem. 
 
Dr. Park has achieved numerous notable awards and honours since 2011, including the Award of Excellence 
(2017) from the Korean Academy of Science and Technology, where he was selected as one of the Top 100 
leading scientists for renewable energy technology innovation for 2025. Most recently, he received the 
prestigious S-OIL 2020 Next-Generation Scientist Award. Dr. Park also has published over 300 scientific 
articles, published in reputable peer-reviewed journals, such as Nature Communications and Advanced 
Materials. 
 
Dr. Park is currently an Underwood Professor for the Department of Chemical and Biomolecular Engineering 
of Yonsei University in Seoul, South Korea. Dr. Park received his PhD with the Department of Chemical and 
Biomolecular Engineering at the Korea Advanced Institute of Science and Technology (KAIST) in South 
Korea in 2004. 
 
Sung Rock Hwang 
Director, Chief Operating Officer and Senior Vice President 
Residence – South Korea 
 
Mr. Sung Rock Hwang has over 30 years’ experience working for Samsung SDI, serving as the executive 
director and chief of purchasing, senior manager, general manager (for the German branch), and advisor until 
2018. His responsibilities included managing the supply chain, procurement planning, and advanced business 
development. 
 
During his time with Samsung SDI, Mr. Hwang accumulated a vast network and information pipeline within 
the lithium-ion battery industry. He has a deep understanding of business development and trade capabilities, 
as well a specialized knowledge in raw materials, such as cobalt, nickel, and aluminum. 
 
Larry Okada, CA 
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Independent Director 
Residence - Canada 
 
Mr. Larry Okada has been involved with a number of public mining companies for 36 years. He is a Chartered 
Accountant and has been in public practice since 1974 with extensive public finance and accounting 
experience with Deloitte and Touche, Staley Okada and Partners and PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP. 
 
Mr. Okada presently serves as the Chief Financial Officer ("CFO") for RedQuest Capital Corp (CPC) and is 
the Acting CFO of Africo Resources Ltd. as well as being a director and serving as chairman of the audit 
committee of Forum Uranium Corp. and Revett Minerals Corp. 
 
Chris Chung 
Director, VP Corporate Finance 
Residence - Canada 
 
 
Mr. Chris Chung received his honors bachelor’s degree with a double major in statistics and economics at the 
University of Toronto and has been a registrant with Canadian securities commissions since 2005. In addition, 
he has fulfilled numerous curricula, including, among others, Derivatives Fundamentals Course (DFC), 
Options Licensing Course (OLC), Professional Financial Planner (PFP) and Life License Qualification 
Program (LLQP). 
 
Mr. Chung has been a licensed equity and derivative trader at Merrill Lynch Securities in Toronto, an 
investment representative of HSBC Securities (Canada), a regional manager (Western Canada) of Walton 
Capital Management in Calgary, vice-president of corporate sales for Triview Capital Ltd. for both British 
Columbia and Ontario, and vice-president, finance, for Ascenta Finance Ltd. (an independent Canadian 
institutional investment bank headquartered in Vancouver). 
 
Mr. Chung has over 12 years of banking and wealth management experience specializing in both the private 
and public equities sector. During his career, Mr. Chung has raised more than $100-million in private equity. 
 
John Kowalchuk, PGeo 
Independent Director 
Residence - Canada 
 
 
Mr. John Kowalchuk is a professional geoscientist with the Association of Engineers and Geoscientists of 
British Columbia. Presently he is Project Manager for Golden Reign Resources Ltd. developing a high– grade 
gold resource in Nicaragua. He has over 43 years of experience developing and managing exploration projects 
with both senior and junior mining companies and has worked in Canada, the United States, Russia, Mexico, 
Chile and Nicaragua. 
 
Mr. Kowalchuk was Yukon and Northern B. C. District Geologist for Placer Dome Inc., during which time he 
was instrumental in the discovery and advancement of several world–class mineral deposits, including the 
Howard’s Pass lead–zinc deposits and the Kerr copper–gold porphyry deposit. 
 
Mr. Kowalchuk was directly responsible for the discovery of the barium–lead–zinc–silver deposit in Driftpile 
Creek, and the discovery and exploration management of the Clea Tungsten property, which has the potential 
to become a significant tungsten mine in northern Canada. 
 
Roberto Fia 
Independent Director 
Residence - Canada 
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Mr. Fia was appointed as a board member on February 2, 2021. Mr. Roberto Fia, CFA, is a former investment 
banker who has developed a career of working with early stage technology, medical device, mining and oil & 
gas companies and advising corporate executives on business matters dealing with corporate finance, strategy, 
expansion, mergers and acquisitions, concept creation, private equity, corporate development, and corporate 
governance. Mr. Fia has an extensive contact base in the investment community and the financial sector as 
well as knowledge of the TSX, TSXV and CSE listing processes and guideline requirements. 
 
Mr. Fia currently acts as CEO & Director of Therma Bright Inc. (THRM-TSXV) and City View Green 
Holdings Inc. (CVGR-CSE) and was instrumental in pivoting both companies into new market segments 
resulting in a significant increase in market capitalization for both entities. Mr. Fia was formerly CoHead 
Corporate Finance at Kingsdale Capital Markets. He received his B.Comm. (Honours) degree from the I.H. 
Asper School of Business at the University of Manitoba and holds the Chartered Financial Analyst designation 
 
Nancy Zhao, CPA 
Chief Financial Officer & Corp. Secretary 
Residence - Canada 
 
 
Ms. Zhao was appointed as a CFO on March 25, 2019. Ms. Zhao is a CPA with over 10 years experience with 
both public and private companies. Ms. Zhao has experience in accounting and finance for various industries, 
including mining, Realtor development, property management, sports entertainment, marketing and farming. 
 
Orders, Penalties and Bankruptcies 
 
To the knowledge of the Corporation and other than as set forth herein, none of the foregoing nominees for 
director of the Company: 

 
(a) is, at the date of this Circular, or has been, within ten years before the date of this Circular, a 

director, CEO or CFO of any company (including the Company) that: 
 

(i) was subject of a cease trade or an order similar to a cease trade order or an order that 
denied the relevant company access to any exemption under securities legislation, 
that was in effect for a period of more than 30 consecutive days (an "order") and that 
was issued while the proposed director was acting in the capacity as director, CEO or 
CFO; or 
 

(ii) was subject to an order that was issued after the proposed director ceased to be a 
director, CEO or CFO and which resulted from an event that occurred while that 
person was acting in the capacity of director, CEO or CFO, 

 
(b) is, at the date of this Circular, or has been, within ten years before the date of this Circular, a 

director or executive officer of any company (including the Company), that, while that person 
was acting in that capacity, or within a year of that person ceasing to act in that capacity, 
became bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency 
or was subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement or compromise with creditors or 
had a receiver, receiver manager or trustee appointed to hold its assets; or 
 

(c) has, within ten years before the date of this Circular, become bankrupt, made a proposal under 
any legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency, or become subject to or instituted any 
proceedings, arrangements or compromise with creditors, or had a receiver, receiver manager 
or trustee appointed to hold the assets of the proposed director. 
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To the knowledge of the Company, no nominee for director of the Company has been subject to: (a) any 
penalties or sanctions imposed by a court relating to securities legislation or by a securities regulatory authority 
or has entered into a settlement agreement with a securities regulatory authority; or (b) any other penalties or 
sanctions imposed by a court or regulatory body that would likely be considered important to a reasonable 
securityholder in deciding whether to vote for a proposed director. 
 
Conflicts of Interest  
 
The Company’s directors and officers may serve as directors or officers of other companies or have significant 
shareholdings in other companies and, to the extent that such other companies may participate in ventures in 
which the Company may participate, the directors of the Company may have a conflict of interest in 
negotiating and concluding terms respecting the extent of such participation. In the event that such a conflict of 
interest arises at a meeting of the Company’s directors, a director who has such a conflict will abstain from 
voting for or against the approval of such participation or such terms. The directors of the Company are 
required to act honestly, in good faith and in the best interests of the Company.  
 
The directors and officers of the Company are aware of the existence of laws governing the accountability of 
directors and officers for corporate opportunity and requiring disclosures by the directors of conflicts of 
interest and the Company will rely upon such laws in respect of any directors’ and officers’ conflicts of interest 
or in respect of any breaches of duty by any of its directors and officers. All such conflicts will be disclosed by 
such directors or officers in accordance with applicable laws and shall govern themselves in respect thereof to 
the best of their ability in accordance with the obligations imposed upon them by law. The directors and 
officers of the Company are not aware of any such conflicts of interests.  
 
Appointment of Auditor 
 
Shareholders will be requested to appoint DeVisser Gray LLP, Chartered Accountants as auditors of the 
Company to hold office until the next annual meeting of shareholders and to authorize the directors of the 
Company to fix their remuneration and the terms of their engagement. DeVisser Gray LLP Chartered 
Accountants was first appointed on January 28, 2009. 
 
To be approved, the resolution requires the affirmative vote of a majority of the votes cast on the 
resolution. Proxies received in favour of management will be voted in favour of the appointment of 
DeVisser Gray LLP, Chartered Accountants as auditors of the Company to hold office until the next 
annual meeting of shareholders and the authorization of the directors to fix the auditors’ remuneration 
and the terms of their engagement, unless the shareholder has specified in a proxy that his, her or its 
Common Shares are to be withheld from voting in respect thereof. 
 
Re-Approval of Stock Option Plan 
 
The shareholders of the Company will be asked to consider and, if deemed appropriate, to pass a resolution to 
re-approve the Stock Option Plan.  The Stock Option Plan was first approved by shareholders on March 21, 
2006. 
 
Additional information regarding the Stock Option Plan, including restrictions on grants of stock options, is set 
out below under the heading "Securities Authorized for Issuance under the Equity Compensation Plan". 
 
To be approved, the affirmative vote of a majority of the votes cast on the resolution is required. The 
Board recommends that shareholders vote FOR the re-approval of the Incentive Stock Option Plan. The 
persons named in the accompanying form of proxy intend to vote FOR the resolution, unless otherwise 
instructed on a properly executed and validly deposited proxy. 
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Approval of the Change of Business  
 
The Company proposes to carry its battery technologies business out as described herein. 
 
The transactions comprising the Change of Business have all been Arm’s Length Transactions. Additionally, 
the Company agreed to use its commercially reasonable efforts to complete the Financing for gross proceeds of 
$3,200,000 at a price of $0.40 per Unit as soon as practicable prior to or concurrent with the Completion Date. 
Each Unit to be sold by the Company is to consist of one common share of the Company and one-half of one 
common share purchase warrant, each whole warrant exercisable at a price of $0.80 for one additional 
common share of the Company for a period of 36 months from the close of the Financing.  
  
Approval of the Board 
 
The Company’s board of directors, having considered the factors described herein, has concluded that the 
Change of Business is in the best interests of the Company and the Shareholders. The Company’s board of 
directors has unanimously approved the Change of Business.  
 
Shareholder Approval 
 
The Change of Business Resolution must be passed by not less than 50% of the votes cast by Shareholders 
present in person or by proxy at the Meeting who vote in respect of the Change of Business Resolution. The 
persons named in the accompanying Instrument of Proxy intend to vote the Common Shares 
represented by such Instrument of Proxy FOR the Change of Business Resolution. 
 
Continuance from British Columbia to Ontario 

The Company is currently governed by the Business Corporations Act (British Columbia) (the “BCBCA”). 
Management is seeking the approval of Shareholders to continue the Company into the Province of Ontario 
pursuant to Section 180 of the Business Corporations Act (Ontario) (the “OBCA”)(the “Continuance”). The 
Continuance will be effective upon approval of the articles of continuance (the “Articles of Continuance”) to 
be filed with the Director (appointed under Section 278 of the OBCA (the “Director”) pursuant to subsection 
180(2) of the OBCA after the Registrar of Companies (appointed under Section 400 of the BCBA (the 
“Registrar”) has granted to the Company an authorization to continue into the Province of Ontario.  
 
The Articles of Continuance will constitute the governing instrument of the continued company under the 
OBCA and the certificate of continuance issued by the Director will be deemed to be the certificate of 
incorporation of the continued company. Upon the Articles of Continuance becoming effective, the Company 
becomes a Company to which the OBCA applies as if it had originally been incorporated under the OBCA and 
it will cease to be governed by the BCBCA.  
 
If the Continuance Resolution is approved at the Meeting, the Company shall apply to and file all necessary 
documentation with the Registrar under the BCBCA for an authorization to continue into the Province of 
Ontario. After receiving the Registrar’s authorization, the Company will apply for a certificate of continuance 
and file the Articles of Continuance to take effect immediately.  
 
In order to complete the Continuance, Shareholders will be asked, at the Meeting, to consider and, if thought 
advisable, to pass, with or without amendment, the continuance resolution attached hereto as Schedule “B” 
(the “Continuance Resolution”), being a special resolution approving the Continuance upon substantially the 
terms and conditions set out herein. The Continuance Resolution must be passed by not less than 66⅔% of the 
votes cast by Shareholders present in person or represented by proxy at the Meeting. Management 
recommends that Shareholders vote in favour of the Continuance Resolution.  
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The provisions of the OBCA dealing with shareholder rights and protections are generally comparable 
to those contained in the BCBCA. See “Comparison of Rights under the OBCA and the BCBCA” for a 
summary of the differences of the provisions of the OBCA and the BCBCA which pertain to the rights 
of shareholders.  
 
Section 309 of the BCBCA gives to registered Shareholders who object to the Continuance Resolution, 
the BCBCA Dissent Rights (as such term is defined below) under Division 2 of Part 8 in respect of the 
Continuance Resolution and to be paid the fair value of their Common Shares determined immediately 
prior to such resolution being passed. See “BCBCA Dissent Rights”.  
 
Management recommends that Shareholders vote in favour of the Continuance Resolution. Unless you 
give other instructions, the persons named in the enclosed form of proxy intend to vote FOR the 
Continuance Resolution.  
 
Approval of new By-Law and Advance Notice Procedures  
 
If the Continuance is approved and effected, By-Law No. 1 under the OBCA, which has been conditionally 
approved by the directors of the Company subject to ratification and confirmation by the Shareholders upon 
the Continuance becoming effective, will be implemented as the Company’s general by-law. Shareholders are 
being asked to ratify and confirm By-Law No. 1. By-Law No. 1 is standard in its form and governs all aspects 
of the business and affairs of the Company, such as the establishment of a quorum for meetings of directors 
and shareholders, the conduct of such meetings, signing authorities, the appointment of officers, the 
description of the officers, duties, the establishment of committees of the directors of the Company, the 
authority of persons to contract on behalf of the Company and similar matters. The complete text of By-Law 
No. 1 is attached hereto as Schedule “D”.  
 
Accordingly, at the Meeting, Shareholders will be asked to consider and, if thought advisable, to pass, with or 
without amendment, the by resolution attached hereto as Schedule “C” (the “By-Law Resolution”) being an 
ordinary resolution approving By-Law No. 1 upon substantially the terms and conditions set out herein.  
 
By-Law No. 1 will differ materially from the Company’s current Articles under British Columbia law in that 
the proposed By-Law No. 1 includes “Advance Notice Procedures”, which are set out in full at Section 10 of 
the By-Law No. 1 attached hereto as Schedule “D.” The purpose of the Advance Notice Procedures is to set 
forth a procedure requiring advance notice to the Company by any Shareholder who intends to nominate any 
person for election as director of the Company other than pursuant to: (i) a requisition of a meeting made 
pursuant to the provisions of the OBCA, or (ii) a Shareholder proposal made pursuant to the provisions of the 
OBCA. Among other things, the Advance Notice Procedures set a deadline by which such Shareholders must 
notify the Company in writing of any intention to nominate directors prior to any meeting of Shareholders at 
which directors are to be elected and set forth the information that the Shareholder must include in their notice 
for it to be considered valid.  
 
The Advance Notice Procedures provide a clear and transparent process for all Shareholders to follow if they 
intend to nominate directors. In that regard, the Advance Notice Procedures provide a reasonable time frame 
for Shareholders to notify the Company of their intention to nominate directors and require Shareholders to 
disclose information concerning the proposed nominees that is mandated by applicable securities laws.  
 
Subject only to the OBCA and the Company’s by-laws, only persons who are nominated in accordance with 
the following procedures shall be eligible for election as directors of the Company. Nominations of persons for 
election to the Board may be made at any annual meeting of Shareholders, or at any special meeting of 
Shareholders if one of the purposes for which the special meeting was called was the election of directors: (a) 
by or at the direction of the Board, including pursuant to a notice of meeting; (b) by or at the direction or 
request of one or more Shareholders pursuant to a proposal made in accordance with the provisions of the 
OBCA, or a requisition of the Shareholders made in accordance with the provisions of the OBCA; or (c) by 
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any person (a “Nominating Shareholder”): (A) who, at the close of business on the date of the giving of the 
notice provided for in the Advance Notice Procedures and on the record date for notice of such meeting, is 
entered in the securities register as a holder of one or more shares carrying the right to vote at such meeting or 
who beneficially owns shares that are entitled to be voted at such meeting; and (B) who complies with the 
notice procedures set forth in the Advance Notice Procedures. 
 
In addition to any other applicable requirements, for a nomination to be made by a Nominating Shareholder, 
the Nominating Shareholder must have given timely notice thereof in proper written form to the corporate 
secretary of the Company at the principal executive offices of the Company.  
 
To be timely, a Nominating Shareholder’s notice to the secretary of the Company must be made: (a) in the case 
of an annual meeting of Shareholders, not less than 30 nor more than 65 days prior to the date of the annual 
meeting of Shareholders; provided, however, that in the event that the annual meeting of Shareholders is to be 
held on a date that is less than 50 days after the date (the “Notice Date”) on which the first public 
announcement of the date of the annual meeting was made, notice by the Nominating Shareholder may be 
made not later than the close of business on the tenth (10th) day following the Notice Date; and (b) in the case 
of a special meeting (which is not also an annual meeting) of Shareholders called for the purpose of electing 
directors (whether or not called for other purposes), not later than the close of business on the fifteenth (15th) 
day following the day on which the first public announcement of the date of the special meeting of 
Shareholders was made. In no event shall any adjournment or postponement of a meeting of Shareholders or 
the announcement thereof commence a new time period for the giving of a Nominating Shareholder’s notice as 
described above.  
 
To be in proper written form, a Nominating Shareholder’s notice to the secretary of the Company must set 
forth: (a) as to each person whom the Nominating Shareholder proposes to nominate for election as a director: 
(i) the name, age, business address and residential address of the person; (ii) the principal occupation or 
employment of the person; (iii) the class or series and number of shares in the capital of the Corporation which 
are controlled or which are owned beneficially or of record by the person as of the record date for the meeting 
of Shareholders (if such date shall then have been made publicly available and shall have occurred) and as of 
the date of such notice; and (iv) any other information relating to the person that would be required to be 
disclosed in a dissident’s proxy circular in connection with solicitations of proxies for election of directors 
pursuant to the OBCA and Applicable Securities Laws (as defined below); and (b) as to the Nominating 
Shareholder giving the notice, any proxy, contract, arrangement, understanding or relationship pursuant to 
which such Nominating Shareholder has a right to vote any shares of the Company and any other information 
relating to such Nominating Shareholder that would be required to be made in a dissident’s proxy circular in 
connection with solicitations of proxies for election of directors pursuant to the OBCA and Applicable 
Securities Laws. The Company may require any proposed nominee to furnish such other information, 
including a written consent to act, as may reasonably be required by the Company to determine the eligibility 
of such proposed nominee to serve as an independent director of the Company or that could be material to a 
reasonable Shareholder’s understanding of the independence, or lack thereof, of such proposed nominee.  
 
No person shall be eligible for election as a director of the Company unless nominated in accordance with the 
provisions of the Advance Notice Procedures; provided, however, that nothing in the Advance Notice 
Procedures shall be deemed to preclude discussion by a Shareholder (as distinct from the nomination of 
directors) at a meeting of Shareholders of any matter in respect of which it would have been entitled to submit 
a proposal pursuant to the provisions of the OBCA. The chairman of the meeting shall have the power and 
duty to determine whether a nomination was made in accordance with the procedures set forth in the foregoing 
provisions and, if any proposed nomination is not in compliance with such foregoing provisions, to declare that 
such defective nomination shall be disregarded.  
 
For purposes of the Advance Notice Procedures: (a) “public announcement” shall mean disclosure in a press 
release reported by a national news service in Canada, or in a document publicly filed by the Corporation 
under its profile on the System of Electronic Document Analysis and Retrieval at www.sedar.com; and (b) 
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“Applicable Securities Laws” means the applicable securities legislation of each relevant province and territory 
of Canada, as amended from time to time, the rules, regulations and forms made or promulgated under any 
such statute and the published national instruments, multilateral instruments, policies, bulletins and notices of 
the securities commission and similar regulatory authority of each province and territory of Canada.  
 
Notwithstanding any other provision of the Advance Notice Procedures, notice given to the secretary of the 
Corporation pursuant to the Advance Notice Procedures may only be given by personal delivery, facsimile 
transmission or by email (at such email address as stipulated from time to time by the secretary of the 
Company for purposes of this notice), and shall be deemed to have been given and made only at the time it is 
served by personal delivery, email (at the aforesaid address) or sent by facsimile transmission (provided that 
receipt of confirmation of such transmission has been received) to the secretary at the address of the principal 
executive offices of the Company; provided that if such delivery or electronic communication is made on a day 
which is a not a business day or later than 5:00 p.m. (Toronto time) on a day which is a business day, then such 
delivery or electronic communication shall be deemed to have been made on the subsequent day that is a 
business day.  
 
Notwithstanding any other provision of the Advance Notice Procedures, the Board may, in its sole discretion, 
waive any requirement of the Advance Notice Procedures.  
 
The By-Law Resolution must be passed by not less than a majority of the votes cast by those 
shareholders, who being entitled to do so, vote in person or by proxy in respect of that resolution at the 
Resumed Meeting. Management recommends that Shareholders vote in favour of the By-Law 
Resolution. Unless you give other instructions, the persons named in the enclosed form of proxy intend 
to vote FOR the By-Law Resolution.  
 
Comparison of Rights under the OBCA and the BCBCA  
 
The provisions of the OBCA dealing with shareholder rights and protections are generally comparable to those 
contained in the BCBCA. Shareholders of the Company will not lose any significant rights or protection as a 
result of the Continuance.  
 
The following is a summary comparison of the provisions of the OBCA and the BCBCA which pertain to the 
rights of shareholders. This summary is not intended to be exhaustive and Shareholders should consult their 
legal advisors regarding all of the implications of the Continuance.  
 
Sale of the Company’s Undertaking  
 
The OBCA requires approval of the holders of two-thirds of the shares of a Company represented at a duly 
called meeting to approve a sale, lease or exchange of all or substantially all of the property of a Company, 
other than in the ordinary course of business. If a sale, lease or exchange of all or substantially all of the 
property of a Company would affect a particular class or series of shares in a manner that is different than the 
shares of another class or series entitled to vote, then such class or series of shares are entitled to a separate 
class or series vote, regardless of whether or not such shares otherwise carry the right to vote.  
 
Under the BCBCA, the directors of a company may dispose of all or substantially all of the business or 
undertaking of the company only if it is in the ordinary course of the Company’s business or with shareholder 
approval authorized by special resolution. Under the BCBCA a special resolution requires the approval of a 
“special majority”, which means the majority specified in a Company’s articles of at least two-thirds and not 
more than by three-quarters of the votes cast by those shareholders voting in person or by proxy at a general 
meeting of the company.  
 
Amendments to the Articles of a Company  
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Under the OBCA, amendments to the articles of a Company require a resolution passed by not less than two 
thirds of the votes cast by the shareholders voting on the resolution authorizing the amendments and, where 
certain specified rights of the holders of a class or series of shares are affected differently by the amendments 
than the rights of the holders of other classes or series of shares, such holders are entitled to vote separately as 
a class or series, whether or not such class or series of shares otherwise carry the right to vote. A resolution to 
amalgamate an OBCA Company requires a special resolution passed by the holders of each class or series of 
shares, whether or not such shares otherwise carry the right to vote, if such class or series of shares are affected 
differently.  
 
Changes to the articles of a Company under the BCBCA will be affected by the type of resolution specified in 
the articles of a Company, which, for many alterations, including change of name or alterations to the articles, 
could provide for approval solely by a resolution of the directors. In the absence of anything in the articles, 
most corporate alterations will require a special resolution. Alteration of the special rights and restrictions 
attached to issued shares requires, subject to the requirements set forth in the company’s articles, consent by a 
special resolution of the holders of the class or series of shares affected. A proposed amalgamation or 
continuation of a Company out of the jurisdiction requires a special resolution.  
 
Rights of Dissent and Appraisal  
 
The BCBCA provides that shareholders, including beneficial holders, who dissent from certain actions being 
taken by a company, may exercise a right of dissent and require the company to purchase the shares held by 
such shareholder at the fair value of such shares. The dissent right is applicable where the company proposes to 
(i) alter the articles to alter restrictions on the powers of the company or on the business it is permitted to carry 
on, (ii) adopt an amalgamation agreement, (iii) approve an amalgamation under Division 4 of Part 9 of the 
BCBCA, (iv) approve an arrangement, the terms of which arrangement permit dissent, (v) authorize or ratify 
the sale, lease or other disposition of all or substantially all of the company’s undertaking, and (vi) authorize 
the continuation of the company into a jurisdiction other than British Columbia. In certain circumstances, 
shareholders may also be entitled to dissent in respect of a resolution if dissent is authorized by such 
resolution, or if permitted by court order.  
 
The OBCA contains a similar dissent remedy, although the procedure for exercising this remedy is different 
from that contained in the BCBCA.  
 
Shareholder Derivative Actions  
 
Under the BCBCA, a shareholder, defined as including a beneficial shareholder and any other person whom 
the court considers to be an appropriate person to make an application under the BCBCA, or a director of a 
company may, with leave of the court, bring an action in the name and on behalf of the company to enforce an 
obligation owed to the company that could be enforced by the company itself or to obtain damages for any 
breach of such an obligation. An applicant may also, with leave of the court, defend a legal proceeding brought 
against a Company.  
 
A broader right to bring a derivative action is contained in the OBCA and this right extends to former 
shareholders, directors or officers of a Company or its affiliates, and any person who, in the discretion of the 
court, is a proper person to make an application to court to bring a derivative action. In addition, the OBCA 
permits derivative actions to be commenced in the name and on behalf of a Company or any of its subsidiaries.  
 
Oppression Remedies  
 
Under the OBCA a registered shareholder, beneficial shareholder, former registered shareholder or beneficial 
shareholder, director, former director, officer, former officer of a Company or any of its affiliates, or any other 
person who, in the discretion of a court, is a proper person to seek an oppression remedy, and in the case of an 
offering Company, the Ontario Securities Commission, may apply to a court for an order to rectify the matters 
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complained of where in respect of a Company or any of its affiliates: (a) any act or omission of a Company or 
its affiliates effects or threatens to effect a result; (b) the business or affairs of a Company or its affiliates are or 
have been or are threatened to be carried on or conducted in a manner; or (c) the powers of the directors of the 
Company or any of its affiliates are, have been or are threatened to be exercised in a manner, that is oppressive 
or unfairly prejudicial to, or that unfairly disregards the interests of, any security holder, creditor, director or 
officer.  
 
The oppression remedy under the BCBCA is similar to the remedy found in the OBCA, with a few differences. 
Under the OBCA, the applicant can complain not only about acts of the Company and its directors but also 
acts of an affiliate of the Company and the affiliate’s directors, whereas under the BCBCA, the shareholder can 
only complain of oppressive conduct of the company. In addition, under the BCBCA the applicant must bring 
the application in a timely manner, which is not required under the OBCA.  
 
Requisition of Meetings  
 
The OBCA permits the holders of not less than 5% of the issued shares that carry the right to vote at a meeting 
sought to be held to require the directors to call and hold a meeting of the shareholders of the Company for the 
purposes stated in the requisition. If the directors do not call a meeting within 21 days of receiving the 
requisition, any shareholder who signed the requisition may call the meeting. The BCBCA provides that one or 
more shareholders of a company holding not less than 5% of the issued voting shares of the company may give 
notice to the directors requiring them to call and hold a general meeting which meeting must be held within 4 
months.  
 
Place of Meetings  
 
The OBCA provides that, subject to the articles and any unanimous shareholder agreement, meetings of 
shareholders may be held either inside or outside Ontario as the directors may determine. The BCBCA requires 
all meetings of shareholders to be held in British Columbia unless a location outside the Province is provided 
for the in articles, approved by an ordinary resolution before the meeting or approved in writing by the 
Registrar. Directors The OBCA requires that at least 25% of directors be resident Canadians and requires that 
for offering corporations not fewer than three individuals be elected and at least one-third of the directors not 
be officers or employees of the Company or its affiliates. The BCBCA provides that a public company must 
have at least three directors but does not have any residency requirements for directors.  
 
BCBCA Dissent Rights  
 
Section 238 of the BCBCA gives to registered Shareholders who object to the Continuance the right of dissent 
provided under section 238 of the BCBCA (the “BCBCA Dissent Rights”) under Division 2 of Part 8 in 
respect of the Continuance and to be paid the fair value of their Common Shares determined as of the day 
before the resolution approving the Continuance was passed.  
 
Beneficial Shareholders who wish to dissent should contact their broker or other intermediary for assistance 
with exercising the BCBCA Dissent Right.  
 
The BCBCA Dissent Right is briefly summarized below, but Shareholders are referred to the full text of 
Sections 237 to 247 of the BCBCA attached to this Information Circular as Schedule “E” for a complete 
understanding of the BCBCA Dissent Right.  
 
A registered Shareholder who has duly exercised a BCBCA Dissent Right (a “Dissenting Shareholder”) and 
has not withdrawn or been deemed to have withdrawn such exercise of the BCBCA Dissent Right, but only in 
respect of the Common Shares in respect of which the BCBCA Dissent Right has been validly exercised by 
such holder, who wishes to exercise his or her BCBCA Dissent Right must give a written notice required to be 
given by a Dissenting Shareholder under section 242 of the BCBCA (a “Notice of Dissent”) to the Company 
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by depositing such Notice of Dissent with the Company, or by mailing it to the Company by registered mail 
c/o CDM Capital Suite 800, 789 West Pender Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, B6C 1H2 attention: 
Danica Topolewski, not later than two days before the Meeting. A Shareholder who wishes to dissent must 
prepare a separate Notice of Dissent for (i) the Shareholder, if the Shareholder is dissenting on its own behalf 
and (ii) each person who beneficially owns shares in the Shareholder’s name and on whose behalf the 
Shareholder is dissenting. To be valid, a Notice of Dissent must: (i) identify in each Notice of Dissent the 
person on whose behalf dissent is being exercised; (ii) set out the number of Common Shares in respect of 
which the Shareholder is exercising the Dissent Right (the “Notice Shares”), which number cannot be less than 
all of the Common Shares held by the beneficial holder on whose behalf the Dissent Right is being exercised; 
(iii) if the Notice Shares constitute all of the shares of which the Dissenting Shareholder is both the registered 
owner and beneficial owner and the Dissenting Shareholder owns no other Common Shares as beneficial 
owner, a statement to that effect; (iv) if the Notice Shares constitute all of the shares of which the Dissenting 
Shareholder is both the registered and beneficial owner but the Dissenting Shareholder owns other Common 
Shares as beneficial owner, a statement to that effect, and (a) the names of the registered owners of those other 
shares, (b) the number of those other shares that are held by each of those registered owners, and (c) a 
statement that Notices of Dissent are being or have been sent in respect of all those other shares; (v) if dissent 
is being exercised by the Dissenting Shareholder on behalf of a beneficial Shareholder who is not the 
Dissenting Shareholder, a statement to that effect, and (a) the name and address of the beneficial Shareholder, 
and (b) a statement that the Dissenting Shareholder is dissenting in relation to all of the shares beneficially 
owned by the beneficial Shareholder that are registered in the Dissenting Shareholder’s name.  
 
The giving of a Notice of Dissent does not deprive a Dissenting Shareholder of his or her right to vote at the 
Meeting on the Continuance Resolution. A vote against the Continuance Resolution or the execution or 
exercise of a proxy does not constitute a Notice of Dissent. A Shareholder is not entitled to exercise a BCBCA 
Dissent Right with respect to any Common Shares if the Shareholder votes (or instructs or is deemed, by 
submission of any incomplete proxy, to have instructed his or her proxyholder to vote) in favour of the 
Continuance Resolution.  
 
If the Company intends to act on the authority of the Continuance Resolution, it must send a notice (the 
“Notice to Proceed”) to the Dissenting Shareholder promptly after the later of (i) the date on which the 
Company forms the intention to proceed, and (ii) the date on which the Notice of Dissent was received.  
 
If the Company has acted on the Continuance Resolution, it must promptly send a Notice to Proceed to the 
Dissenting Shareholder. The Notice to Proceed must be dated not earlier than the date on which it is sent and 
state that the Company intends to act or has acted on the authority of the Continuance Resolution and advise 
the Dissenting Shareholder of the manner in which dissent is to be completed.  
 
On receiving a Notice to Proceed, the Dissenting Shareholder is entitled to require the Company to purchase 
all of the Common Shares in respect of which the Notice of Dissent was given.  
 
A Dissenting Shareholder who receives a Notice to Proceed, and who wishes to proceed with the dissent, must 
send to the Company within one month after the date of the Notice to Proceed (i) a written statement that the 
Dissenting Shareholder requires the Company to purchase all of the Notice Shares, (ii) the certificates 
representing the Notice Shares, and (iii) if dissent is being exercised by the Shareholder on behalf of a 
beneficial Shareholder who is not the Dissenting Shareholder, a written statement signed by the beneficial 
Shareholder setting out whether the beneficial Shareholder is the beneficial owner of other shares of the 
Company and if so, setting out (a) the names of the registered owners of those other shares, (b) the number of 
those other shares that are held by each of those registered owners, and (c) that dissent is being exercised in 
respect of all of those other shares, whereupon the Company is bound to purchase them in accordance with the 
Notice of Dissent.  
 
The Company and the Dissenting Shareholder may agree on the amount of the payout value of the Notice 
Shares and in that event, the Company must either promptly pay that amount to the Dissenting Shareholder or 
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send a notice to the Dissenting Shareholder that the Company is unable lawfully to pay Dissenting 
Shareholders for their shares as the Company is insolvent or if the payment would render the Company 
insolvent.  
 
If the Company and the Dissenting Shareholder do not agree on the amount of the payout value of the Notice 
Shares, the Dissenting Shareholder or the Company may apply to the court and the court may (i) determine the 
payout value of the Notice Shares or order that the payout value of the Notice Shares be established by 
arbitration or by reference to the registrar or a referee of the court, (ii) join in the application each Dissenting 
Shareholder who has not agreed with the Company on the amount of the payout value of the Notice Shares, 
and (iii) make consequential orders and give directions it considers appropriate.  
 
Promptly after a determination of the payout value of the Notice Shares has been made, the Company must 
either pay that amount to the Dissenting Shareholder or send a notice to the Dissenting Shareholder that the 
Company is unable lawfully to pay Dissenting Shareholders for their shares as the Company is insolvent or if 
the payment would render the Company insolvent. If the Dissenting Shareholder receives a notice that the 
Company is unable to lawfully pay Dissenting Shareholders for their shares, the Dissenting Shareholder may, 
within 30 days after receipt, withdraw his or her Notice of Dissent. If the Notice of Dissent is not withdrawn, 
the Dissenting Shareholder remains a claimant against the Company to be paid as soon as the Company is 
lawfully able to do so or, in a liquidation, to be ranked subordinate to the rights of creditors of the Company 
but in priority to its shareholders.  
 
Any notice required to be given by the Company or a Dissenting Shareholder to the other in connection with 
the exercise of the BCBCA Dissent Right will be deemed to have been given and received, if delivered, on the 
day of delivery, or, if mailed, on the earlier of the date of receipt and the second business day after the day of 
mailing, or, if sent by telecopier or other similar form of transmission, the first business day after the date of 
transmittal.  
 
A Dissenting Shareholder who (i) properly exercises the BCBCA Dissent Right by strictly complying with all 
of the procedures (“Dissent Procedures”) required to be complied with by a Dissenting Shareholder, will cease 
to have any rights as a Shareholder other than the right to be paid the fair value of the Common Shares by the 
Company in accordance with the Dissent Procedures, or (ii) seeks to exercise the BCBCA Dissent Right, but 
who for any reason does not properly comply with each of the Dissent Procedures required to be complied 
with by a Dissenting Shareholder loses such right to dissent.  
 
A Dissenting Shareholder may not withdraw a Notice of Dissent without the consent of the Company.  
 
A Dissenting Shareholder may, with the written consent of the Company, at any time prior to the payment to 
the Dissenting Shareholder of the full amount of money to which the Dissenting Shareholder is entitled, 
abandon such Dissenting Shareholder’s dissent to the Continuance by giving written notice to the Company, 
withdrawing the Notice of Dissent, by depositing such notice with the Company, or mailing it to the Company 
by registered mail c/o CDM Capital Suite 800, 789 West Pender Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, B6C 
1H2 attention: Nancy Zhao.  
 
Shareholders who wish to exercise their BCBCA Dissent Right should carefully review the dissent procedures 
described in Sections 237 to 247 of the BCBCA attached to this Information Circular as Schedule “E” and seek 
independent legal advice, as failure to adhere strictly to the BCBCA Dissent Right requirements may result in 
the loss of any right to dissent. 
 
 

OTHER MATTERS  
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The Company’s board of directors is not aware of any other matters which it anticipates will come before the 
Meeting as of the date of mailing of this Circular. The contents of this Circular and its distribution to 
shareholders have been approved by the Company’s board of directors.  
 

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 
 
Additional information relating to the Company may be obtained by accessing the Company’s profile on 
SEDAR at www.sedar.com. The shareholders may contact the Company at Suite 700 – 838 West Hastings 
Street, Vancouver, British Columbia V6C 0A6 to request copies of the Company’s financial statements and 
management’s discussion and analysis, free of charge. 
 
Financial information is provided in the Company’s financial statements and management’s discussion and 
analysis for its most recently completed financial year. 
 
  
DATED at Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada, on this 20th day of January, 2023.  
 
BY ORDER OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF NEO BATTERY MATERIALS LTD. 
 

  "Spencer Huh"     
Spencer Huh 

President and Chief Executive Officer 
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Certificate of the Issuer 
 
The foregoing document constitutes full, true and plain disclosure of all material facts relating to the securities 
of NEO BATTERY MATERIALS LTD. assuming completion of the Change of Business. 
 

 
      
Spencer Huh 
Director, President, CEO  
 

 
      
Nancy Zhao  
CFO and Secretary 
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Acknowledgement – Personal Information 
 
"Personal Information" means any information about an identifiable individual, and includes information 
contained in any items in the attached information circular. 
 
The undersigned hereby acknowledges and agrees that it has obtained the express written consent of each 
individual to: 

 
(a) the disclosure of Personal Information by the undersigned to the Exchange pursuant to this 

Information Circular; and  
 
(b) the collection, use and disclosure of Personal Information by the Exchange for the purposes 

identified by the Exchange, from time to time. 
 
 

 
       
Spencer Huh 
Director, President and CEO 



 

 

Schedule "A" 
 

TO MANAGEMENT INFORMATION CIRCULAR 
OF NEO BATTERY MATERIALS LTD. 

 
CHANGE OF BUSINESS RESOLUTIONS  

 
"RESOLVED AS A RESOLUTION THAT: 

 
1. the Change of Business (the "Change of Business", as defined in Exchange Policy) of NEO BATTERY 

MATERIALS LTD. (the "Company") of the Company from a mining issuer to a technology issuer, be 
and is hereby approved and adopted; 
 

2. any one of the officers or directors of the Company, for and on behalf of the Company, be and is hereby 
authorized to do all such acts and things and sign and execute or cause to be signed and executed all such 
instruments, agreements and documents as in the opinion of such officer or director may be necessary or 
desirable to complete the transactions contemplated by the foregoing resolutions, the execution and 
delivery thereof and the doing of all such acts and things being conclusive evidence of such 
determination." 

 
 



 

 

Schedule “B” 
 

TO MANAGEMENT INFORMATION CIRCULAR 
OF NEO BATTERY MATERIALS LTD. 

 
CONTINUANCE RESOLUTION 

 
“BE IT RESOLVED AS A SPECIAL RESOLUTION THAT:  
 
1. That the continuance of the Company under the laws of Ontario as if the Company had been incorporated under 
the laws of Ontario is hereby approved.  
 
2. That the Company is hereby authorized to make an application to the Registrar under the Business Corporations 
Act (British Columbia) (“BCBCA”), pursuant to section 308 of the BCBCA, for authorization to continue under the 
Business Corporations Act (Ontario) (“OBCA”).  
 
3. That the Company is hereby authorized to make application to the Registrar under the OBCA, pursuant to section 
180 of such Act, for a Certificate of Continuance continuing the Company as a corporation pursuant to the OBCA.  
 
4. That the Articles of Continuance of the Company, forming part of the application referred to in paragraph 3 of 
this Resolution shall be submitted to the Registrar under the OBCA.  
 
5. Any one officer or director of the Company is hereby authorized and directed on behalf of the Company to sign, 
execute and deliver all documents and to do all things necessary or advisable in connection with the continuance of 
the Company under the laws of British Columbia and Ontario.  
 
6. Upon the issue of a Certificate of Continuance under the OBCA, a copy of the Certificate and Articles of 
Continuance shall be filed with the Registrar under the BCBCA after the date of such issuance.  
 
7. Notwithstanding the approval of this resolution, the directors of the Company are hereby authorized and 
empowered without further notice to or approval of the holders of the common shares not to proceed with the 
Continuance of the Corporation pursuant to this resolution.  
 
8. Any one officer or director of the Company is hereby authorized and directed for and on behalf of the Company 
to execute or cause to be executed, under the seal of the Company or otherwise, and to deliver or cause to be 
delivered, all such other documents and instruments and to perform or cause to be performed all such other acts and 
things as in such person’s opinion may be necessary or desirable to give full effect to the foregoing resolutions and 
the matters authorized thereby, such determination to be conclusively evidenced by the execution and delivery of 
such document or instrument or the doing of any such act or thing.” 
 



 

 

Schedule “C” 
 

TO MANAGEMENT INFORMATION CIRCULAR 
OF NEO BATTERY MATERIALS LTD. 

 
BY-LAW RESOLUTION 

 
“BE IT RESOLVED AS AN ORDINARY RESOLUTION THAT:  
 
1. By-Law No. 1 (General) is hereby approved, ratified and confirmed as a by-law of the Company.  
 
2. Any one officer or director of the Company is hereby authorized and directed for and on behalf of the Company 
to execute or cause to be executed, under the seal of the Company or otherwise, and to deliver or cause to be 
delivered, all such other documents and instruments and to perform or cause to be performed all such other acts and 
things as in such person’s opinion may be necessary or desirable to give full effect to the foregoing resolutions and 
the matters authorized thereby, such determination to be conclusively evidenced by the execution and delivery of 
such document or instrument or the doing of any such act or thing.” 



 

 

Schedule “D” 
 

TO MANAGEMENT INFORMATION CIRCULAR 
OF NEO BATTERY MATERIALS LTD. 

 
BY-LAW NO. 1 A BY-LAW RELATING GENERALLY TO THE TRANSACTION OF 

THE BUSINESS AND AFFAIRS OF  
 

NEO BATTERY METALS LTD.  
 

BE IT ENACTED and it is hereby enacted as a by-law of  
 

NEO BATTERY METALS LTD.  
 

(hereinafter called the “Corporation”) as follows:  
 

GENERAL BUSINESS 
 
Registered Office  
 
1.  The directors may from time to time by resolution fix the location of the registered office of the 
Corporation within the municipality or geographic township within Ontario as specified in its articles. 
  
Seal  
 
2.   The Corporation may have a corporate seal which shall be adopted and may be changed by 
resolution of the directors.  
 
Financial Year  
 
3.  The first financial year of the Corporation shall terminate on a date to be determined by the 
directors of the Corporation and thereafter on the anniversary date thereof in each year, until changed by 
resolution of the directors of the Corporation.  
 
Banking Arrangements  
 
4.  The banking business of the Corporation, or any part thereof, shall be transacted with such bank, 
trust company or other firm or corporation carrying on a banking business as the directors may designate, 
appoint or authorize from time to time by resolution and all such banking business or any part thereof 
shall be transacted on the Corporation’s behalf by such one or more officers and / or other persons as the 
board may designate, direct or authorize from time to time by resolution and to the extent therein 
provided, including without restricting the generality of the foregoing, the operation of the Corporation’s 
accounts; the making, signing, drawing, accepting, endorsing, negotiating, allotting, depositing or 
transferring of any cheques, promissory notes, drafts, acceptances, bills of exchange and orders for the 
payment of money; the giving of receipts for and orders relating to any property of the Corporation; the 
execution of any agreement relating to any banking business and defining the rights and powers of the 
parties thereto; and the authorizing of any officer of such banker to do any act or thing on the 
Corporation’s behalf to facilitate such banking business.  
 
Execution of Instruments 



 

 

5.  Deeds, transfers, assignments, contracts, obligations and other instruments in writing requiring 
the signature of the Corporation may be signed on behalf of the Corporation by any director or officer and 
the corporate seal may be affixed to such instruments as may be required by any person so authorized to 
sign on behalf of the Corporation. Notwithstanding any provisions to the contrary contained in the by-
laws of the Corporation, the directors may at any time and from time to time by resolution direct the 
manner in which, and the person or persons by whom any particular deed, transfer, contract, obligation or 
other instrument in writing, any class of deeds, transfers, contracts, obligations or other instruments in 
writing requiring signature by the Corporation may or shall be signed.  
 

DIRECTORS 
 
Power of Directors  
 
6.  The directors shall manage or supervise the management of the business and affairs of the 
Corporation unless otherwise specifically provided in any unanimous shareholder agreement.  
 
Number of Directors and Quorum  
 
7.  Subject to the articles of the Corporation, the number of directors of the Corporation shall be that 
number of directors as specified in the articles or shall be that number of directors as determined from 
time to time by a special resolution within the minimum and maximum as permitted by the articles of the 
Corporation. A majority of the number of directors or minimum number of directors required by the 
articles shall constitute a quorum at any meeting of the directors. Notwithstanding vacancies, the 
remaining directors may exercise all the powers of the board of directors so long as the quorum of the 
board of directors remains in office.  
 
Qualifications  
 
8.  Each director shall be eighteen (18) or more years of age and shall be an individual as defined by 
the Act. No person who is of unsound mind and has been so found by a court in Canada or elsewhere or 
who has the status of a bankrupt shall be a director. If a director acquires the status of a bankrupt or 
becomes of unsound mind and is so found, he shall thereupon cease to be a director. 
 
Resident Canadians  
 
9.  At least 25 per cent of the directors of the Corporation, other than a non-resident corporation as 
defined by the Act, shall be resident Canadians. Where the Corporation has less than four directors, at 
least one director shall be a resident Canadian.  
 
Nomination of Directors  
 
10.  Subject only to the Act and to the articles, only persons who are nominated in accordance with 
the following procedures shall be eligible for election as directors of the Corporation. Nominations of 
persons for election to the board may be made at any annual meeting of shareholders, or at any special 
meeting of shareholders if one of the purposes for which the special meeting was called is the election of 
directors. Such nominations may be made in the following manner:  
 

a) by or at the direction of the Board, including pursuant to a notice of meeting;  
 



 

 

b) by or at the direction or request of one or more shareholders of the Corporation pursuant to a 
proposal made in accordance with the provisions of the Act, or a requisition of meeting of the 
shareholders of the Corporation made in accordance with the provisions of the Act; or  
 
c) by any person (a “Nominating Shareholder”): (A) who, at the close of business on the date of 
the giving of the notice provided below in this Section 10 and on the record date for notice of 
such meeting, is entered in the securities register of the Corporation as a holder of one or more 
shares carrying the right to vote at such meeting or who beneficially owns shares that are entitled 
to be voted at such meeting; and (B) who complies with the notice procedures set forth in this 
Section 10. In addition to any other applicable requirements, for a nomination to be made by a 
Nominating Shareholder, the Nominating Shareholder must have given timely notice thereof in 
proper written form to the Secretary of the Corporation at the principal executive offices of the 
Corporation.  

 
To be timely, a Nominating Shareholder’s notice to the Secretary of the Corporation must be made: 
 

a) in the case of an annual meeting of shareholders, not less than 30 nor more than 65 days prior 
to the date of the annual meeting of shareholders; provided, however, that in the event that the 
annual meeting of shareholders is to be held on a date that is less than 50 days after the date on 
which the first public announcement (the “Notice Date”) of the date of the annual meeting was 
made, notice by the Nominating Shareholder may be made not later than the close of business on 
the tenth (10th) day following the Notice Date; and 
 
b) in the case of a special meeting (which is not also an annual meeting) of shareholders called for 
the purpose of electing directors (whether or not called for other purposes), not later than the 
close of business on the fifteenth (15th) day following the day on which the first public 
announcement of the date of the special meeting of shareholders was made.  

 
In no event shall any adjournment or postponement of a meeting of shareholders or the announcement 
thereof commence a new time period for the giving of a Nominating Shareholder’s notice as described 
above. To be in proper written form, a Nominating Shareholder’s notice to the Secretary of the 
Corporation must set forth:  
 

a) as to each person whom the Nominating Shareholder proposes to nominate for election as a 
director: (A) the name, age, business address and residential address of the person; (B) the 
principal occupation or employment of the person; (C) the class or series and number of shares in 
the capital of the Corporation which are controlled or which are owned beneficially or of record 
by the person as of the record date for the meeting of shareholders (if such date shall then have 
been made publicly available and shall have occurred) and as of the date of such notice; and (D) 
any other information relating to the person that would be required to be disclosed in a dissident’s 
proxy circular in connection with solicitations of proxies for election of directors pursuant to the 
Act and Applicable Securities Laws (as defined below); and  
 
b) as to the Nominating Shareholder giving the notice, any proxy, contract, arrangement, 
understanding or relationship pursuant to which such Nominating Shareholder has a right to vote 
any shares of the Corporation and any other information relating to such Nominating Shareholder 
that would be required to be made in a dissident’s proxy circular in connection with solicitations 
of proxies for election of directors pursuant to the Act and Applicable Securities Laws (as defined 
below).  

 



 

 

The Corporation may require any proposed director nominee to furnish such other information as may 
reasonably be required by the Corporation to determine the eligibility of such proposed director nominee 
to serve as an independent director of the Corporation or that could be material to a reasonable 
shareholder of the Corporation’s understanding of the independence, or lack thereof, of such proposed 
director nominee. No person shall be eligible for election as a director of the Corporation unless 
nominated in accordance with the provisions of this Section 10; provided, however, that nothing in this 
Section 10 shall be deemed to preclude discussion by a shareholder (as distinct from the nomination of 
directors) at a meeting of shareholders of the Corporation of any matter in respect of which it would have 
been entitled to submit a proposal pursuant to the provisions of the Act. The Chairman of the meeting 
shall have the power and duty to determine whether a nomination was made in accordance with the 
procedures set forth in the foregoing provisions and, if any proposed nomination is not in compliance 
with such foregoing provisions, to declare that such defective nomination shall be disregarded.  
 
Notwithstanding any other provision of this Section 10, notice given to the Secretary of the Corporation 
may only be given by personal delivery, facsimile transmission or by email (at such email address as 
stipulated from time to time by the Secretary of the Corporation for purposes of this notice), and shall be 
deemed to have been given and made only at the time it is served by personal delivery, email (at the 
aforesaid address) or sent by facsimile transmission (provided that receipt of confirmation of such 
transmission has been received) to the Secretary of the Corporation at the address of the principal 
executive offices of the Corporation; provided that if such delivery or electronic communication is made 
on a day which is a not a business day or later than 5:00 p.m. (Toronto time) on a day which is a business 
day, then such delivery or electronic communication shall be deemed to have been made on the 
subsequent day that is a business day. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the board may, in its sole 
discretion, waive any requirement in this Section 10.  
 
For purposes of this Section 10:  
 

a) “public announcement” shall mean disclosure in a press release reported by a national news 
service in Canada, or in a document publicly filed by the Corporation under its profile on the 
System of Electronic Document Analysis and Retrieval at www.sedar.com; and  
 
b) “Applicable Securities Laws” means the applicable securities legislation of each relevant 
province of Canada, as amended from time to time, the rules, regulations and forms made or 
promulgated under any such statute and the published national instruments, multilateral 
instruments, policies, bulletins and notices of the securities commission and similar regulatory 
authority of each province of Canada.  

 
Election and Term  
 
11.  The directors shall be elected yearly to hold office until the next annual meeting of the 
shareholders of the Corporation or until their successors shall have been duly elected. The whole board 
shall be elected at each annual meeting and all the directors then in office shall retire, but, if qualified, are 
eligible for re-election. The election may be by a show of hands or by a resolution of the shareholders 
unless a ballot be demanded by any shareholder.  
 
Removal of Directors  
 
12.  The shareholders may by ordinary resolution at an annual or special meeting of the shareholders 
of the Corporation remove any director from office. Notice of intention to pass any such resolution shall 
be given in the notice calling the meeting and the shareholders may by a majority of votes cast at that 
meeting elect a person otherwise qualified to fill the vacancy created by the removal of such director.  



 

 

 
Vacancies  
 
13.  Except as hereinafter provided vacancies on the board of directors may be filled for the remainder 
of its term of office by qualified persons by the remaining directors if they constitute a quorum. If there is 
not a quorum of directors or if a vacancy results from a failure to elect the number of directors required to 
be elected at any meeting of shareholders or if a vacancy results from an increase in the number of 
directors where the directors are otherwise authorized by special resolution to determine the number of 
directors and the appointment of an additional director would result in a total number of directors greater 
than one and one third (1 1/3) times the number of directors required to have been elected at the last 
annual meeting of shareholders then the directors then in office shall forthwith call a special meeting of 
the shareholders to fill the vacancy and, if they fail to call a meeting or if there are no directors then in 
office, the meeting may be called by any shareholder.  
 
Calling of Meetings  
 
14.  Meetings of the board of directors shall be held from time to time at such place, at such time and 
on such day as the President or a Vice-President who is a director or any two (2) directors may determine, 
and the Secretary shall call meeting when directed or authorized by the President or by a Vice-President 
who is a director or by any two (2) directors. Notice of every meeting so called shall be given to each 
director not less than forty-eight hours (excluding any part of a Sunday or Holiday as defined by the 
Interpretation Act of Canada for the time being in force) before the time when the meeting is to be held 
and such notice shall specify the general nature of any business to be transacted, save that no notice of a 
meeting shall be necessary if all the directors are present, and do not object to the holding of the meeting, 
or if those absent waive notice of or have otherwise signified their consent to the holding of such meeting.  
 
First Directors Meeting  
 
15.  After incorporation an incorporator or a director may call a meeting of the directors of the 
Corporation by the giving of not less than five (5) days notice thereof to each director stating the time and 
place of the meeting at which the directors may, make by-laws; adopt forms of security certificates and 
corporate records; authorize the issue of securities; appoint officers; appoint one or more auditors to hold 
office until the first annual or a special meeting of shareholders; make banking arrangements; and transact 
any other business.  
 
Place of Meeting  
 
16.  Meetings of the board of directors may be held at the registered office of the Corporation or at 
any other place within or outside of Ontario; except that unless the Corporation is a non-resident 
corporation a majority of the meetings of the board of directors in any financial year shall be held at a 
place within Canada.  
 
Participation by Telephone  
 
17.  With the unanimous consent of all the directors of the Corporation present at or participating in a 
meeting, a meeting of directors or of a committee of directors may be held by means of such telephone, 
electronic or other communication facilities as permit all persons participating in a meeting to 
communicate with each other simultaneously and instantaneously and a director participating in such a 
meeting by such means is deemed to be present at that meeting. If a majority of the directors participating 
at a meeting held as herein provided are then in Canada the meeting shall be deemed to have been held in 
Canada.  



 

 

 
Votes to Govern  
 
18.  At all meetings of the board of directors, unless otherwise provided in the Act, every question 
shall be decided by a majority of the votes cast on the question and in case of an equality of votes, the 
Chairman of the meeting shall not be entitled to a second or casting vote.  
 
Remuneration of Directors  
 
19.  The directors of the Corporation shall be paid such remuneration as may be determined by the 
board of directors. Any remuneration so payable to a director who is also an officer or employee of the 
Corporation or is counsel or solicitor of the Corporation or otherwise serves it in a professional capacity 
shall be, in addition to his salary as such officer, or his professional fees as the case may be. The directors 
shall also be paid such sums in respect of the out-of-pocket expenses incurred in attending board, 
committee or shareholder meetings or otherwise in respect of the performance by them of their duties as 
the board of directors may from time to time determine.  
 
Transaction of Business by Signature  
 
20.  A resolution in writing signed by all the directors entitled to vote on that resolution at a meeting 
of directors or a committee of directors, is as valid as if it had been passed at a meeting of directors or a 
committee of directors.  
 
One Director  
 
21.  Where the Corporation has only one director, that director may constitute a meeting.  
 
Declaration of Interest  
 
22.  Every director or officer of the Corporation who is a party to a material contract or transaction or 
proposed material contract or transaction with the Corporation, or is a director or an officer of, or has a 
material interest in, any person who is a party to a material contract or transaction or proposed material 
contract or transaction with the Corporation, shall disclose in writing to the Corporation or request to have 
entered in the minutes of the meeting of directors the nature and extent of his interest. All such 
disclosures shall be made at the time required by the applicable provisions of the Act and directors shall 
refrain from voting in respect of any such contract or transaction unless otherwise permitted by the Act.  
 
Avoidance Standards  
 
23.  If a material contract is made or a material transaction is entered into between the Corporation 
and a director or officer of the Corporation or between the Corporation and any other person of which a 
director or officer of the Corporation is a director or officer in which he has a material interest, the 
director or officer is not accountable to the Corporation or its shareholders for any profit or gain realized 
from the contract or transaction; and the contract or transaction is neither void or voidable, by reason only 
that relationship or by reason only that the director is present at or is counted to determine the presence of 
a quorum at the meeting of directors that authorized the contract or transaction, if the director or officer 
disclosed his interest as hereinbefore provided and the contract or transaction was reasonable and fair to 
the Corporation at the time it was so approved. A director or officer acting honestly and in good faith is 
not accountable to the Corporation or to its shareholders for any profit or gain realized from any such 
contract or transaction by reason only of his holding the office of director or officer and the contract or 
transaction, if it was reasonable and fair to the Corporation at the time it was approved, is not by reason 



 

 

only of the director’s or officer’s interests therein void or voidable where, the contract or transaction is 
confirmed or approved by special resolution at a meeting of the shareholders duly called for that purpose; 
and the nature and extent of the director’s or officer’s interest in the contract or transaction is disclosed in 
reasonable detail in the notice calling the meeting.  
 
Standard of Care  
 
24.  Every director and officer of the Corporation in exercising his powers and discharging his duties 
shall act honestly and in good faith with a view to the best interests of the Corporation and exercise the 
care, diligence and skill that a reasonably prudent person would exercise in comparable circumstances. 
Every director and officer of the Corporation shall comply with the Act, the regulations, articles, by-laws 
and any unanimous shareholder agreement. 
 
Indemnity of Directors and Officers  
 
25.  The Corporation shall indemnify the directors and officers of the Corporation, former directors or 
officers of the Corporation or a person who acts or acted at the Corporation’s request as a director or 
officer of a body corporate of which the Corporation is or was a shareholder or creditor and his heirs and 
legal representatives against all costs, charges and expenses, including an amount paid to settle an action 
or satisfy a judgement, reasonably incurred by him in respect of any civil, criminal or administrative 
action or proceeding to which he is made party by reason of being or having been a director or officer of 
the Corporation or body corporate and with the approval of the court in respect of an action by or on 
behalf of the Corporation or body corporate to procure a judgement in its favour to which he is made a 
party by reason of being or having been a director or officer of the Corporation or body corporate against 
all costs, charges and expenses reasonably incurred by him in connection with such action, if, he acted 
honestly and in good faith with a view to the best interests of the Corporation; and in the case of a 
criminal or administrative action or proceeding that is enforced by a monetary penalty, he had reasonable 
grounds for believing that his conduct was lawful.  
 
Insurance for Directors and Officers  
 
26.  The Corporation may purchase and maintain insurance for the benefit of the directors or officers 
of the Corporation, former directors or officers of the Corporation or persons who act or acted at the 
Corporation’s request as a director or officer of a body corporate of which the Corporation is or was a 
shareholder or creditor and his heirs and legal representatives against any liability incurred by him, in his 
capacity as a director or officer of the Corporation, except where the liability relates to his failure to act 
honestly and in good faith with a view to the bests interests of the Corporation; or in his capacity as a 
director or officer of another body corporate where he acts or acted in that capacity at the Corporation’s 
request , except where the liability relates to his failure to act honestly and in good faith with a view to the 
best interests of the body corporate.  
 
Financial Assistance  
 
27.  The Corporation or any corporation with which it is affiliated, shall not, directly or indirectly, 
give financial assistance by means of a loan, guarantee or otherwise, to any shareholder, director, officer 
or employee of the Corporation or affiliated corporation or to an associate of any such person for any 
purpose; or to any person for the purpose of or in connection with a purchase of a share or a security 
convertible into or exchangeable for a share, issued or to be issued by the Corporation or affiliated 
Corporation, where there are reasonable grounds for believing that, the Corporation is or after giving the 
financial assistance would be unable to pay its liabilities as they may become due; or the realizable value 
of the Corporation’s assets, excluding the amount of any financial assistance in the form of a loan and in 



 

 

the form of any secured guarantee, after giving the financial assistance, would be less than the aggregate 
of the Corporation’s liabilities and stated capital of all classes. The Corporation may give financial 
assistance by means of a loan, guarantee or otherwise, to any person in the ordinary course of business if 
the lending of money is part of the ordinary business of the Corporation; to any person on account of 
expenditures incurred or to be incurred on behalf of the Corporation; to its holding body corporate if the 
Corporation is a wholly owned subsidiary of the holding body corporate; to a subsidiary body corporate 
of the Corporation; or to its employees of the Corporation or any of its affiliates, to enable or assist them 
to purchase or erect living accommodation for their own occupation, or in accordance with a plan for the 
purchase of shares of the Corporation or any of its affiliates.  
 

OFFICERS 
 
Appointed Officers  
 
28.  The directors of the Corporation may from time to time designate the offices of the Corporation, 
appoint officers, specify their duties and, subject to the Act, delegate to them powers to manage the 
business and affairs of the Corporation. A director may be appointed to any office of the Corporation and 
two or more offices of the Corporation may be held by the same person. In the absence of a written 
agreement to the contrary, the board of directors may remove at its pleasure any officer of the 
Corporation. The terms of employment and remuneration of any officer so appointed by it shall be settled 
from time to time by the board of directors. Unless otherwise from time to time specified by the board of 
directors the offices of the Corporation, if so designated, and the officers so appointed shall have the 
following duties and powers.  
 
President  
 
29. The President shall, when present, preside at all meetings of the shareholders and of the board of 
directors and shall be charged with the general supervision of the business and affairs of the Corporation. 
Except when the board of directors has appointed a general manager or managing director, the President 
shall also have the powers and be charged with the duties of that office. The President shall be appointed 
from amongst the directors.  
 
Vice-President  
 
30.  During the absence or inability of the President his duties may be performed and his powers may 
be exercised by the Vice-President, or if there are more than one, by the Vice-President in order of 
seniority (as determined by the board of directors) save that no Vice-president shall preside at a meeting 
of the board of directors or at a meeting of shareholders who is not qualified to attend the meeting as a 
director, as the case may be. If a Vice-President exercises any such duty or power, the absence or inability 
of the President shall be presumed with reference thereto. A Vice-President shall also perform such duties 
and exercise such powers as the President may from time to time delegate to him or the board may 
prescribe.  
 
General Manager  
 
31.  The General Manager, if one be appointed, shall have the general management and direction, 
subject to the authority of the board of directors and supervision of the President, of the Corporation’s 
business and affairs and the power to appoint and remove any and all officers, employees and agents of 
the Corporation not appointed directly by the board of directors and to settle the terms of their 
employment and remuneration. If and so long as the general manager is a director he may but need not be 
known as the Managing Director.  



 

 

 
Secretary  
 
32.  The Secretary shall give, or cause to be given, all notices required to be given to shareholders, 
directors, auditors and members of committees; he shall attend all meetings of the directors and of the 
shareholders and shall enter or cause to be entered in books kept for that purpose minutes of all 
proceedings at such meetings; he shall be the custodian of the stamp or mechanical device generally used 
for affixing the corporate seal of the Corporation and of all books, papers, records, documents and other 
instruments belonging to the Corporation; and he shall perform such other duties as may from time to 
time be prescribed by the board of directors.  
 
Treasurer  
 
33.  The Treasurer shall keep full and accurate books of account in which shall be recorded all 
receipts and disbursements of the Corporation and, under the direction of the board of directors, shall 
control the deposit of money, the safekeeping of securities and the disbursements of the funds of the 
Corporation; he shall render to the board of directors at the meetings thereof, or whenever required of him 
an account of all his transactions as Treasurer and of the financial position of the Corporation; and he 
shall perform such other duties as may from time to time be prescribed by the board of directors. 
 
Other Officers  
 
34.  The duties of all other officers of the Corporation shall be such as the terms of their engagement 
call for or the board of directors requires of them. Any of the powers and duties of an officer to whom an 
assistant has been appointed may be exercised and performed by such assistant, unless the board of 
directors otherwise directs.  
 
Variation of Duties  
 
35.  From time to time the board may vary, add to or limit the powers and duties of any officer or 
officers.  
 
Agents and Attorneys  
 
36.  The board of directors shall have power from time to time to appoint agents or attorneys for the 
Corporation in or out of Canada with such powers of management or otherwise (including the power to 
sub-delegate) as may be thought fit. 
 
Fidelity Bonds  
 
37.  The board of directors may require such officers, employees and agents of the Corporation as the 
board of directors deems advisable to furnish bonds for the faithful discharge of their duties, in such form 
and with such surety as the board of directors may from time to time prescribe.  
 

SHARES 
 

Allotment  
 
38.  The board of directors may from time to time accept subscriptions and allot or grant options to 
purchase the whole or any part of the authorized and unissued shares in the Corporation including any 



 

 

shares created by an amendment to the articles of the Corporation to such person or persons or class of 
persons as the board of directors shall by resolution determine.  
 
Payment of Commission  
 
39.  The directors may authorize the Corporation to pay a reasonable commission to any person in 
consideration of his purchasing or agreeing to purchase shares of the Corporation from the Corporation or 
from any other person, or procuring or agreeing to procure purchasers for any such shares.  
 
40.  Every security holder including every shareholder shall be entitled, in the case of initial issuance 
without payment and in the case of any subsequent transfer upon payment of a fee of not more than three 
dollars ($3.00) to a security certificate in respect of the securities held by him or to a non-transferable 
written acknowledgement of his right to obtain a security certificate from the Corporation in respect of the 
securities of the Corporation held by him. Security certificates shall be in such a form or forms as the 
board of directors shall from time to time approve. Unless otherwise ordered by the board of directors, 
they shall be signed by any two directors and/or officers and need not be under the corporate seal; 
provided that certificates representing securities in respect of which a transfer agent and registrar (which 
term shall include a branch transfer agent and registrar) or trustee have been appointed shall not be valid 
unless countersigned by or on behalf of such transfer agent and registrar or trustee. If authorized by 
resolution of the board of directors, the corporate seal of the Corporation and the signature of one of the 
signing officers, or in the case of security certificates representing securities in respect of which a transfer 
agent and registrar or trustee have been appointed, the signatures of both signing officers, may be printed, 
engraved, lithographed, or otherwise mechanically reproduced in facsimile upon security certificates and 
every such facsimile signature shall for all purposes be deemed to be the signature of the officer whose 
signature it reproduces and shall be valid notwithstanding that one or both of the officers whose signature 
(whether manual or facsimile) appears thereon no longer holds the office at the date of issue or delivery of 
the certificate.  
 
Replacement of Security Certificates  
 
41.  The board of directors may by resolution prescribe, either generally or in a particular case, 
reasonable conditions upon which a new security certificate may be issued in lieu of and upon 
cancellation of the security certificate which has become mutilated or in substitution for certificate which 
has been lost, stolen or destroyed.  
 
Central and Branch Registers  
 
42.  The Corporation shall maintain a central securities register and a central register of transfers at its 
registered office or at any other place in Ontario designated by the directors and may maintain one or 
more branch securities registers and register of transfers at such offices of the Corporation or other places 
either within or outside Ontario as designated by the directors. The board of directors may from time to 
time by resolution appoint a registrar, trustee or agent to keep the register of security holders and a 
transfer agent, trustee or other agent to keep the register of transfers and may also designate from time to 
time branch registers of security holders and branch registers of transfers. A registrar, trustee, transfer 
agent or other agent may but need not be the same individual or Corporation.  
 
Transfer of Securities  
 
43.  Transfers of securities of the Corporation shall be registrable on the register of transfers or on one 
of the branch registers of transfers (if any) kept by or for the Corporation in respect thereof upon 
surrender of the security endorsed by the appropriate person together with such reasonable assurance as 



 

 

the Corporation shall require and subject to the other provisions of the Act relating to transfers and the 
restriction on transfer set forth in the articles of the Corporation.  
 
Dealings with Registered Holder  
 
44.  The Corporation and any trustee appointed in respect of a security may, subject to the Act, treat 
the registered holder of a security as a person exclusively entitled to vote, to receive notices, to receive 
any interest, dividend or other payments in respect of the security, and otherwise to exercise all the rights 
and powers of a holder of the security and is not required to inquire into the existence of, or see to the 
performance or observance of, any duty owed to a third person by a registered holder of any of its 
securities or by anyone whom it treats, as permitted or required by the Act, as the owner or registered 
holder thereof.  
 
Lien on Shares  
 
45.  Subject to the provisions of the Act, the Corporation has a lien on a share registered in the name 
of a shareholder or his legal representative for a debt of that shareholder to the Corporation which lien 
may be realized by the sale or other disposition of such share or by any other method permitted by law.  
 

SHAREHOLDERS 
 
Annual Meetings  
 
46.  The annual meeting of shareholders shall, subject to the articles and any unanimous shareholder 
agreement be held at such place in or outside Ontario as the directors may determine for the purpose of 
hearing and receiving the reports and statements required by the Act to be read and laid before the 
shareholders at any annual meeting, electing directors, reappointing, if necessary, the incumbent auditor 
and fixing or authorizing the board of directors to fix his remuneration. No other business shall be 
transacted at an annual meeting of shareholders unless such meeting is also properly constituted as a 
special meeting of shareholders.  
 
Special Meeting  
 
47.  The directors of the Corporation may at any time and from time to time call a special meeting of 
shareholders of the Corporation to be held at such time and at such place in or outside Ontario as the 
directors determine. The phrase “meeting of shareholders” wherever it occurs in this by-law shall mean 
and include the annual meeting of shareholders and a special meeting of shareholders and shall also 
include a meeting of any class or classes of shareholders.  
 
Notices  
 
48.  No public notice or advertisement of any meeting of shareholders shall be required, but notice of 
the time and place of each such meeting shall be given not less than ten (10) days nor more than fifty (50) 
days before the day on which the meeting is to be held, to the auditor, if any, the directors and to each 
shareholder entitled to vote at the meeting. Notice of a special meeting of shareholders shall state or be 
accompanied by a statement of, the nature of that special business in sufficient detail to permit the 
shareholder to form a reasoned judgement thereon; and the text of any special resolution or by-law to be 
submitted to the meeting. A meeting of shareholders may be held at any time without notice if all the 
shareholders entitled to vote thereat are present or represented by proxy and do not object to the holding 
of the meeting or those not present or represented by a proxy have waived notice, if all the directors are 
present or have waived notice and if the auditor, if any, is present or has waived notice.  



 

 

 
Reports to Shareholders  
 
49.  Subject to the provisions of the Act a copy of the financial statements for the period that began 
immediately after the end of the last completed financial year and ended not more than six (6) months 
before than annual meeting, a copy of the auditor’s report, if any, and any further information respecting 
the financial position of the Corporation and the results of its operations required by the articles, the by-
laws or any unanimous shareholder agreement shall be sent to each shareholder not less than ten (10) days 
before each annual meeting of shareholders or before the transaction of the annual business of the 
Corporation pursuant to paragraph 66 hereof.  
 
Persons Entitled to be Present  
 
50.  Persons entitled to attend a meeting of shareholders shall be those entitled to vote thereat, the 
auditor, if any, of the Corporation, the directors of the Corporation and others who although not entitled 
to vote are entitled or required under the provisions of the Act or by-laws of the Corporation or any 
unanimous shareholder agreement to be present at the meeting. Any other person may be admitted only 
on the invitation of the Chairman of the meeting or with the consent of the meeting. 
 
Record Date  
 
51.  The directors may fix in advance a date preceding by not more than fifty (50) days or by less than 
twenty-one (21) days a record date for the determination of persons entitled to receive notice of a meeting 
of shareholders and notice thereof shall be given not less than seven (7) days before the date so fixed by 
advertisement and by notice as provided in the Act. The directors may also fix in advance the date as the 
record date for the purpose of determining shareholders, entitled to receive payment of a dividend; 
entitled to participate in a liquidation or distribution; or for any other purpose except the right to receive 
notice of or to vote at a meeting which such record date shall not precede by more than fifty (50) days the 
date on which such particular action is to be taken and notice thereof shall be given as hereinbefore 
provided.  
 
Quorum  
 
52.  Two persons present and each entitled to vote thereat shall constitute a quorum for the 
transaction of business at any meeting of shareholders.  
 
Right to Vote  
 
53.  At each meeting of shareholders every shareholder shall be entitled to vote who is entered on the 
books of the Corporation as a holder of one or more shares carrying the right to vote at such meeting in 
accordance with a shareholder list which, in the case of a record date shall be prepared no later than ten 
(10) days after such record date and where there is no record date at the close of business on the day 
immediately preceding the day on which notice is given or where notice is given on the day on which the 
meeting is held. Where a person has transferred any of his shares after the date on which the list 
hereinbefore referred to was prepared and the transferee produces satisfactory evidence in accordance 
with the provisions of the Act not later than (10) days before the meeting that such person owns shares in 
the Corporation such transferee is entitled to vote his shares at the meeting. Where a share or shares have 
been mortgaged or hypothecated, the person who mortgaged or hypothecated such share or shares (or his 
proxy) may nevertheless represent the shares at meetings and vote in respect thereof unless in the 
instrument creating the mortgage or hypothec he has expressly empowered the holder of such mortgage or 
hypothec to vote thereon, in which case such holder (or his proxy) may attend meetings to vote in respect 



 

 

of such shares upon filing with the Secretary of the meeting sufficient proof of the terms of such 
instrument.  
 
Representatives  
 
54.  An executor, administrator, committee of a mentally incompetent person, guardian or trustee and 
where a Corporation is such executor, administrator, committee, guardian or trustee of a testator, intestate, 
mentally incompetent person, ward or cestui que trust, any person duly appointed a proxy for such 
corporation, upon filing with the Secretary of the meeting sufficient proof of his appointment, shall 
represent the shares in his or its hands at all meeting of the shareholders of the Corporation and may vote 
accordingly as a shareholder in the same manner and to the same extent as the shareholder of record. If 
there be more than one executor, administrator, committee, guardian or trustee, the provisions of 
paragraph 56 shall apply.  
 
Proxies   
 
55. Every shareholder entitled to vote at a meeting of shareholders may by means of a proxy appoint a 
proxy holder or one or more alternate proxy holders, who need not be shareholders, as his nominee to 
attend and act at the meeting in manner, to the extent and with the authority conferred by the proxy. The 
instrument appointing a proxy shall be executed by the shareholder or his attorney authorized in writing 
or, if the shareholder is a body corporate, by an officer or attorney thereof duly authorized and shall cease 
to be valid after the expiration of one year from the date thereof. The instrument appointing a proxy shall 
comply with the provisions of the Act and regulations thereto and shall be in such form as the directors 
may from time to time prescribe or in such other form as the Chairman of the meeting may accept as 
sufficient and shall be deposited with the Secretary of the meeting before any vote is cast under its 
authority, or at such earlier time and in such manner as the board or directors may prescribe in accordance 
with the Act.  
 
Joint Shareholders  
 
56.  Where two or more persons hold shares jointly, one of those holders present at a meeting of 
shareholders may in the absence of the others vote the shares, but if two or more of those persons are 
present, in person or by proxy, they shall vote as one of the shares jointly held by them.  
 
Scrutineers  
 
57.  At each meeting of shareholders one or more scrutineers may be appointed by a resolution of the 
meeting or by the Chairman with the consent of the meeting to serve at the meeting. Such scrutineers 
need not be shareholders of the Corporation.  
 
Votes to Govern  
 
58.  At all meetings of shareholders every question shall, unless otherwise required by the articles or 
by-laws of the Corporation or by the Act, be decided by the majority of the votes duly cast on the 
question.  
 
Show of Hands  
 
59.  At all meetings of shareholders every question shall be decided by a show of hands unless a poll 
thereon be required by the Chairman or be demanded by any shareholder present or represented by proxy 
and entitled to vote per share held. Upon a show of hands every person present and entitled to vote shall 



 

 

have one vote. After a show of hands has been taken upon any question the Chairman may require or any 
shareholder present in person or represented by proxy and entitled to vote may demand a poll thereon. 
Whenever a vote by show of hands shall have been taken upon a question, unless a poll thereon be so 
required or demanded, a declaration by the Chairman of the meeting that the vote upon the question has 
been carried or carried by a particular majority or not carried and an entry to that effect in the minutes of 
the proceedings at the meeting shall be prima facie evidence of the fact without proof of the number or 
proportions of the votes recorded in favour of or against any resolution or other proceeding in respect of 
the said question, and the result of the vote so taken shall be the decision of the Corporation in annual or 
special meeting, as the case may be, upon the question. A demand for a poll may be withdrawn at any 
time prior to the taking of the poll.  
 
Polls  
 
60.  If a poll be required by the Chairman of the meeting or be duly demanded by any shareholder 
and the demand be not withdrawn, a poll upon the question shall be taken in such manner as the Chairman 
of the meeting shall direct. Upon a poll each shareholder who is present in person or represented by proxy 
shall be entitled to one vote for each share in respect of which he is entitled to vote at the meeting and the 
result of the poll shall be the decision of the Corporation in annual or special meeting, as the case may be, 
upon the question.  
 
Casting Vote  
 
61.  In case of an equality of votes at any meeting of shareholders, either upon a show of hands or 
upon a poll, the Chairman of the meeting shall not be entitled to a second or casting vote.  
 
Adjournment  
 
62.  The Chairman of the meeting of shareholders may, with the consent of the meeting and subject to 
such conditions as the meeting may decide, or where otherwise permitted under the provisions of the Act, 
adjourn the meeting from time to time and from place to place.  
 
Transaction of Business by Signature  
 
63.  Subject to the provisions of the Act, a resolution in writing signed by all the shareholders entitled 
to vote on that resolution at a meeting of shareholders is as valid as if it had been passed at a meeting of 
shareholders; and a resolution in writing dealing with all matters required by this Act, be dealt with at a 
meeting of shareholders and signed by all the shareholders entitled to vote at that meeting, satisfies all 
other requirements of the Act relating to that meeting of shareholders.  
 
One Shareholder  
 
64.  Where the Corporation has only one shareholder, all business which the Corporation may transact 
at an annual or special meeting of shareholders shall be transacted in the manner provided for in 
paragraph 63 hereof.  
 
Dividends  
 
65.  The board of directors may from time to time declare dividends payable to shareholders 
according to their respective rights and interests in the Corporation. The Corporation may pay a dividend 
by issuing fully paid shares of the Corporation or options or rights to acquire fully paid shares of the 
Corporation and the Corporation may pay a dividend in money or property. A dividend payable in money 



 

 

shall be paid by cheque drawn on the Corporation’s bankers or one of them to the order of each registered 
holder of shares of the class in respect of which it has been declared and mailed by ordinary mail, postage 
prepaid, to such registered holder at his last address appearing on the books of the Corporation, or it may 
be provided by electronic transfer to such shareholder, or by such other method of payment as may 
otherwise be determined by the board of directors. In the case of joint holders the payment shall, unless 
such joint holders otherwise direct, be made payable to the order of all such joint holders and if payment 
be by cheque, if more than one address appears on the books of the Corporation in respect of such joint 
holding the cheque shall be mailed to the first address so appearing. The mailing of such cheque or 
providing payment as aforesaid shall satisfy and discharge all liability for the dividend to the extent of the 
sum represented thereby, unless such cheque be not paid at par on due presentation or payment not be 
processed. In the event of non-receipt of any cheques for dividends by the person to whom it is so sent as 
aforesaid, the Corporation on proof of such non-receipt and upon satisfactory indemnity being given to it, 
shall issue to such person a replacement cheque for a like amount. Any dividend which remains 
unclaimed after a period of twelve (12) years after the date on which it has been declared payable shall be 
forfeited and revert to the Corporation.  
 

NOTICES 
 
Method of Giving  
 
66.  Any notice, communication or other document to be given by the Corporation to a shareholder, 
director, officer or auditor of the Corporation under the provisions of the articles or by-laws or the Act 
shall be sufficiently given if sent to such shareholder, director, officer or auditor by facsimile, e-mail, the 
Internet or other electronic means or by prepaid mail addressed to, or may be delivered personally to, a 
shareholder at his last address as shown in the records of the Corporation or in the case of a director or 
officer in the most recent notice filed under the Corporations Information Act, whichever is the most 
current. A notice or document sent by prepaid mail as hereinbefore provided to a shareholder, director, 
officer or auditor of the Corporation shall be deemed to be received by the addressee on the fifth day after 
mailing. Where the Corporation sends a notice or document to a shareholder by prepaid mail as 
hereinbefore provided and the notice or document is returned on three consecutive occasions because the 
shareholder cannot be found, the Corporation is not required to send any further notice or documents to 
the shareholder until he informs the Corporation in writing of his new address.  
 
Computation of Time  
 
67.  In computing the date when notice must be given under any provision of the articles or by-laws 
requiring a specified number of days’ notice of any meeting or other event, the date of giving the notice 
and the date of the meeting or other event shall be excluded.  
 
Omissions and Errors  
 
68.  The accidental omission to give any notice to any shareholder, director, officer or auditor or any 
error in any notice not affecting the substance thereof shall not invalidate any action taken at any meeting 
held pursuant to such notice or otherwise founded thereon.  
 
Notice to Joint Shareholders  
 
69.  All notices with respect to any shares registered in more than one name may if more than one 
address appears on the books of the Corporation in respect of such joint holding, be given to such joint 
shareholders at the first address so appearing, and notice so given shall be sufficient notice to all the 
holders of such shares.  



 

 

 
Persons Entitled by Death or Operation of Law  
 
70.  Every person who by operation of law, transfer, death of a shareholder or by any means 
whatsoever, shall become entitled to any share or shares, shall be bound by every notice in respect of such 
share or shares which shall have been duly given to the person from whom he derives his title to such 
share or shares, previously to his name and address being entered on the books of the Corporation 
(whether it be before or after the happening of the event upon which he became entitled). Waiver of 
Notice 71. Where a notice or document is required by the Act, or the articles or by-laws of the 
Corporation to be sent, the notice may be waived or the time for sending the notice or document may be 
waived or abridged at any time with the consent in writing of the person entitled thereto.  
 

INTERPRETATION 
 

72.  In this by-law and all other by-laws of the Corporation, words importing the singular number only 
shall include the plural and vice-versa; words importing the masculine gender shall include the feminine 
and neuter genders; words importing persons shall include individuals, sole proprietorships, partnerships, 
unincorporated associations, unincorporated syndicates, unincorporated organizations, trusts, corporate 
bodies and natural persons in their capacity as trustees, executors, administrators or other legal 
representatives; “resident Canadian” means an individual who is determined to be a resident Canadian as 
defined by the Act; “articles” shall include the original or restated articles of incorporation, articles of 
amendment, articles of amalgamation, articles of continuance, articles of reorganization, articles of 
arrangement, articles of dissolution, articles of revival and any amendments thereto; the “Act” shall mean 
the Business Corporations Act, 1990 as amended from time to time or any act that may hereafter be 
substituted therefor.  
 
MADE by the board on the � day of �, 2023. 
 
 
 
� – President          � – Secretary 
 
 



 

 

Schedule “E” 
 

TO MANAGEMENT INFORMATION CIRCULAR 
OF NEO BATTERY MATERIALS LTD. 

 
SECTIONS 237 – 247 OF THE BUSINESS CORPORATIONS ACT (BRITISH COLUMBIA) 

Division 2 — Dissent Proceedings 

Definitions and application 

237   (1) In this Division: 

“dissenter” means a shareholder who, being entitled to do so, sends written notice of dissent when and as 
required by section 242; 

“notice shares” means, in relation to a notice of dissent, the shares in respect of which dissent is being 
exercised under the notice of dissent; 

“payout value” means, 

(a)  in the case of a dissent in respect of a resolution, the fair value that the notice shares had 
immediately before the passing of the resolution, 

(b)  in the case of a dissent in respect of an arrangement approved by a court order made under section 
291 (2) (c) that permits dissent, the fair value that the notice shares had immediately before the 
passing of the resolution adopting the arrangement, or 

(c) in the case of a dissent in respect of a matter approved or authorized by any other court order that 
permits dissent, the fair value that the notice shares had at the time specified by the court order, 

excluding any appreciation or depreciation in anticipation of the corporate action approved or authorized by 
the resolution or court order unless exclusion would be inequitable. 

(2)  This Division applies to any right of dissent exercisable by a shareholder except to the extent that 

(a)  the court orders otherwise, or 

(b)  in the case of a right of dissent authorized by a resolution referred to in section 238(1)(g), the court 
orders otherwise or the resolution provides otherwise. 

Right to dissent 

238  (1)  A shareholder of a company, whether or not the shareholder’s shares carry the right to vote, is entitled to 
dissent as follows: 
 

(a)  under section 260, in respect of a resolution to alter the articles 
 

(i) to alter restrictions on the powers of the company or on the business the company is permitted 
to carry on, or 
 
(ii) without limiting subparagraph (i), in the case of a community contribution company, to alter 
any of the company's community purposes within the meaning of section 51.91; 

(b)  under section 272, in respect of a resolution to adopt an amalgamation agreement; 



 

 

(c)  under section 287, in respect of a resolution to approve an amalgamation under Division 4 of Part 
9; 

(d)  in respect of a resolution to approve an arrangement, the terms of which arrangement permit 
dissent; 

(e)  under section 301(5), in respect of a resolution to authorize or ratify the sale, lease or other 
disposition of all or substantially all of the company’s undertaking; 

(f) under section 309, in respect of a resolution to authorize the continuation of the company into a 
jurisdiction other than British Columbia; 

(g)  in respect of any other resolution, if dissent is authorized by the resolution; 

(h)  in respect of any court order that permits dissent. 

(2)  A shareholder wishing to dissent must 

(a)  prepare a separate notice of dissent under section 242 for 

(i)   the shareholder, if the shareholder is dissenting on the shareholder’s own behalf, and 

(ii)  each other person who beneficially owns shares registered in the shareholder’s name and 
on whose behalf the shareholder is dissenting, 

(b)  identify in each notice of dissent, in accordance with section 242(4), the person on whose behalf 
dissent is being exercised in that notice of dissent, and 

(c)  dissent with respect to all of the shares, registered in the shareholder’s name, of which the person 
identified under paragraph (b) of this subsection is the beneficial owner. 

(3)  Without limiting subsection (2), a person who wishes to have dissent exercised with respect to shares of 
which the person is the beneficial owner must 

(a)  dissent with respect to all of the shares, if any, of which the person is both the registered owner 
and the beneficial owner, and 

(b)  cause each shareholder who is a registered owner of any other shares of which the person is the 
beneficial owner to dissent with respect to all of those shares. 

Waiver of right to dissent 

239  (1)  A shareholder may not waive generally a right to dissent but may, in writing, waive the right to dissent with 
respect to a particular corporate action. 

(2) A shareholder wishing to waive a right of dissent with respect to a particular corporate action must 

(a)  provide to the company a separate waiver for 

(i)   the shareholder, if the shareholder is providing a waiver on the shareholder’s own behalf, 
and 

(ii)  each other person who beneficially owns shares registered in the shareholder’s name and 
on whose behalf the shareholder is providing a waiver, and 



 

 

(b)  identify in each waiver the person on whose behalf the waiver is made. 

(3) If a shareholder waives a right of dissent with respect to a particular corporate action and indicates in the 
waiver that the right to dissent is being waived on the shareholder’s own behalf, the shareholder’s right to 
dissent with respect to the particular corporate action terminates in respect of the shares of which the 
shareholder is both the registered owner and the beneficial owner, and this Division ceases to apply to 

(a)  the shareholder in respect of the shares of which the shareholder is both the registered owner and 
the beneficial owner, and 

(b)  any other shareholders, who are registered owners of shares beneficially owned by the first 
mentioned shareholder, in respect of the shares that are beneficially owned by the first mentioned 
shareholder. 

(4) If a shareholder waives a right of dissent with respect to a particular corporate action and indicates in the 
waiver that the right to dissent is being waived on behalf of a specified person who beneficially owns 
shares registered in the name of the shareholder, the right of shareholders who are registered owners of 
shares beneficially owned by that specified person to dissent on behalf of that specified person with respect 
to the particular corporate action terminates and this Division ceases to apply to those shareholders in 
respect of the shares that are beneficially owned by that specified person. 

Notice of resolution 

240  (1) If a resolution in respect of which a shareholder is entitled to dissent is to be considered at a meeting of 
shareholders, the company must, at least the prescribed number of days before the date of the proposed 
meeting, send to each of its shareholders, whether or not their shares carry the right to vote, 

(a)  a copy of the proposed resolution, and 

(b) a notice of the meeting that specifies the date of the meeting, and contains a statement advising of 
the right to send a notice of dissent. 

(2) If a resolution in respect of which a shareholder is entitled to dissent is to be passed as a consent resolution 
of shareholders or as a resolution of directors and the earliest date on which that resolution can be passed is 
specified in the resolution or in the statement referred to in paragraph (b), the company may, at least 21 
days before that specified date, send to each of its shareholders, whether or not their shares carry the right 
to vote, 

(a)  a copy of the proposed resolution, and 

(b)  a statement advising of the right to send a notice of dissent. 

(3) If a resolution in respect of which a shareholder is entitled to dissent was or is to be passed as a resolution 
of shareholders without the company complying with subsection (1) or (2), or was or is to be passed as a 
directors’ resolution without the company complying with subsection (2), the company must, before or 
within 14 days after the passing of the resolution, send to each of its shareholders who has not, on behalf of 
every person who beneficially owns shares registered in the name of the shareholder, consented to the 
resolution or voted in favour of the resolution, whether or not their shares carry the right to vote, 

(a)  a copy of the resolution, 

(b)  a statement advising of the right to send a notice of dissent, and 

(c)  if the resolution has passed, notification of that fact and the date on which it was passed. 



 

 

(4) Nothing in subsection (1), (2) or (3) gives a shareholder a right to vote in a meeting at which, or on a 
resolution on which, the shareholder would not otherwise be entitled to vote. 

Notice of court orders 

241   If a court order provides for a right of dissent, the company must, not later than 14 days after the date on 
which the company receives a copy of the entered order, send to each shareholder who is entitled to 
exercise that right of dissent 

(a) a copy of the entered order, and 

(b)  a statement advising of the right to send a notice of dissent. 

Notice of dissent 

242  (1) A shareholder intending to dissent in respect of a resolution referred to in section 238(1)(a), (b), (c), (d), (e) 
or (f) must, 

(a)  if the company has complied with section 240(1) or (2), send written notice of dissent to the 
company at least 2 days before the date on which the resolution is to be passed or can be passed, 
as the case may be, 

(b)  if the company has complied with section 240(3), send written notice of dissent to the company 
not more than 14 days after receiving the records referred to in that section, or 

(c)  if the company has not complied with section 240(1), (2) or (3), send written notice of dissent to 
the company not more than 14 days after the later of 

(i)   the date on which the shareholder learns that the resolution was passed, and 

(ii)   the date on which the shareholder learns that the shareholder is entitled to dissent. 

(2) A shareholder intending to dissent in respect of a resolution referred to in section 238(1)(g) must send 
written notice of dissent to the company 

(a)  on or before the date specified by the resolution or in the statement referred to in section 240(2) 
(b) or (3)(b) as the last date by which notice of dissent must be sent, or 

(b)  if the resolution or statement does not specify a date, in accordance with subsection (1) of this 
section. 

(3) A shareholder intending to dissent under section 238 (1) (h) in respect of a court order that permits dissent 
must send written notice of dissent to the company 

(a)  within the number of days, specified by the court order, after the shareholder receives the records 
referred to in section 241, or 

(b)  if the court order does not specify the number of days referred to in paragraph (a) of this 
subsection, within 14 days after the shareholder receives the records referred to in section 241. 

(4) A notice of dissent sent under this section must set out the number, and the class and series, if applicable, of 
the notice shares, and must set out whichever of the following is applicable: 

(a)  if the notice shares constitute all of the shares of which the shareholder is both the registered 
owner and beneficial owner and the shareholder owns no other shares of the company as 



 

 

beneficial owner, a statement to that effect; 

(b)  if the notice shares constitute all of the shares of which the shareholder is both the registered 
owner and beneficial owner but the shareholder owns other shares of the company as beneficial 
owner, a statement to that effect and 

(i)   the names of the registered owners of those other shares, 

(ii)   the number, and the class and series, if applicable, of those other shares that are held by 
each of those registered owners, and 

(iii)  a statement that notices of dissent are being, or have been, sent in respect of all of those 
other shares; 

(c)  if dissent is being exercised by the shareholder on behalf of a beneficial owner who is not the 
dissenting shareholder, a statement to that effect and 

(i)   the name and address of the beneficial owner, and 

(ii)   a statement that the shareholder is dissenting in relation to all of the shares beneficially 
owned by the beneficial owner that are registered in the shareholder’s name. 

(5) The right of a shareholder to dissent on behalf of a beneficial owner of shares, including the shareholder, 
terminates and this Division ceases to apply to the shareholder in respect of that beneficial owner if 
subsections (1) to (4) of this section, as those subsections pertain to that beneficial owner, are not complied 
with. 

Notice of intention to proceed 

243  (1) A company that receives a notice of dissent under section 242 from a dissenter must, 

(a)  if the company intends to act on the authority of the resolution or court order in respect of which 
the notice of dissent was sent, send a notice to the dissenter promptly after the later of 

(i)   the date on which the company forms the intention to proceed, and 

(ii)  the date on which the notice of dissent was received, or 

(b)  if the company has acted on the authority of that resolution or court order, promptly send a notice 
to the dissenter. 

(2) A notice sent under subsection (1)(a) or (b) of this section must 

(a)  be dated not earlier than the date on which the notice is sent, 

(b)  state that the company intends to act, or has acted, as the case may be, on the authority of the 
resolution or court order, and 

(c)  advise the dissenter of the manner in which dissent is to be completed under section 244. 

Completion of dissent 

244  (1) A dissenter who receives a notice under section 243 must, if the dissenter wishes to proceed with the 
dissent, send to the company or its transfer agent for the notice shares, within one month after the date of 
the notice, 



 

 

(a)  a written statement that the dissenter requires the company to purchase all of the notice shares, 

(b)  the certificates, if any, representing the notice shares, and 

(c)  if section 242 (4) (c) applies, a written statement that complies with subsection (2) of this section. 

(2) The written statement referred to in subsection (1) (c) must 

(a)  be signed by the beneficial owner on whose behalf dissent is being exercised, and 

(b)  set out whether or not the beneficial owner is the beneficial owner of other shares of the company 
and, if so, set out 

(i)   the names of the registered owners of those other shares, 

(ii)   the number, and the class and series, if applicable, of those other shares that are held by 
each of those registered owners, and 

(iii)   that dissent is being exercised in respect of all of those other shares. 

(3) After the dissenter has complied with subsection (1), 

(a)  the dissenter is deemed to have sold to the company the notice shares, and 

(b)  the company is deemed to have purchased those shares, and must comply with section 245, 
whether or not it is authorized to do so by, and despite any restriction in, its memorandum or 
articles. 

(4) Unless the court orders otherwise, if the dissenter fails to comply with subsection (1) of this section in 
relation to notice shares, the right of the dissenter to dissent with respect to those notice shares terminates 
and this Division, other than section 247, ceases to apply to the dissenter with respect to those notice 
shares. 

(5) Unless the court orders otherwise, if a person on whose behalf dissent is being exercised in relation to a 
particular corporate action fails to ensure that every shareholder who is a registered owner of any of the 
shares beneficially owned by that person complies with subsection (1) of this section, the right of 
shareholders who are registered owners of shares beneficially owned by that person to dissent on behalf of 
that person with respect to that corporate action terminates and this Division, other than section 247, ceases 
to apply to those shareholders in respect of the shares that are beneficially owned by that person. 

(6) A dissenter who has complied with subsection (1) of this section may not vote, or exercise or assert any 
rights of a shareholder, in respect of the notice shares, other than under this Division. 

Payment for notice shares 

245  (1) A company and a dissenter who has complied with section 244(1) may agree on the amount of the payout 
value of the notice shares and, in that event, the company must 

(a)  promptly pay that amount to the dissenter, or 

(b)  if subsection (5) of this section applies, promptly send a notice to the dissenter that the company is 
unable lawfully to pay dissenters for their shares. 

(2) A dissenter who has not entered into an agreement with the company under subsection (1) or the company 
may apply to the court and the court may 



 

 

(a)  determine the payout value of the notice shares of those dissenters who have not entered into an 
agreement with the company under subsection (1), or order that the payout value of those notice 
shares be established by arbitration or by reference to the registrar, or a referee, of the court, 

(b)  join in the application each dissenter, other than a dissenter who has entered into an agreement 
with the company under subsection (1), who has complied with section 244 (1), and 

(c)  make consequential orders and give directions it considers appropriate. 

(3) Promptly after a determination of the payout value for notice shares has been made under subsection (2) (a) 
of this section, the company must 

(a)  pay to each dissenter who has complied with section 244 (1) in relation to those notice shares, 
other than a dissenter who has entered into an agreement with the company under subsection (1) of 
this section, the payout value applicable to that dissenter’s notice shares, or 

(b) if subsection (5) applies, promptly send a notice to the dissenter that the company is unable 
lawfully to pay dissenters for their shares. 

(4) If a dissenter receives a notice under subsection (1) (b) or (3) (b), 

(a)  the dissenter may, within 30 days after receipt, withdraw the dissenter’s notice of dissent, in which 
case the company is deemed to consent to the withdrawal and this Division, other than section 
247, ceases to apply to the dissenter with respect to the notice shares, or 

(b)  if the dissenter does not withdraw the notice of dissent in accordance with paragraph (a) of this 
subsection, the dissenter retains a status as a claimant against the company, to be paid as soon as 
the company is lawfully able to do so or, in a liquidation, to be ranked subordinate to the rights of 
creditors of the company but in priority to its shareholders. 

(5) A company must not make a payment to a dissenter under this section if there are reasonable grounds for 
believing that 

(a)  the company is insolvent, or 

(b)  the payment would render the company insolvent. 

Loss of right to dissent 

246  The right of a dissenter to dissent with respect to notice shares terminates and this Division, other than section 
247, ceases to apply to the dissenter with respect to those notice shares, if, before payment is made to the dissenter 
of the full amount of money to which the dissenter is entitled under section 245 in relation to those notice shares, 
any of the following events occur: 

(a)  the corporate action approved or authorized, or to be approved or authorized, by the resolution or 
court order in respect of which the notice of dissent was sent is abandoned; 

(b)  the resolution in respect of which the notice of dissent was sent does not pass; 

(c)  the resolution in respect of which the notice of dissent was sent is revoked before the corporate 
action approved or authorized by that resolution is taken; 

(d)  the notice of dissent was sent in respect of a resolution adopting an amalgamation agreement and 
the amalgamation is abandoned or, by the terms of the agreement, will not proceed; 



 

 

(e)  the arrangement in respect of which the notice of dissent was sent is abandoned or by its terms 
will not proceed; 

(f)  a court permanently enjoins or sets aside the corporate action approved or authorized by the 
resolution or court order in respect of which the notice of dissent was sent; 

(g)  with respect to the notice shares, the dissenter consents to, or votes in favour of, the resolution in 
respect of which the notice of dissent was sent; 

(h)  the notice of dissent is withdrawn with the written consent of the company; 

(i)  the court determines that the dissenter is not entitled to dissent under this Division or that the 
dissenter is not entitled to dissent with respect to the notice shares under this Division. 

Shareholders entitled to return of shares and rights 

247  If, under section 244(4) or (5), 245(4)(a) or 246, this Division, other than this section, ceases to apply to a 
dissenter with respect to notice shares, 

(a)  the company must return to the dissenter each of the applicable share certificates, if any, sent 
under section 244(1)(b) or, if those share certificates are unavailable, replacements for those share 
certificates, 

(b)  the dissenter regains any ability lost under section 244(6) to vote, or exercise or assert any rights 
of a shareholder, in respect of the notice shares, and 

(c)  the dissenter must return any money that the company paid to the dissenter in respect of the notice 
shares under, or in purported compliance with, this Division. 
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INTRODUCTION  
  
The following annual management’s discussion and analysis (MD&A) of the Company has been prepared as of June 28, 2022. This 
MD&A should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements of NEO Battery Materials Ltd. (“NEO” or the 
“Company”) and the notes thereto for the year ended February 28, 2022, which have been prepared in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and 
interpretations of the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”). In addition, these consolidated 
financial statements have been prepared using the accrual basis of accounting except for cash flow information.  
 
Management is responsible for the preparation and integrity of the financial statements, including the maintenance of 
appropriate information systems, procedures and internal controls. Management is also responsible for ensuring that information 
disclosed externally, including the financial statements and Management Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”), is complete and 
reliable. Addition information on NEO Battery Materials is available by accessing the Company’s profile on SEDAR at 
www.sedar.com  and on the Company’s website: www.neobatterymaterials.com.  Readers of this MD&A are cautioned that 
information and statements derived from the Company’s financial statements do not necessarily reflect the future financial 
performance of the Company. Statements in this MD&A that are not historical based facts are forward looking statements which 
are made subject to cautionary language on page 13 and involve known and unknown risks and uncertainties. Actual results could 
vary considerably from these statements. Readers are again cautioned not to put undue reliance on forward looking statements.  
  
CORPORATE HIGHLIGHTS  
  
Highlights of the Company’s activities during the year ended February 28, 2022, and up to the date of this report:  
 

• In March 2021, the TSX Venture Exchange has approved the Company’s name change from Pan Andean Minerals Ltd to 
NEO Battery Materials Ltd. The new stock symbol “NBM” replaced “PAD”, and new CUSIP number is 62908A100. 
 

• In March 2021, the Company repaid a short-term loan of $100,000 plus $4,208 of interest accrued on the loan.  
 

• In May 2021, the Company completed a non-brokered private placement of 17,141,667 units at a price of $0.12 per unit 
for gross proceeds of $2,057,000. Each unit consisted of one common share and one common share warrant, exercisable 
at a price of $0.16 per common share for a period of 36 months from the closing date of the private placement.  
 

• In May 2021, the Company repaid a short-term loan of $1,143,511 plus $111,450 of interest accrued on the loan.  
 

• In May 2021, the Company entered into a Collaborative Development Agreement (or “Collaboration”) with Yonsei 
University (or “Yonsei”) for a period of 3 years from May 10, 2021 to May 2024 for a total amount of KRW300 million (or 
KRW100 million per year). The objective of the Collaboration is to conduct research and forward development and 
commercialization of the proprietary ion-conductive polymer nanocoating technology for silicon anode applications. On 
August 13, 2021, Company entered into an Addendum to Collaborative Development Agreement (or “Addendum”) with 
Yonsei University to increase the budget by KRW47 million.  
 

• In July 2021, the first phase of mapping program was conducted in Golden BC and samples were sent to the lab to analyze 
the purity of silica. In March 2022, the Company received the quality control report from the lab indicating that the 
quartzites has a high purity with absolute silica values ranging from 97% to 99% SiO2. 
 

• In July 2021, the Company entered into a second Exclusive License Agreement with Yonsei to obtain exclusive rights to 
use a separate patent owned by Yonsei. 
 
 

http://www.sedar.com/
http://www.sedar.com/
http://www.forumuranium.com/
http://www.forumuranium.com/
http://www.forumuranium.com/
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• In August 2021, the Company filed a new patent in regard to the Company’s proprietary process of manufacturing silicon 
anode active materials. 
 

• In September 2021, the Company started trading on the OTCQB Venture Market (“OTCQB”) under the symbol “NBMFF”. 
 

• In December 2021, the Company launched three types of silicon anode active materials, NBMSiDE-P100, NBMSiDE-P200, 
and NBMSiDE-C100.  
 

• In January 2022, the Company received a final site approval through NEO Battery Materials Korea Co., its wholly-owned 
subsidiary, from the Province of Gyeonggi to construct its commercial plant facility to produce the Company’s patented 
silicon anode materials – NBMSiDE. The land is located in an industrial complex, known as Oseong International (Foreign) 
Investment Zone, with approximately an area of 106,700 square feet (2.5 acres). 
 

• During the year ended February 28, 2022, 600,000 stock options were exercised at a price of $0.06 and 50,000 stock 
options were exercised at a price of $0.20 for total proceeds of $46,000. 90,000 stock options were cancelled as certain 
optionees ceased working with the Company under the terms of Company’s Stock Option Plan. 
 

• During the year ended February 28, 2022, the Company granted stock options as follows: 
o 520,000 stock options with an exercise price of $0.20 and a five-year term 
o 80,000 stock options with an exercise price of $0.33 and a five-year term 
o 750,000 stock options with an exercise price of $1.00 with a five-year term.  

 
• During the year ended February 28, 2022, 1,000,000 warrants were exercised at a price of $0.30 and 8,500,000 warrants 

were exercised at a price of $0.16 for total proceeds of $1,660,000. 3,500,000 warrants expired unexercised.  
 

• In March 2022, 20,000 stock options were exercised at a price of $0.20 for total proceeds of $4,000.  
 

• In March and April 2022, 333,332 warrants were exercised at a price of $0.16 for total proceeds of $53,333. 
 

• In April 2022, 40,000 stock options were cancelled due to the death of the optionee. 
 

• In May 2022, the Company submitted a change of business application to TSX Venture Exchange to address its focus on 
becoming a battery materials developer. 

 
OUTLOOK  
 
As of February 28, 2022, the Company is Vancouver-based junior resource company focused on battery metals exploration in 
North America. Starting on April 13, 2022, the Company has been proceeding with “Change of Business” (the “COB”) application 
with TSX Venture Exchange (the “Exchange”). The Company deems that a classification to a Tier 2 Industrial, Technology, or Life 
Sciences issuer on the Exchange instead of junior Mineral Exploration and Mining issuer, will reflect the Company’s long-term 
goal and serve its shareholders the best interests. As a result, the transition is still in process and subject to Exchange acceptance 
as of the date of the report. The Company is currently focusing on developing three types of silicon anode active materials with a 
functional nanocoating layers that functionalize the long-term cycle life of silicon anode in Li-ion batteries. 
 
COLLABORATIVE DEVELOPMENT – YONSEI UNIVERSITY 
 
The Company entered into a Collaborative Development Agreement (the “CDA”) with Yonsei University (“Yonsei”) for a 3-year 
term, starting May 2021, to conduct its research and development in its laboratory located in Yonsei, South Korea. Under the 
terms of the CDA, the Company and Yonsei will jointly develop nanocoating technology to enhance performance and durability 
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of silicon anodes materials in lithium-ion batteries (LiBs). The Company also aims to improve flexibility and specific capacity of the 
respective anode active material, increasing energy density and life span of LiBs in electric vehicle, consumer electronics, and 
energy storage applications. Utilizing lean and efficient process steps, the Company’s unique single-stop process will enable cost 
effective and scalable production. The Company is required to spend a total amount of KRW300 million during the 3-year term 
(or KRW 100 million per year). Any potential IP rights developed from the collaboration will be wholly owned by the Company. 
On August 13, 2021, the Company entered into an Addendum to the CDA to include an additional budget of KRW47 million. 
 
LICENSING AGREEMENTS – YONSEI UNIVERSITY 
 
On February 8, 2021, the Company entered into an Exclusive License Agreement with Yonsei (the “First Agreement”) to obtain 
exclusive rights to use the three patents owned by Yonsei. The patents include “negative electrode active material for lithium 
secondary battery, method of preparing the same, and lithium secondary battery comprising the same”, three-phase Titanium 
dioxide nanoparticles and method of manufacturing the same”, and “silicon/polymer composite nanoparticles, anode for lithium 
secondary battery comprising the same, and method for manufacturing the silicon/polymer composite nanoparticles.” Under the 
term of the First Agreement, the Company paid an initial license fee of $35,030 during the year ended February 28, 2022. The 
remaining license fee of $267,887 will be due upon the first sale of the product produced on use of the patents.  
 
On July 22, 2021, the Company entered into a second Exclusive License Agreement with Yonsei (the “Second Agreement”) to 
obtain exclusive rights to use a separate patent owned by Yonsei. The patent is called “silicon composite for lithium secondary 
battery and manufacturing method thereof.” Under the terms of the Second Agreement, the Company paid an initial license fee 
of $10,000 during the year ended February 28, 2022. The remaining license fee of $40,000 will be due upon the first sale of the 
product produced based on the use of the patent.  
 
NBMSiDE PRODUCTS  
 
On December 6, 2021, the Company launched its product named NBMSiDE, which is manufactured based on the use of the 
Company’s proprietary nanocoating technology. The technology is a single-step, one-pot nanocoating process that will enable 
the Company to economically manufacture silicon anode active materials that will be used in production of electric vehicles.   
 
SITE FOR COMMERCIAL PLANT – OSEONG FOREIGN INVESTMENTS ZONE 
 
On January 26, 2022, through its Korean subsidiary, the Company received an approval from Gyeonggi-do, the largest Economic 
Province in South Korea, to land a site to build its commercial plant on a 10-year lease term. The site is located in Oseong Foreign 
Investment Zone in Gyeonggi-do and approximately 106,700 square feet (or 2.5 acres). The Company is currently looking for a 
reliable partner to jointly build its commercial plant on the site to produce silicon anode of 240 metric tons per year.    
 
EXPLORATION PROPERTIES INTEREST 
 
In January 2021, the Company staked a few mining claims in Golden BC comprising a total of 467 hectares, along a strike with a 
quartzite bed, targeting silica in the quartzites. To conduct exploration work related to these claims, the Company entered a 
consulting service agreement with a private entity controlled by a director of the Company. The exploration work involved 
geological mapping and sampling to analyze purity of silica.    
 
In July 2021, the first phase of geological mapping has located a quartzite boulder field within a sedimentary package of calcareous 
sandstones and mudstone.  The field is interpreted to be derived from a quartzite unit covered by topsoil and vegetation.  The 
boulder field is a cleared area for pasture (500mx500m).  The underlying quartzite unit is interpreted to continue under the 
covered areas along strike.  The quartzites are quite pure with absolute silica values ranging from 97% to 99% SiO2. NEO intends 
to seek synergies and cost reductions made within the value chain of mine to silicon anode materials and manufacturing. The 
area will require further exploration starting with excavator trenching to locate the quartzite outcrop. 
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Following is a table of the results of the quartzites. 
 

  Silica Assays   

Sample # Description % Si02 

40707 grey and black MS with narrow 5 cm Qtz bands - cherty in places - bedding 
290/50N 

98.7 

40708 Fence line of quartzite boulders (1 meter in size)  98.6 
40709 quartzite boulders in creek and built up as road protection  99.03 
40710 Quartzite float   96.91 
40711 Quartzite float   99.15 

 
SELECTED ANNUAL INFORMATION 
 
The following financial data is derived from the Company’s audited financial statements years ended February 28, 2022, February 
28, 2021, and February 29, 2020. 

 
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 
 
For the three-month ended February 28, 2022  
 
The net loss for the three-month period ended February 28, 2022 was $393,329 as compared to the net loss of 
$981,958 for the three-month period ended February 28, 2021. Operating expenses for the three-month period 
ended February 28, 2022 totaled $380,235 compared to $962,651 for the three-month period ended February 28, 
2021. 

 
Significant items that contributed to the net loss and comprehensive loss for the fourth quarter ended February 28, 
2022 and February 28, 2021 were as follows:  

 
• Consulting & management fees of $77,070 (February 28, 2021 - $98,028) decreased by $20,958.   

 
• Investor relation of $19,101 (February 28, 2021 - $5,504) increased by $13,597 as the Company engaged 

more with external consultants for investor relation services.   
 

• Advertising and marketing of $30,444 (February 28, 2021 - $Nil) increased by $30,444 since the Company 
involved marketing activities (social media, webinar, and articles) to increase its market awareness in the 
industry. 

 

  February 28, 2022  February 28, 2021  February 29, 2020 
       
Expenses $ 2,051,788 $ 1,491,635 $ 1,068,604 
Other expenses  27,586  165,560  20,768 
Net loss and comprehensive loss  2,079,374  1,657,195  1,089,372 
Basic and diluted loss per share  0.02  0.02  0.02 
Total current assets  1,438,948  662,693  247,021 
Total assets  1,674,592  746,367  389,123 
Total current liabilities  178,286  1,568,733  223,368 
Total liabilities  178,286  1,580,900  306,461 
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• Professional fees of $63,112 (February 28, 2021 - $47,751) increased by $15,361 in relation to the civil claim 
filed by a former director of the Company and incorporating a subsidiary in South Korea.  
 

• Rent of $53,914 (February 28, 2021 - $9,839) increased by $34,236 as the Company paid rent for some office 
spaces and land in South Korea.  
 

• Interest of the short-term loans of $Nil (February 28, 2021 - $19,600) decreased by $19,600 as the Company 
fully paid the outstanding balances of principal and interest in the first quarter.   

 
• Research and development of $47,577 (February 28, 2021 - $Nil) increased by $47,577 as the Company 

entered into multiple agreements to conduct R&D activities with Yonsei University in South Korea in the 
current year.  
 

• Stock-based compensation of $Nil (February 28, 2021 - $740,000) decreased by $740,000 as the Company 
did not grant any stock options during the fourth quarter.  

 
For the year ended February 28, 2022  
 
The net loss for the year ended February 28, 2022 was $2,079,374 as compared to the net loss of $1,657,195 for the 
year ended February 28, 2021. Operating expenses for the year ended February 28, 2022 totaled $2,051,788 
compared to $1,491,635 for the year ended February 28, 2021. 

 
Significant items that contributed to the net loss and comprehensive loss for the year ended February 28, 2022 and 
February 28, 2021 were as follows:  

  
• Consulting & management fees of $439,400 (February 28, 2021 - $428,892) increased by $10,508.  

 
• Corporate listing and filing fees of $91,227 (February 28, 2021 - $14,976) increased by $76,251 in relation to 

filing an application to change business name and preparing OTCQB listing application.  
 

• Investor relation of $92,895 (February 28, 2021 - $7,254) increased by $85,641 as the Company outsourced 
investor relation services from external parties to increase its market awareness.   
 

• Advertising and marketing of $127,502 (February 28, 2021 - $Nil) increased by $127,502 as the Company 
spent more to advertise its engagement in developing a battery materials  
 

• Professional fees of $187,187 (February 28, 2021 - $165,757) increase by $21,430 due to increased legal fees 
in relation to the civil claim filed by a former director of the Company and incorporating a Korean subsidiary 
in South Korea. 
 

• Rent of $118,167 (February 28, 2021 - $57,668) increased by $60,499 as the Company obtained additional 
office spaces and entered a rental agreement to rent a site for its future commercial plant in South Korea.  
 

• Interest of the short-term loans of $68,810 (February 28, 2021 - $54,013) increased by $14,797 as the 
interest term for one of the loans changed from 4% per annum to 4% per month.  

 
• Research and development of $132,713 (February 28, 2021 - $Nil) increased by $132,713 in relation to the 

Company’s R&D activities with Yonsei University in South Korea.  
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• Stock-based compensation of $683,248 (February 28, 2021 - $740,000) decreased by $56,752 as the 
Company granted less stock options compared to the prior year.   

 
• Travel costs of $40,105 (February 28, 2021- $24,810) increased by $15,295 due to increased business 

activities in a foreign country (South Korea).  
 
LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES  

  
As at February 28, 2022, the Company’s cash balance was $1,247,750 (February 28, 2021 - $625,876).  

  
As at February 28, 2022, the Company had a working capital of $1,260,662 (February 28, 2021 – working capital 
deficiency of $906,040). Cash used in operating activities was $1,947,533 for the year ended February 28, 2022. Cash 
used in investing activities totaled $177,463 (February 28, 2021 – $1,343). Cash raised from financing activities 
totaled $2,296,870 (February 28, 2021 - $1,184,756). 
 
Management believes that its ability to continue as a going concern is highly dependent upon its ability to raise equity 
financings. The Company’s operation is highly included by capital market environment, supply chain, inflation, 
geographic stability and global business environment in general. Given volatility in equity markets, global uncertainty 
in economic conditions, cost pressures and intensity in international business environment, management constantly 
reviews emerging technologies and equity markets to ensure that the Company maintain enough liquidity to support 
its growth strategy.  

 
Liquidity Outlook  

  
At present, the Company does not have any sources of generating revenues and its financial success is highly 
dependent on management’s ability to develop its new nanocoating technology and raise capital through equity 
financing.  

  
Many factors influence the Company’s ability to raise funds, including health of the financial market, the Company’s 
track record, and the experience and caliber of its management.  Actual funding requirements may vary from those 
planned due to a few factors, including the nanocoating technology’s application.  Management believes it will be 
able to raise equity capital and/or debt as required in the long term but understands that there will be risks involved 
which may be beyond its control.  

  
This outlook is based on the Company’s current financial position and is subject to change if new business 
opportunities become available.  

  
Going Concern  

  
The audited consolidated financial statements have been prepared based on the going-concern assumption, which 
means that the Company will continue in operation for the foreseeable future and will be able to realize its assets 
and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of operations.  The Company continues to incur operating losses, has 
limited financial resources, has no sources of generating income, and there is no assurance that sufficient funding 
will be available to continue its R&D activities. These material uncertainties may cast a significant doubt on the 
validity of this assumption.  The Company’s ability to continue as a going concern is dependent upon its ability to 
obtain capital through equity market. As at February 28, 2022, the Company had an accumulated deficit of 
$28,394,609 (February 28, 2021 - $26,315,235), had a net loss of $2,079,374 (February 28, 2021 - $1,657,195). 
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If the going concern assumption was not appropriate, then financial statement adjustments would be necessary in 
the carrying values of assets, liabilities, reported income and expenses and the statement of financial position 
classifications used.  Such adjustments could be material.  

 
Strategy and Risk Management  

  
Further business activities are dependent on the Company obtaining financing for any research and development, 
and construction of its 1st commercial plant for 2022 and beyond. Management believes that it will be able to raise 
additional capital in order to fund its R&D activities and its administrative expenditures. Although management has 
been successful in the past raising additional financing, there can be no assurance they will be successful in the future.    
 
SUMMARY OF QUARTERLY RESULTS  
 
The following table summarizes selected financial data reported by the Company for the last eight quarters in 
Canadian dollars: 
 

  

 
28-Feb-22 

 

 
30-Nov-21 

 

 
31-Aug-21 

 

 
31-May-21 

 

 
28-Feb-21 

 

 
30-Nov-20 

 

 
31-Aug-20 

 

 
31-May-20 

 

$ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 

Net loss and Comprehensive loss 393,329 342,910 848,703 494,432 981,958 173,848 199,797 301,592 

Basic and diluted loss per share (0.00) (0.00) (0.01) (0.01) (0.01) (0.00) (0.00) (0.00) 

Total assets 1,674,592 2,038,750 1,098,775 1,088,962 746,367 1,001,212 1,168,756 1,330,671 

Exploration and evaluation assets 1,344 1,344 1,344 1,344 1,344 1 1 1 

Revenues - - - - - - - - 

Equity (deficiency) 1,496,306 1,900,669 954,579 782,058 (834,533) (542,575) (368,727) (218,930) 

  
Basic and diluted loss per share above is the same, as the effect of potential shares issuances under stock options or 
warrant agreements would be anti-dilutive. 
 
RISKS FACTORS 

  
The Company is engaged in the business of researching and developing silicon anode active materials and 
nanocoating technology. All of the products (NBMSiDE) have never been sold in a mass volume and there is no 
assurance that the Company’s products will result in massive commercialization, nor can there be any assurance of 
commercialization. The numerous risks and uncertainties, associated with the product’s application and timing of 
the sales and production, have impact on when the Company becomes profitable. As a consequence, any forward-
looking information is subject to known and unknown risks and uncertainties as follows, but not limited thereto:  

  
• Many competitors are in the business, some of which have greater financial, technical and other resources 

than the Company.  

• Lack of assurance that: the Company will be able to obtain all necessary funding, permits and approvals to 
conduct its commercialization of the products or that future tax, or other legislation will not cause additional 
expenses, delays or postponements.  

• The technologies and patents may become obsolete and unmarketable if the Company is unable to respond 
adequately rapidly changing technology and customer demands. 



 NEO BATTERY MATERIALS LTD.  
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS  

   Year Ended February 28, 2022  
  

Page | 9   
  

• The Company’s ability to attract and retain key personnel, effectively manage growth, and successfully 
integrate newly developed businesses or technologies. 

• The Company is dependent on the services of several key individuals, the loss of which could significantly 
affect operations.  

• There is potential for officers and directors of the Company to have conflicts of interest with other entities.  

• World prices for silicon can be unstable and unpredictable and may materially affect the Company’s 
operations, as well as economic conditions which may change the demand for minerals.  

• The securities markets worldwide can experience high price and volume volatility.  

• Changes in accounting policies and methods may affect how the financial condition of the Company is 
reported.  

 
RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS   

  
Related parties include the Company’s key management personnel with authority and responsibility for planning, 
directing and controlling activities of the Company. The Company has determined that its key management personnel 
is comprised of the Company’s Board of Directors and officers and the entities controlled by its key management 
personnel or directors of the Company.  
 
As at February 28, 2022 and 2021, there were no amounts due to related parties.  
 
In relation to the private placement completed on May 4, 2021, certain key management personnel and directors of 
the Company subscribed 2,150,000 units for total proceeds of $258,000. 
 
During the years ended February 28, 2022 and 2021, the Company paid the following amount to the officers and 
directors of the Company and an entity controlled by the CEO:  
 
 

  February 28, 2022 February 28, 2021 
Project related expenditure (d)  $ 12,690 $ - 
Management fees (a & b)   197,900  313,200 
Professional fees (c)   62,405  54,952 
Stock based compensation (e)   448,753  622,560 
  $ 721,748 $ 990,712 

 
Management fees includes: 

a. Chief Executive Officer - $150,000 (February 28, 2021 - $144,000) 
b. Consulting fees paid to certain director - $47,900 (February 28, 2021 - $101,700) 

 
Professional fees  

c. Chief Financial Officer - $62,405 (February 28, 2021 - $54,952) 
 

Project related expenditures 
d. Paid to a director for his exploration work done for Golden Property, BC - $12,690 (February 28, 2021 - 

$Nil) 
 

Stock options 
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e. On July 30, 2021, the Company granted 750,000 options to a director and consultants of the Company at an 
exercise price of $1.00 per option with a five-year term. The fair value of these options was calculated at 
$560,941 based on the Black-Scholes option pricing model. Of total 750,000 options, 600,000 stock options 
were granted to a director of the Company, valued at $448,753.  

 
All amounts paid to related parties for their services have been recorded at fair value. 
 
OUTSTANDING SHARE DATA  

  
The Company’s authorized share capital consists of an unlimited number of common voting shares without par value.   

  
As at June 28, 2022 there are:  

• 97,878,979 common shares issued and outstanding; 
• 7,205,000 stock options outstanding and exercisable; and  
•  8,308,335 warrants outstanding and exercisable.  

 
CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS IN APPLYING ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY  
 
The critical judgments and estimates that management has made in the process of applying the Company’s 
accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognized in the audited financial 
statements for the year ended February 28, 2022.  
 
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 
 
The Company has reviewed the accounting standards or amendments to existing accounting standards that have 
been issued but have future effective dates and determined that these are either not applicable or are not expected 
to have a significant impact on the Company’s financial statements. 
 
PROUNCEMENTS AFFECTING FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PRESENTATION OR DISCLOSURE  

The Company has reviewed the accounting standards or amendments to existing accounting standards that have 
been issued but have future effective dates and determined that these are either not applicable or are not expected 
to have a significant impact on the Company’s financial statements. 
 
The Company’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks including credit risk, liquidity risk, interest rate risk 
and market price risk.  

 
Credit risk  

  
Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an obligation and cause the other 
party to incur a financial loss. Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to credit risk consist of cash 
and cash equivalents, short-term investments, other receivables, and the short-term debt NEO deposits its cash and 
cash equivalents with high credit quality major Canadian financial institutions as determined by ratings agencies. The 
carrying amount of financial assets recorded in the financial statements, net of any allowances for losses, represents 
the maximum exposure to credit risk.  

  
Liquidity Risk  

  
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its current obligations as they come due. The 
Company attempts to manage liquidity risk by maintaining sufficient cash and cash equivalent balances. Liquidity 
requirements are managed based on expected cash outflows to ensure that there is sufficient capital in order to 
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meet short-term obligations.  As of February 28, 2022, the Company had a working capital of $1,260,662 (February 
28, 2021 - working capital deficiency of $906,040). Further information relating to liquidity risk is disclosed in Note 
11 of the Company’s consolidated financial statements for the year ended February 28, 2022.  

  
Interest Rate Risk  
  
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to 
changes in market interest rates. The Company is not exposed to significant interest rate risks.  

 
MANAGEMENT OF CAPITAL  

  
In the management of capital, the Company considers cash, working capital and shareholders’ equity. The Company 
manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, based on the funds available to the Company, in order to 
support exploration and development of mineral properties and investigating other business opportunities. The 
Board of Directors has not established quantitative capital structure criteria management, but will review on a regular 
basis the capital structure of the Company to ensure its appropriateness to the stage of development of the business.  

  
The Company’s objectives when managing capital are:  

  
• To invest cash on hand in highly liquid and highly rated financial instruments with high credit quality issuers, 

thereby minimizing the risk and loss of principal.  
  

• Management reviews its capital management approach on an ongoing basis and believes that this approach, 
given the relative size of the Company, is reasonable.  
 

• The Company may issue new equity, incur additional debt, for cash and/or expenditure commitments from 
optionees, enter into joint venture arrangements, or dispose of certain assets.  When applicable, the 
Company’s investment policy is to hold cash in interest bearing accounts at high credit quality financial 
institutions to maximize liquidity.  In order to maximize ongoing development efforts, the Company does 
not pay dividends.    
 

• The Company expects to continue to raise funds, from time to time, to continue meeting its capital 
management objectives.  
 

• There were no changes in the Company’s approach to capital management for the year ended February 28, 
2022 compared to the years ended February 28, 2021. The Company is not subject to externally imposed 
capital requirements.  

 
MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

  
Management is responsible for the information provided in the MD&A and the consolidated financial statements for 
the year ended February 28, 2022.   

  
In contrast to the certificate required under National Instrument 52-109 Certificate of Disclosure in Issuers’ Annual 
and Interim Filings (“NI 52-109”), the Venture Issuer Basic Certificate does not include representations relating to the 
establishment and maintenance of disclosure controls and procedures “(DC&P”) and internal control over financial 
reporting (“ICFR”), as defined in NI 52-109, in particular, the certifying officers filing this certificate are not making 
any representations relating to the establishment and maintenance of:  
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i. controls and other procedures designed to provide reasonable assurance that information required to be 

disclosed by the issuer in its annual filings, interim filings or other reports filed or submitted under securities 
legislation is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in securities 
legislation; and  

ii. a process to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation 
of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with the issuer’s reporting standards.  

  
The issuer’s certifying officers are responsible for ensuring that processes are in place to provide them with sufficient 
knowledge to support the representations they are making in this certificate. Investors should be aware that inherent 
limitations on the ability of certifying officers of a venture issuer to design and implement on a cost-effective basis 
DC&P and ICFR as defined in NI 52-109 may result in additional risks to the quality, reliability, transparency and 
timeliness of interim and annual filings and other reports provided under securities legislation.  

  
ADDITIONAL DISCLOSURE FOR VENTURE ISSUERS WITHOUT SIGNIFICANT REVENUE  

  
Additional disclosure concerning Neo Battery’s general and administrative expenses and research and development 
costs is provided in the Company’s year ended February 28, 2022, statement of operations contained in its 
consolidated financial statements for the year ended February 28, 20202  These statements are available on its 
SEDAR Page Site accessed through www.sedar.com.  

 
DIVIDENDS  

  
The Company has no earnings or dividend record and is unlikely to pay any dividends in the foreseeable future as it 
intends to employ available funds for mineral exploration and development. Any future determination to pay 
dividends will be at the discretion of the Board of Directors of the Company and will depend on the Company’s 
financial condition, results of operations, capital requirements and such other factors as the Board of Directors of 
the Company deem relevant.  

 
NATURE OF THE SECURITIES  

  
The purchase of the Company’s securities involves a high degree of risk and should be undertaken only by investors 
whose financial resources are sufficient to enable them to assume such risks. The Company’s securities should not 
be purchased by persons who cannot afford the possibility of the loss of their entire investment. Furthermore, an 
investment in the Company’s securities should not constitute a major portion of an investor's portfolio.  

  
PROPOSED TRANSACTIONS  

  
At the present time, there are no other proposed transactions that are required to be disclosed.  

 
OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS  

  
The Company does not have any off-balance sheet arrangements.  

 
APPROVAL  

  
The Board of Directors oversees management’s responsibility for financial reporting and internal control systems 
through an Audit Committee. This Committee meets periodically with management and annually with the 
independent auditors to review the scope and results of the annual audit and to review the financial statements and 

http://www.sedar.com/
http://www.sedar.com/
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related financial reporting and internal control matters before the financial statements are approved by the Board 
of Directors and submitted to the shareholders of the Company. The Board of Directors of the Company has approved 
the audited consolidated financial statements and the disclosure contained in this MD&A. A copy of this MD&A will 
be provided to anyone who requests it.  

  
CAUTION REGARDING FORWARD LOOKING INFORMATION   

  
This MD&A contains certain forward-looking information and forward-looking statements, as defined in applicable 
securities laws (collectively referred to herein as “forward-looking” statements”). These statements relate to future 
events or future performance and reflect management's expectations or beliefs regarding future events and include, 
but are not limited to, statements with respect to the estimation of mineral reserves and resources, the realization 
of mineral reserve estimates, the timing and amount of estimated future production, costs of production, capital 
expenditures, success of mining operations, environmental risks, permitting risks, unanticipated reclamation 
expenses, title disputes or claims and limitations on insurance coverage. In certain cases, forward-looking statements 
can be identified by the use of words such as "plans", "expects" or "does not expect", "is expected", "budget", 
"scheduled", "estimates", "forecasts", "intends", "anticipates" or "does not anticipate", or "believes", or variations 
of such words and phrases or statements that certain actions, events or results "may", "could", "would", "might" or 
"will be taken", "occur" or "be achieved" or the negative of these terms or comparable terminology. By their very 
nature forward-looking statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors which may 
cause the actual results, performance or achievements of the Company to be materially different from any future 
results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by the forward-looking statements. Such factors include, 
among others, risks related to actual results of current exploration activities; changes in project parameters as plans 
continue to be refined; future prices of resources; possible variations in ore reserves, grade or recovery rates; 
accidents, labor disputes and other risks of the mining industry; delays in obtaining governmental approvals or 
financing or in the completion of development or construction activities; as well as those factors detailed from time 
to time in the Company's interim and annual financial statements which are filed and available for review on SEDAR 
at www.sedar.com. Although the Company has attempted to identify important factors that could cause actual 
actions, events or results to differ materially from those described in forward-looking statements, there may be other 
factors that cause actions, events or results not to be as anticipated, estimated or intended. There can be no 
assurance that forward-looking statements will prove to be accurate, as actual results and future events could differ 
materially from those anticipated in such statements. Accordingly, readers should not place undue reliance on 
forward-looking statements.  

 
ADDITIONAL INFORMATION  

  
Additional Information relating to NEO Battery Materials can be found on the Company website 
www.neobatterymaterials.com and on SEDAR at www.sedar.com or by contacting the Company at Suite 520 – 800 
West Pender Street, Vancouver, BC Canada, V6C 2V6, Tel: (604) 697-2408.  

  

http://www.sedar.com/
http://www.sedar.com/
http://www.neobatterymaterials.com/
http://www.bcgoldcorp.com/
http://www.sedar.com/
http://www.sedar.com/
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Independent Auditor’s Report 
 
To the Shareholders of NEO Battery Materials Ltd. 
 
Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements  
 
Opinion  
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of NEO Battery Materials Ltd. (“the Company”), which comprise 
the consolidated statements of financial position as at February 28, 2022 and 2021, and the consolidated statements 
of loss and comprehensive loss, changes in equity (deficiency) and cash flows for the years then ended, and notes to 
the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.  
 
In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects the 
consolidated financial position of the Company as at February 28, 2022 and 2021, and its financial performance and 
its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).  
 
Basis for Opinion  
We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial 
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the ethical requirements that 
are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial statements in Canada, and we have fulfilled our ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.  
 
Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern 
We draw attention to Note 1 in the consolidated financial statements, which indicates that the Company continues to 
incur operating losses with no source of operating cash flow and is dependent upon equity financing to continue its 
operations. As stated in Note 1, these events or conditions, along with other matters as set forth in Note 1, indicate that 
a material uncertainty exists that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. 
Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.  
 
Other Information   
Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the 
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis”, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s 
report thereon.  
 
Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any 
form of assurance conclusion thereon.  
 
In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information, 
and in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial 
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the 
work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required 
to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 
 
Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated Financial 
Statements 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in 
accordance with IFRS, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation 
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern 
basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no 
realistic alternative but to do so. 
 
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting process. 
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 
Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could 
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial 
statements. 
 
As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise professional 
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 
 
• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to 

fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement 
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

 
• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 

appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Company’s internal control. 

 
• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 

related disclosures made by management. 
 
• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on 

the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast 
significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty 
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated 
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on 
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause 
the Company to cease to continue as a going concern. 

 
• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure, and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the 

disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events 
in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

 
We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing 
of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during 
our audit. 
 
We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may 
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 
 
The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Brad J. Waddell. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
CHARTERED PROFESSIONAL ACCOUNTANTS  
 
Vancouver, BC, Canada 
June 28, 2022 
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NEO Battery Materials Ltd.                                                                                                                                                                           
Consolidated Statements of Financial Position 
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 

 

Assets   February 28,  
2022   February 28,  

2021 
      
Current Assets:     

Cash and cash equivalents  $ 1,247,750 
 

$ 625,876 
 

Marketable securities (Note 4)  7,910  12,424 
Prepaid expenses (Note 5)   161,865   16,022 
Sales tax and other receivables (Note 6)   21,423   8,371 
   1,438,948                    

 
662,693                    

Non-Current Assets:  
 

  

Deposits  12,597  12,597 
Equipment (Note 8)  180,529  - 
Exploration and evaluation assets (Note 7)  1,344                  1,344                 
Prepaid expenses – long term (Note 5)  31,212  - 
Right-of-use asset (Notes 3 and 15) 

 
9,962   69,733  

Total Assets $ 1,674,592                 $ 746,367                 
   

 
  

Liabilities and Equity         
     Current Liabilities:  

 
  

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (Note 13) $ 162,950                     $ 204,279                     
Convertible debenture interest payable   3,169  3,169 
Lease liability – current portion (Notes 3 and 15)  12,167  70,926 
Short-term loans (Note 14)  -  1,290,359 

                 178,286  1,568,733 
Lease liability – long-term (Notes 3 and 15)  -  12,167 
Total Liabilities                  178,286  

 
                1,580,900  

   
 

  

Shareholders’ Equity (Deficiency): 
    

Share capital (Note 16) 
 

22,311,985                
 

18,935,514               
Share subscriptions (Note 16)  -  25,000 
Reserves (Note 16) 

 
7,792,453  

 
6,733,711  

Accumulated other comprehensive loss 
 

                (213,523) 
 

                (213,523) 
Deficit             (28,394,609)             (26,315,235) 
Total Equity (Deficiency)   1,496,306                (834,533)              
Total Liabilities and Equity  $ 1,674,592   $ 746,367   

      
Nature of Operations and Going Concern (Note 1) 
Commitment (Note 9) 
Contingency (Note 20) 
Subsequent Events (Note 21) 
 
Approved by the Board of Directors on June 28, 2022: 
 
"Spencer Sung Bum Huh" , Director  "Larry Okada" , Director 
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The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
 

 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

NEO Battery Materials Ltd.                                                                                                                                            
Consolidated Statements of Loss and Comprehensive Loss 
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 
  For Year Ended 
  February 28, 2022  February 28, 2021 
Expenses     
  Amortization (Note 8) $ 12,232 $ - 
  Amortization of ROU asset (Notes 3 and 15)  59,771  59,771 
  Advertising and marketing  127,502  - 
  Consulting and management fees (Note 17)  439,400  428,892 
  Corporate listing and filing fees  91,227  14,976 
  Exploration and evaluation expenditure (Note 7)  12,690  - 
  Investor relations  92,895  7,254 
  License fees (Note 10)  10,000  35,030 
  Office and general  48,409  25,444 
  Payroll expenses  45,563  - 
  Professional fees (Note 17)  187,187  165,757 
  Rent (Notes 3 and 15)  118,167  57,668 
  Research and development (Note 9)  132,713  - 
  Stock-based compensation (Note 16)  683,248  740,000 
  Sublease income (Notes 3 and 15)  (49,321)  (67,967) 
  Travel  40,105  24,810 
Loss from operations  2,051,788  1,491,635 
     
Other expenses (income)     
  Debt financing finder’s fees  -  87,046 
  Write-off of accounts payable   (65,845)  - 
  Interest and miscellaneous income  (80)  (2,402) 
  Interest expense – lease liability (Notes 3 and 15)  12,464  21,277 
  Interest expense – short-term loans (Note 14)  68,810  54,013 
  Loss on foreign exchange  7,723  320 
  Unrealized loss on marketable securities (Note 4)  4,514  5,306 
Total other expense  27,586  165,560 
     
Net loss and comprehensive loss for the year $ 2,079,374 $ 1,657,195 
     
Loss per share:     
  Basic $ 0.02 $ 0.02 
Weighted average number of common shares outstanding  87,949,916  64,576,330 
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NEO Battery Materials Ltd.                                                                                                                     
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 

 
 
 

 For Year Ended  
February 28, 2022 February 28, 2021 

Operating Activities:         

Net loss for the year $ (2,079,374)       $ (1,657,195)       
Adjustment for items which do not involve cash:  

 
 

 
Amortization   12,232   -  
Amortization of ROU asset  59,771   59,771  
Write-off of accounts payable  (65,845)  - 
Stock-based compensation  683,248  740,000 
Unrealized loss on marketable securities  4,514  5,306 

Changes in non-cash working capital components:     
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  9,218  44,960 
Convertible debenture interest payable  -  (2,125) 
Short-term loan interest  68,810  46,848 
Prepaid expenses  (177,055)  (1,422) 
Sales tax and other receivables   (13,052)   4,774 

   (1,497,533)   (759,083) 
  

 
 

 
Investing Activities:     
Equipment  (177,463)  - 
Property payment  -  (1,343) 
  (177,463)  (1,343) 
     
Financing Activities:  

   

Private placement  2,057,000  - 
Private placement – share issue costs  (11,035)  - 
Exercise of warrants   1,660,000  - 
Exercise of options   46,000  - 
Repayment of short-term loans  (1,359,169)  - 
Proceeds from short-term loan  -  1,243,511 
Repayment of share subscriptions  (25,000)  - 
Principal portion of lease liability   (70,926)  (58,755) 
   2,296,870   1,184,756 
  

 
 

 
Net changes in cash and cash equivalents   621,874 

 
 424,330 

Cash and cash equivalents - beginning of the year   625,876   201,546 
Cash and cash equivalents - end of the year $ 1,247,750 $ 625,876 
     
Non-cash Activities:     
Equipment in accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 15,298 $ - 

 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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      ACCUMULATED   

    SHARE   OTHER  
 

  SHARE CAPITAL SUBSCRIPTIONS   COMPREHENSIVE   
 Notes SHARES AMOUNT RECEIVED   RESERVES LOSS (“AOCL”) DEFICIT TOTAL EQUITY 

Balance - February 29, 2020  70,233,980 18,935,514  25,000 5,993,711  (213,523) (24,658,040) 82,662 
         
Stock-based compensation 16 - - - 740,000 - - 740,000 
Net loss for the year  -  -  - - - (1,657,195) (1,657,195) 
Balance - February 28, 2021   70,233,980 18,935,514  25,000 6,733,711  (213,523) (26,315,235) (834,533) 
         
Private placement 16 17,141,667 1,171,000 - 886,000 - - 2,057,000 
Private placement – share issue costs  - (11,035) - - - - (11,035) 
Exercise of warrants  16 9,500,000 2,125,340 - (465,340) - - 1,660,000 
Shares issued – stock options exercise 16 650,000 91,166 - (45,166) - - 46,000 
Share subscriptions repayment 16 - - (25,000) - - - (25,000) 
Stock-based compensation 16 - - - 683,248 - - 683,248 
Net loss for the year  -  -  - - - (2,079,374) (2,079,374) 
Balance - February 28, 2022   97,525,647 22,311,985  - 7,792,453  (213,523) (28,394,609) 1,496,306 

 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements 

NEO Battery Materials Ltd.                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                    
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity (Deficiency) 
For the year ended February 28, 2022 and February 28, 2021 
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 
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1. Nature of Operations and Going Concern 

 
NEO Battery Materials Ltd. (the “Company” or “NEO Battery”) is a publicly listed company incorporated under the 
Business Corporations Act of British Columbia on February 10, 2006 as 0748496 B.C. Ltd.  On March 1, 2006, the 
Company changed its name to BCGold Corp, and on March 16, 2017 to Pan Andean Minerals Ltd, and again on March 
2, 2021, to NEO Battery Materials Ltd. The Company is listed on the TSX Venture Exchange (“TSX.V”) under the symbol 
“NBM”. The head office, principal address and records office of the Company are located at Suite 700 – 838 West 
Hastings Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada, V6C 0A6. The Company’s registered address is Suite 1500 - 1055 
West Georgia Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada, V6E 4N7. 
 

As of February 28, 2022, the Company is a Vancouver-based junior resource company focused on battery metals 
exploration in North America. Starting on April 13, 2022, the Company has been proceeding with “Change of Business” 
(the “COB”) application with TSX Venture Exchange (the “Exchange”). The Company deems that a classification to a 
Tier 2 Industrial, Technology, or Life Sciences issuer on the Exchange instead of junior Mineral Exploration and Mining 
issuer, will reflect the Company’s long-term goal and serve its shareholders the best interests. As a result, the transition 
is still in process and subject to Exchange acceptance as of the date of the report. 
 
The Company has entered into a Collaborative Development Agreement (the “CDA”) with Yonsei University (“Yonsei”) 
for three years, starting in May 2021 (see Note 9). The Company has also entered into two exclusive licensing 
agreements with Yonsei to secure four patents (see Note 10).  
 
The Company’s ability to continue as a going concern on the is highly dependent upon its ability to obtain the financing 
necessary to continue operation. The key risk to the Company’s sustainability is securing the funding for its commercial 
plant’s construction in the near term. The Company’s operation is highly influenced by the capital market 
environment, supply chain, inflation, geographic stability, and global business environment in general. 
 
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the basis of accounting principles applicable to a going 
concern, which assumes that the Company will continue in operation for the foreseeable future and will be able to 
realize its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of operations.  The Company continues to incur 
operating losses, has limited financial resources, no source of operating cash flow, and no assurances that sufficient 
funding, including adequate financing, will be available to continue operations. These material uncertainties may cast 
a significant doubt on the validity of this assumption.  As at February 28, 2022, the Company had an accumulated 
deficit of $28,394,609 (February 28, 2021 - $26,315,235), a net loss for the year ended February 28, 2022 of $2,079,374 
(February 28, 2021 - $1,657,195) and a working capital of $1,260,662 (February 28, 2021 – $906,040 working capital 
deficiency).  
 
If the going concern assumption is not appropriate for these consolidated financial statements, adjustments could be 
necessary in the carrying values of assets, liabilities, reported income and expenses and the statement of financial 
position classifications used.  Such adjustments could be material. 
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2. Basis of Preparation 

 
Statement of Compliance  
These consolidated financial statements, including comparatives, have been prepared in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board 
(“IASB”) and interpretations of the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”). The 
significant accounting policies, as disclosed, have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these 
consolidated financial statements. 
 

Basis of Presentation and Consolidation 
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for financial instruments 
classified as financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss, which are stated at their fair value. In addition, 
these consolidated financial statements have been prepared using the accrual basis of accounting, except for cash 
flow information. 
 
Control is based on whether an investor has power over the investee and the ability to use its power over the investee 
to affect the amount of the returns. 
 
These consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and the entities 
controlled (directly or indirectly) by the Company (its subsidiaries) including Neo Battery Material Korea Co, Circum-
Pacific Holdings Ltd., Canada, Minera Chanape SAC, Peru and Cima De Oro SAC, Peru. All significant intercompany 
transactions and balances have been eliminated. 

 
Critical Accounting Estimates 
 
The preparation of these consolidated financial statements requires management to make certain estimates, 
judgments and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial 
statements and the reported expenses during the period. Actual results could differ from these estimates.  
 
Significant assumptions about the future and other sources of estimation uncertainty that management has made at 
the end of the reporting period, that could result in a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities in the event that actual results differ from assumptions made, relate to, but are not limited to, the following: 
 

i) The carrying value and the recoverability of exploration and evaluation assets, which are included in the 
statements of financial position based on the planned exploration budgets and drill results of exploration 
programs. 
 

ii) The incremental rate of borrowing used in the measurement of the lease liability was based on estimated 
interest rate the Company would borrow at from arm’s-length third parties as at the dates of adopting IFRS 16 
and entering into its current long-term office lease. 

 
iii) The inputs used in accounting for stock-based compensation expense included in profit or loss calculated using 

the Black-Scholes option pricing model. 
 

iv) The valuations of shares issued in non-cash transactions using the quoted share price as the fair value-based 
measurement on the date the shares are issued for the transaction.  
 

v) The recognition of deferred tax assets based on the change in unrecognized deductible temporary tax 
differences.  
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3.     Summary of Significant Accounting Policies  
 

The significant accounting policies used in the preparation of these annual consolidated financial statements are as 
follows: 
 
Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits held with banks, and other short-term highly liquid 
investments with original maturities of three months or less.   
 
Short-term Investments 
 
The Company classifies all its investments with maturities of less than one year as short-term investments. 

 
Exploration and Evaluation Assets 
 
Exploration and evaluation expenses are charged to earnings as they are incurred until the mineral property reaches 
the development stage.  Significant costs related to property acquisitions are capitalized until the viability of the 
mineral interest is determined.  When it has been established that a mineral deposit is commercially mineable and an 
economic analysis has been completed, the costs subsequently incurred to develop a mine on the property prior to 
the start of mining operations are capitalized and will be depreciated against production following commencement of 
commercial production, or written off if the property is sold, allowed to lapse or abandoned. From time to time, the 
Company may acquire or dispose of properties pursuant to the terms of option agreements. Because the options are 
exercisable entirely at the discretion of the optionee, the amounts payable or receivable are not recorded. Option 
payments are recorded as exploration and evaluation assets or recoveries when the payments are made or received.  

 
Title to mineral properties involves certain inherent risks due to the difficulties of determining the validity of certain 
claims as well as the potential for problems arising from the frequently ambiguous conveyance history characteristic 
of many mineral properties.  The Company has investigated title to all of its mineral properties and, to the best of its 
knowledge titles to all of its properties are in good standing. 
 
Restoration Provision 

 
The Company records a liability based on the best estimate of costs for restoration activities that the Company is 
legally or constructively required to remediate and recognizes the liability when those obligations result from the 
acquisition, construction, development or normal operations of assets.  Restoration provisions are measured at the 
present value of the expected expenditures required to settle the obligation using a pre-tax discount rate reflecting 
the time value of money and risks specific to the liability.  The liability is increased for the passage of time and adjusted 
for changes to the current market-based risk-free discount rate, and the amount of or timing of the underlying cash 
flows needed to settle the obligation. The associated restoration costs are capitalized as part of the carrying amount 
of the related property, plant and equipment and amortized on a systematic basis over the expected useful life of the 
asset.  
 
As at February 28, 2022, the calculation of any possible asset retirement obligation is not considered material. 
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3.     Summary of Significant Accounting Policies – continued 

 
Impairment of Non-Current Assets 

 
The Company follows the guidance in IFRS 6 – Exploration for and Evaluation of Mineral Resources to determine 
whether exploration and evaluation assets are impaired.  This determination requires significant judgment.  
Impairment indicators relevant for exploration and evaluation properties include whether the rights to explore the 
area of interest have expired during the period or will expire in the near future, and the rights are not expected to be 
renewed, substantive expenditure of further exploration and evaluation is not planned or budgeted, the activities 
have not lead to a discovery of commercial reserves and the Company has decided not to continue such activities in 
the area of interest or deteriorating local conditions such that it may become unsafe to continue operations. If an 
impairment indicator is identified, management will perform an impairment test.  If the recoverable amount of the 
exploration and evaluation assets is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss would be recorded in the 
consolidated financial statements. 
 
Property and Equipment 
 
Property and equipment is recorded at cost less accumulated depreciation and net accumulated impairment losses.  
The Company provides for depreciation using the declining balance method at rates designed to amortize the cost of 
the property and equipment over its estimated useful life. The annual depreciation rates are as follows: 
 

Laboratory equipment 20 % 
Right-of-use assets Over the terms of leases 

 
Comprehensive Loss 

 
Comprehensive loss is the change in the Company’s net assets that results from transactions, events and 
circumstances from sources other than the Company’s shareholders equity and includes items that would not 
normally be included in net earnings. 
 
Income Taxes 
 
The Company uses the balance sheet method of accounting for income taxes.  Under this method, deferred tax assets 
and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial 
statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases.  Deferred tax assets and 
liabilities are measured using enacted or substantively enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the 
years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled.  Deferred income tax assets also 
result from unused loss carry forwards, resource related pools and other deductions. A deferred tax asset is recognized 
for unused tax losses, tax credits and deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that future 
taxable profits will be available against which they can be utilized.  Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting 
date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realized. 
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3.     Summary of Significant Accounting Policies – continued 

 
Share-based Payments 

 
The Company grants stock options to buy common shares of the Company to directors, officers, employees and 
consultants. Share-based payments to employees are measured at the fair value of the instruments issued and 
amortized over the vesting periods.  Share-based payments to non-employees are measured at the fair value of the 
goods or services received or the fair value of the equity instruments issued, if it is determined the fair value of the 
goods or services cannot be reliably measured, and are recorded at the date the goods or services are received.  The 
offset to the recorded cost is to share-based payments reserve.  Consideration received on the exercise of stock 
options is recorded as share capital and the related share-based payments reserve is transferred to share capital.  
Where awards are forfeited because non-market based vesting conditions are not satisfied, the expense previously 
recognized is proportionately reversed in the period the forfeiture occurs. 
 
Share Capital 
 
The Company records in share capital proceeds from share issuances, net of issue costs and any tax effects.  The fair 
value of common shares issued as consideration for mineral properties is based on the trading price of those shares 
on the TSX.V on the date of the agreement to issue shares as determined by the Board of Directors.  Stock options and 
other equity instruments issued as purchase consideration in non-monetary transactions are recorded at fair value 
determined by management using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. Proceeds from private placements are 
allocated between shares and warrants issued according to their relative fair value.  
 
Loss per Share 

 
Loss per share is computed by dividing the loss available to common shareholders by the weighted average number 
of common shares outstanding during the period.  Under this method, the weighted average number of common 
shares used to calculate the dilutive effect in the statement of loss and comprehensive loss assumes that the proceeds 
that could be obtained upon exercise of options, warrants and similar instruments would be used to purchase common 
shares at the average market price during the period.  In periods where a net loss is incurred, basic and diluted loss 
per share is the same as the effect of outstanding stock options and warrants would be anti-dilutive. 
 
Flow-through Shares 
 

Under Canadian income tax legislation, a company is permitted to issue flow-through shares whereby the Company 
agrees to incur qualifying expenditures and renounce the related income tax deductions to the investors. For 
accounting purposes, the proceeds from the issuance of these shares are allocated between the offering of shares and 
the sale of tax benefits. The allocation is made based on the difference between the quoted price of the existing shares 
and the amount the investor pays for the shares. A liability is recognized in other liabilities for this difference. The 
liability is reduced and the reduction of premium liability is recorded in deferred tax recovery when eligible 
expenditures are fully incurred. 
 
Mineral Exploration Tax Credits (“METC”) 
 
The Company recognizes METC amounts when the Company’s METC application is approved by the relevant 
jurisdiction or when the amount to be received can be reasonably estimated and collection is reasonably assured. 
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3.     Summary of Significant Accounting Policies – continued 

 
Financial Instruments 
 
The following is the Company’s accounting policy for financial instruments: 
 
(a) Classification 
 

The Company classifies its financial instruments in the following categories: at fair value through profit and loss 
(“FVTPL”), at fair value through other comprehensive income (loss) (“FVTOCI”) or at amortized cost. The 
Company determines the classification of financial assets at initial recognition. The classification of debt 
instruments is driven by the Company’s business model for managing the financial assets and their contractual 
cash flow characteristics. Equity instruments that are held for trading are classified as FVTPL. For other equity 
instruments, on the day of acquisition the Company can make an irrevocable election (on an instrument-by-
instrument basis) to designate them as at FVTOCI. Financial liabilities are measured at amortized cost, unless 
they are required to be measured at FVTPL (such as instruments held for trading or derivatives) or if the Company 
has opted to measure them at FVTPL.  

 
The Company's financial instruments are classified and subsequently measured as follows: 

 
Financial assets/liabilities Classification 
Cash and cash equivalents  FVTPL  
Marketable securities FVTPL 
Accounts payable  Amortized cost  
Lease liability Amortized cost 

 
(b) Measurement  
 

Financial assets and liabilities at amortized cost  
 
Financial assets and liabilities at amortized cost are initially recognized at fair value plus or minus transaction 
costs, respectively, and subsequently carried at amortized cost less any impairment. 
 
Financial assets and liabilities at FVTPL  
 
Financial assets and liabilities carried at FVTPL are initially recorded at fair value and transaction costs are 
expensed in the statements of loss and comprehensive loss. Realized and unrealized gains and losses arising from 
changes in the fair value of the financial assets and liabilities held at FVTPL are included in the statements of loss 
and comprehensive loss in the periods in which they arise. 
 
Debt investments at FVTOCI  
 
These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Interest income calculated using the effective interest 
method, foreign exchange gains and losses and impairment are recognised in profit or loss. Other net gains and 
losses are recognised in OCI. On de-recognition, gains and losses accumulated in Other Comprehensive Income 
(“OCI”) are reclassified to profit or loss. 

  



NEO Battery Materials Ltd.  

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
For the Year Ended February 28, 2022 and February 28, 2021 

 

(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)  
 
 

Page | 14  
 

 
3.     Summary of Significant Accounting Policies - continued 
 

Financial Instruments – continued 
 
(b) Measurement – continued  

 
Equity investments at FVTOCI  
 
These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Dividends are recognised as income in profit or loss unless 
the dividend clearly represents a recovery of part of the cost of the investment. Other net gains and losses are 
recognised in OCI and are never reclassified to profit or loss. 

 
(c) Impairment of financial assets at amortized cost  
 

The Company recognizes a loss allowance for expected credit losses on financial assets that are measured at 
amortized cost. At each reporting date, the Company measures the loss allowance for the financial asset at an 
amount equal to the lifetime expected credit losses if the credit risk on the financial asset has increased 
significantly since initial recognition. If at the reporting date, the financial asset has not increased significantly 
since initial recognition, the Company measures the loss allowance for the financial asset at an amount equal to 
the twelve month expected credit losses. The Company shall recognize in the statements of loss and 
comprehensive loss, as an impairment gain or loss, the amount of expected credit losses (or reversal) that is 
required to adjust the loss allowance at the reporting date to the amount that is required to be recognized. 

 
(d) De-recognition 
 

Financial assets  
 
The Company derecognizes financial assets only when the contractual rights to cash flows from the financial 
assets expire, or when it transfers the financial assets and substantially all of the associated risks and rewards of 
ownership to another entity. 
 
Financial liabilities  
 
The Company derecognizes a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or cancelled, or 
expire. The Company also derecognizes a financial liability when the terms of the liability are modified such that 
the terms and / or cash flows of the modified instrument are substantially different, in which case a new financial 
liability based on the modified terms is recognized at fair value. 
 
Gains and losses on de-recognition are recognized in profit or loss. 

 
Foreign Currency Translation 

 
The functional currency and, unless otherwise indicated, the presentation currency of the Company is the Canadian 
(“Cdn”) Dollar.  The transactions of foreign subsidiaries of the Company are translated into Canadian dollars as follows: 
 

• monetary assets and liabilities at the exchange rate prevailing at the statement of financial position 
date; 

• non-monetary assets and liabilities at the applicable historical exchange rates; and 
• revenues and expenses at the average rate of exchange for the period. 
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3.     Summary of Significant Accounting Policies – continued 
 

Foreign Currency Translation – continued  
 
Exchange gains and losses arising from the conversion of foreign currency balances and transactions are reported in 
profit or loss as they occur.  

 
IFRS 16 – Leases 

 
IFRS 16 sets out the principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of leases.  
 
At inception of a contract, the Company assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, 
a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for 
consideration. The Corporation assesses whether the contract involves the use of an identified asset, whether the 
right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from use of the asset during the term of the arrangement 
exists, and if the Company has the right to direct the use of the asset. At inception or on reassessment of a contract 
that contains a lease component, the Company allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease component 
on the basis of their relative standalone prices. 
 
As a lessee, the Company recognizes a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the commencement date of a lease. 
The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, which is comprised of the initial amount of the lease liability 
adjusted for any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, plus any decommissioning and 
restoration costs, less any lease incentives received. 
 
The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated from the commencement date to the earlier of the end of the lease 
term, or the end of the useful life of the asset. In addition, the right-of-use asset may be reduced due to impairment 
losses, if any, and adjusted for certain remeasurements of the lease liability. 
 
A lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the commencement 
date, discounted by the interest rate implicit in the lease, or if that rate cannot be readily determined, the incremental 
borrowing rate. Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability are comprised of: 
 

• fixed payments, including in-substance fixed payments, less any lease incentives receivable; 
• variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate 

as at the commencement date; 
• amounts expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee; 
• exercise prices of purchase options if the Company is reasonably certain to exercise that option; and 
• payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the lessee exercising an 

option to terminate the lease. 
 

The lease liability is measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. It is remeasured when there is a 
change in future lease payments arising from a change in an index or rate, or if there is a change in the estimate or 
assessment of the expected amount payable under a residual value guarantee, purchase, extension or termination 
option. Variable lease payments not included in the initial measurement of the lease liability are charged directly to 
profit or loss. 

 
The Company has recognized a lease liability related to its lease commitment for its office lease. The lease liability is 
measured at the present value of the remaining lease payments, discounted using the Company’s estimated 
incremental borrowing rate as at the date of entry into a lease agreement. The associated right-of-use assets will be 
measured at the lease liabilities amount.  
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3.     Summary of Significant Accounting Policies – continued 
 

IFRS 16 – Leases – continued  
 

The Company has elected not to recognize right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for short-term leases that have a 
lease term of 12 months or less and leases of low-value assets. The lease payments associated with these leases are 
charged directly to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 
 
Research and Development 
 
Expenditures on research and development activities, undertaken with the prospect of gaining new scientific or 
technical knowledge and understanding, are recognized in profit or loss as incurred.  
 
Recent Accounting Pronouncements  
 
A number of new standards, and amendments to standards and interpretations, were not yet effective for the year 
ended February 28, 2022 and have not been early adopted in preparing these consolidated financial statements. These 
new standards, and amendments to standards and interpretations were either not applicable or are not expected to 
have material impact on the company’s consolidated financial statements. 
 

4.      Marketable Securities  
           
         As at February 28, 2022, marketable securities include 100,000 common shares of a publicly traded company, 

Pembridge Resources PLC, valued at $7,910 (2021 - $12,424).  
 

 February 28, 2022 
$ 

 February 28, 2021 
$ 

Marketable securities – fair value  7,910   12,424 
Marketable securities – cost  22,200   22,200 
 

5.      Prepaid Expenses 
 

          February 28, 2022 
$ 

 February 28, 2021 
$ 

Insurance   4,579   7,322 
Insurance – long term (a)  31,212   - 
Rent (b)  43,736   - 
Travel  10,550   8,644 
Vendors (c)  103,000   56 
Total   193,077   16,022 
 
(a) Includes insurance payment made to guarantee the deposit held for building the Company’s commercial plant 

in South Korea for the period from March 1, 2023 to February 28, 2032. 
(b) Includes payments made to rent a site to build the Company’s commercial plant in South Korea for the period 

from March 1, 2022 to December 31, 2022.  
(c) Includes 30% of down payment paid in advance to purchase laboratory equipment. 
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6.      Sales Tax and Other Receivables  
 

          February 28, 2022 
$ 

 February 28, 2021 
$ 

Sales tax (GST & VAT)  21,423   8,356 
Other receivables  -   15 
Total   21,423   8,371 
 

7.      Exploration and Evaluation Assets and Expenditures 
 
 Details of the Company’s exploration and evaluation acquisition costs are as follows: 
 

 
 

 
February 28, 2022 

$ 
 February 28, 2021 

$ 

Beginning of the year  
 

 1,344  1 
Staking - Golden Property, BC   -  1,343 

Carrying value – end of the year   1,344  1,344 
 

Golden Property, BC  
 
During the year ended February 28, 2021, the Company staked three mining claims in Golden, BC. For the year ended 
February 28, 2022, the Company spent and expensed exploration expenditures of $12,690 (2021 - $Nil).  

 
8.    Equipment 
 

During the year ended February 28, 2022, the Company purchased laboratory equipment to be used in its research 
and development center, located in Yonsei University, South Korea.  

 
  Equipment Total  
 
NBV – February 28, 2021  

 
$ 

 
- 

 
 $ - 

Cost  192,761   192,761 
Accumulated Amortization  (12,232)   (12,232) 
NBV - February 28, 2022 $ 180,529  $ 180,529 

 
9.    Research and Development  
 

On May 10, 2021, the Company entered into a Collaborative Development Agreement (the “Agreement”) with Yonsei 
University (“Yonsei”) to conduct research and development. The Agreement has a term of three years, over which 
time the Company will be responsible for research and development costs of approximately $316,500 (South Korea 
Won (“KRW”) 300,000,000) (the “Funding Budget”). 
 
On August 13, 2021, the Agreement was amended to increase the Funding Budget by approximately $50,000 (KRW 
47,000,000).  
 
During the year ended February 28, 2022, the Company incurred research and development costs of $132,713 (2021 
- $Nil) in connection with the Agreement.  
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10.    Licensing Agreements 

 
On February 8, 2021, the Company entered into an Exclusive License Agreement with Yonsei (the “First Agreement”) 
to obtain exclusive rights to use the three patents owned by Yonsei. Under the terms of the First Agreement, the 
Company paid an initial license fee of $35,030 during the year ended February 28, 2021. The remaining license fee of 
$267,887 will be due upon the first sale of the product produced based on the use of the patents.   

 
On July 22, 2021, the Company entered into a second Exclusive License Agreement with Yonsei (the “Second 
Agreement”) to obtain exclusive rights to use a separate patent owned by Yonsei. Under the term of the Second 
Agreement, the Company paid an initial license fee of $10,000 during the year ended February 28, 2022. The remaining 
license fee of $40,000 will be due upon the first sale of the product produced based on the use of the patent.  
 

11.    Financial Risk and Capital Management 
 
The Company is exposed in varying degrees to a variety of financial instrument related risks. The Board of Directors 
approves and monitors the risk management processes, inclusive of documented investment policies, counterparty 
limits, and controlling and reporting structures. The type of risk exposure and the way in which such exposure is 
managed is summarized as follows:  

           
         Credit risk  
 

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an obligation and cause the other 
party to incur a financial loss. The Company’s primary exposure to credit risk is on its cash held in bank accounts. The 
majority of cash is deposited in bank accounts at a major bank in Canada. As most of the Company’s cash is held by 
one bank there is a concentration of credit risk. This risk is managed by using major banks that are high credit quality 
financial institutions as determined by rating agencies. 

   
 Liquidity risk  

 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Company 
has a planning and budgeting process in place to help determine the funds required to support the Company’s normal 
operating requirements on an ongoing basis. The Company ensures that there are sufficient funds to meet its short-
term business requirements, taking into account its anticipated cash flows from operations and its holdings of cash.  

 
Historically, the Company’s sole source of funding has been the issuance of equity securities for cash, primarily through 
private placements. The Company’s access to financing is always uncertain. There can be no assurance of continued 
access to necessary levels of equity funding. 
 
Foreign exchange risk  
 
Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair values of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because 
they are denominated in currencies that differ from the respective functional currency. As at February 28, 2022, the  
Company had negligible financial assets or liabilities denominated in a foreign currency.    

 
         Interest rate risk  
 

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of 
changes in market interest rates. The Company is not exposed to significant interest rate risks. 
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11.    Financial Risk and Capital Management – continued 

 
         Capital management  

 
The Company’s policy is, if permitted by market conditions, to maintain a strong capital base so as to support investor 
and creditor confidence and support future development of the business. The capital structure of the Company 
consists of equity, comprising share capital and reserves net of accumulated deficit. The Company is not subject to 
any externally imposed capital requirements. 
 

12.    Financial Instruments  
 

The three levels of the friar value hierarchy are as follows:   
 
• Level 1 –   Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities in active markets;  
• Level 2 – Observable inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1, such as quoted prices for similar assets 

and liabilities in active market; quoted prices for identical or similar assets and liabilities in markets that are not 
active, or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data; and 

• Level 3 – Unobservable inputs which are supported by little or no market activity. As required by IFRS 13, assets 
and liabilities are classified in their entirety based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value 
measurement. Cash and marketable securities are measured at fair value using Level 1 inputs. 

 
As at February 28, 2022, the Company’s marketable securities are based on level 1 inputs of the fair value hierarchy 
and they are valued based on the closing trading price of the shares on public stock exchange at the year-end date. 

         
13.   Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities 
 

          February 28, 2022 
$ 

 February 28, 2021 
$ 

      
Trade payables   146,470   189,279 
Accrued liabilities  16,480   15,000 
Total   162,950   204,279 
 

14.    Short-Term Loans 
 
On March 9, 2020, the Company received a $100,000 unsecured loan bearing interest, payable semi-annually, at a 
rate of 4% per annum, with outstanding principal due and payable on March 6, 2021. During the year ended February 
28, 2022, the Company paid $100,000 of the principal amount plus $4,208 of interest accrued on the loan.  
 
On March 24, 2020, the Company received a $1,143,511 (KRW 1 billion) unsecured loan bearing interest, payable 
semi-annually, at a rate of 4% per annum, with outstanding principal due and payable on March 31, 2021. As the 
Company failed to repay the loan, the term of the interest rate changed to 4% per month commencing March 24, 
2021. During the year ended February 28, 2022, the Company paid the outstanding principal plus $111,450 of interest 
charged on the loan.  
 
For the year ended February 28, 2022, the Company recorded $68,810 (2021 - $54,013) of interest expense related to 
these short-term loans.   
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15.    Right-Of-Use Asset & Lease Liability  

 
The Company has an office lease for the period from May 1, 2019 to April 30, 2022.  Minimum annual commitments 
for basic rent, excluding additional operating costs, as at May 1, 2019 were as follows: 

 
Year Amount 
2020  $ 64,362 
2021   80,032 
2022   83,390 
2023   13,992 

  $ 241,776 
 

(a) Right-of-use asset 
 

As at February 28, 2022 and February 28, 2021, the Company recorded a right-of-use asset for its office lease as 
follows:  

 
 February 28, 2022 February 28, 2021 
 $ $ 
Opening balance 69,733 129,504 
Amortization (59,771) (59,771) 
Ending balance    9,962 69,733 

 
(b) Lease liability 
 

Minimum lease payment in respect of the office lease liability and the effect of discounting as at February 28, 
2022 and February 28, 2021 are as follows: 

 February 28, 2022 February 28, 2021 
 $ $ 
Undiscounted minimum lease payment:   
   Less than one year 13,992 83,390 
   More than one year - 13,992 
   Total undiscounted minimum lease payment 13,992 97,382 
   Effect of discounting  (1,825) (14,289) 
   Present value of minimum lease payment 12,167 83,093 
   Less: current portion (12,167) (70,926) 
   Long-term portion - 12,167 

 
Subsequent to the expiration of the office lease, the Company obtained a one-year lease on different office space 
for the period from April 1, 2022 to March 31, 2023.   

 
(c) Lease liability continuity 
 

The net changes in the Company’s lease liability during the years ended February 28, 2022 and February 28, 
2021 are  as follows: 
 February 28, 2022 February 28, 2021 
 $ $ 
Beginning balance 83,093 141,848 
Principal payments (70,926) (58,755) 
Ending balance    12,167 83,093 
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15.    Right-Of-Use Asset & Lease Liability – continued  

 
(d) Lease liability interest and sublease income  

 
During the year ended February 28, 2022, the Company recorded $12,464 (2021 - $21,277) of interest expense 
on the lease liability and received $49,321 (2021 - $67,967) of sublease income .  

 
16.    Share Capital 

 
The Company’s authorized share capital consists of an unlimited number of common voting shares without par value. 
 
Private Placements  

 
Year Ended February 28, 2022 

 
On May 4, 2021, the Company completed a non-brokered private placement of 17,141,667 units at a price of $0.12 
per unit for gross proceeds of $2,057,000.  Each unit consisted of one common share and one common share warrant, 
with each warrant entitling the holder to purchase one common share at a price of $0.16 per common share for 36 
months from the closing date of the private placement. Under the fair value method, $886,000 of the proceeds were 
allocated to the warrants. The fair value of the warrants was calculated using the Black-Scholes Option Pricing Model 
with the following assumptions: 0.49% risk-free interest rate, 3 years of expected life, 218% volatility and 0% dividend 
rate.   
 
Year Ended February 28, 2021 

 
The Company did not issue any common shares.  
 
Exercise of warrants 

 
During the year ended February 28, 2022, 1,000,000 and 8,500,000 warrants were exercised at a price of $0.30 and 
$0.16 per warrant, respectively, for total proceeds of $1,660,000. Upon the exercise of the warrants, $465,340 of the 
fair value of the warrants recorded was transferred from reserves to share capital.  
 
Exercise of options  

 
For the year ended February 28, 2022, 600,000 and 50,000 stock options were exercised at a price of $0.06 and $0.20 
per share, respectively, for total proceeds of $46,000. Upon the exercise of the options, $45,166 of the fair value of 
the options recorded was transferred from reserves to share capital. 
 
Share Purchase Warrants  

 
 Share purchase warrant transactions are summarized as follows:  

 
 
 

Number of  
Warrants 

Weighted Average 
Exercise Price  

  $ 
Balance, February 28, 2021 and February 29, 2020 4,500,000 0.30 
Issued 17,141,667 0.16 
Exercised (9,500,000) 0.17 
Expired (3,500,000) 0.30 
Balance, February 28, 2022 8,641,667 0.16 
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16.    Share Capital – continued  

 
Share Purchase Warrants – continued 
 
As at February 28, 2022, outstanding warrants are as follows:  
 

 
 

Expiry Date 

 
 

Exercise Price ($) 

 
 

Number of Warrants 

Weighted Average 
Life Remaining 

(Years) 
May 4, 2024 0.16 8,641,667 2.18 

 
Stock Options 

 
The Company has established a stock option plan (the "Plan") for directors, employees, and consultants of the 
Company. From time to time, shares may be reserved by the Board, in its discretion, for options under the Plan, 
provided that at the time of the grant, the total number of shares so reserved for issuance by the Board shall not 
exceed the greater of 10% of the issued and outstanding listed shares (on a non-diluted basis) as at the date of grant. 
No options shall be granted, without regulatory approval, entitling any single individual to purchase in excess of 5% of 
the then outstanding shares in the Company in any 12-month period and no more than 2% of the optioned shares 
may be issued to any one individual in any 12-month period.  If the option rights granted under the plan shall expire 
or terminate for any reason without having been exercised, such optioned shares may be made available for other 
options to be granted under the plan. The shares so reserved by the Board under the Plan shall be authorized but 
unissued shares.  
 
The options are non-transferable and will expire, if not exercised, immediately upon dismissal by the Company with 
cause or 90 days following the date the optionee otherwise ceases to be a director, officer, manager, consultant or 
employee of the Company for reasons other than death. In the case of death, the expiry becomes one year after the 
death of an optionee. Pursuant to the policies of the TSX.V, options granted pursuant to the Plan in excess of 10% of 
the issued and outstanding common shares at the time of the grant must be subject to vesting. 
 
The Board has previously established a rolling Stock Option Plan which reserves for issuance up to 10% of the 
Company's outstanding common shares.  The policies of the TSX Venture exchange require such stock option plans to 
be approved annually by the Company's shareholders by way of an ordinary resolution.  Shareholder approval shall 
be sought at the next AGM for the Stock Option Plan, as such, any options issued prior to such approval shall not be 
exercisable until such approval is granted by shareholders. 
 
Stock option transactions are summarized as follows: 
 

 
 

Number of  
Options 

Weighted Average 
Exercise Price ($) 

Balance, February 29, 2020 5,500,000 0.06 
Granted 2,930,000 0.20 
Cancelled (1,925,000) 0.06 
Balance, February 28, 2021 6,505,000 0.12 
Granted 1,350,000 0.65 
Corrected (cancelled by error)  150,000 0.06 
Exercised (650,000) 0.07 
Cancelled (90,000) 0.20 
Balance, February 28, 2022 7,265,000 0.22 
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16.    Share Capital – continued  

 
Stock Options – continued 

 
As at February 28, 2022, outstanding stock options are as follows: 
 

Expiry Date Weighted Average 
Exercise Price 

Number of Options 
Outstanding 

Number of Options 
Exercisable 

Weighted Average 
Remaining Life 

(Years) 
March 21, 2023 $0.06 1,200,000 1,200,000 0.17 
February 28, 2024 $0.06 1,925,000 1,925,000 0.53 
February 10, 2026 $0.20 2,840,000 2,840,000 1.55 
May 13, 2026 $0.20 340,000 340,000 0.20 
May 25, 2026 $0.20 30,000 30,000 0.02 
June 1, 2026 $0.20 100,000 100,000 0.06 
June 9, 2026 $0.33 80,000 80,000 0.05 
July 30, 2026 $1.00 750,000 750,000 0.46 
 $0.22 7,265,000 7,265,000 3.04 

 
During the year ended February 28, 2022, the Company granted 1,350,000 stock options to a director and certain 
consultants of the Company and recognized stock-based compensation of $683,248 (2021 - $740,000). The fair value 
of each option granted during the current year was estimated using the Black-Scholes Option Pricing Model based on 
the following assumptions:    
 

 2022 2021 
Risk-free interest rate 0.83% - 0.94% 0.50% 
Expected life  5 years 5 years 
Volatility 157.43% - 161.79% 190.48% 
Expected dividend yield Nil Nil 
 

Shares Subscriptions 
 
In February and June 2020, the Company received an aggregate amount of $75,000 in advance for the 937,500 units 
subscribed at a price of $0.08 per unit. The Company returned $50,000 in February 2021 and $25,000 in March 2021 
to the subscribers.   
 

17.   Related Party Transactions  
 

Related parties include the Company’s key management personnel with authority and responsibility for planning, 
directing and controlling activities of the Company. The Company has determined that its key management personnel 
is comprised of the Company’s Board of Directors and officers, and the entities controlled by the key management 
personnel.   
 
As at February 28, 2022 and 2021, there were no balances due to related parties.  
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17.   Related Party Transactions – continued 

 
During the years ended February 28, 2022 and 2021, the Company paid the following amount to the officers and 
directors of the Company and an entity controlled by the CEO:  

 
18.   Segmented Information  
 
 The Company operates in two geographic segments: Canada and South Korea. 

 
 Canada ($) Korea ($) Total ($) 
Total assets               1,282,580    392,012            1,674,592 
Total liabilities  150,905 27,381 178,286 
 

19.   Income Tax  
 

A reconciliation of the provision for income taxes is as follows: 
 

  February 28, 2022  February 28, 2021 
Loss before income taxes $ (2,079,374)   $ (1,657,195)  
Statutory tax rates  27.00%    27.00% 
Expected income tax recovery  (557,949)   (447,443) 
      
Non-deductible expenses and other items   165,405   203,569 
Change in deferred tax assets   392,544   243,874 

Income tax recovery $ -  $ - 
 
The Company’s deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows:  

 

  February 28, 2022  February 28, 2021 
Non-capital loss carry-forwards $ 3,295,138  $ 2,892,730 
Financing costs  18,802   27,684 
Equipment and other  62,804   66,849 
Exploration and evaluation assets   1,142,165   1,139,102 
Unrecognized deferred tax asset  (4,518,909)   (4,126,365) 

Deferred income tax asset (liability) $ -  $ -  
 
 
 
 
 
 

  February 28, 2022 February 28, 2021 
Project related expenditure  $ 12,690 $ - 
Management fees   197,900  313,200 
Professional fees   62,405  54,952 
Stock based compensation   448,753  622,560 
  $ 721,748 $ 990,712 
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19.   Income Tax – continued  

 
As at February 28, 2022, the Company has accumulated non-capital losses for Canadian income tax purposes totaling 
$11,976,000 (2021 - $10,599,000). The losses expire in the following periods: 

 
2006 2026 $ 14,000 
2007 2027  437,000 
2008 2028  1,085,000 
2009 2029  744,000 
2010 2030  707,000 
2011 2031  872,000 
2012 2032  972,000 
2013 2033  769,000 
2014 2034  614,000 
2015 2035  250,000 
2016 2036  300,000 
2017 2037  738,000 
2018 2038  492,000 
2019 2039  639,000 
2020 2040  1,102,000 
2021 2041  864,000 
2022 2042  1,377,000 

  $ 11,976,000 
  

20.    Contingency 
 

A former director of the Company filed a Notice of Civil Claim (the “Claim”) against the Company on December 17, 
2021 in the Supreme Court of British Columbia seeking a court order compelling the Company to accept his exercise 
of the Company’s stock options granted to him on March 21, 2018 and to issue to him 350,000 common shares of the 
Company upon the receipt of payment of $21,000 (the "Order"). On January 25, 2022, the Company filed a response 
to the Claim to appeal against the Order.  
 
As at February 28, 2022, the final conclusion of the Claim was indeterminable and no amount of contingency was 
recorded.  

 
21.   Subsequent Events 
 

Subsequent to February 28, 2022: 
 

• 20,000 stock options were exercised at a price of $0.20 per option, and 333,332 warrants were exercised at a 
price of $0.16 per warrant, for total proceeds of $57,333.   

 
• 40,000 stock options were cancelled. 

 
 

 
 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Condensed Consolidated Interim Financial Statements 
 

For the Six Months Ended August 31, 2022 and August 31, 2021 
 
 

(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



Page | 2  
 

NEO Battery Materials Ltd.                                                                                                                                                                           
Condensed Consolidated Interim Statements of Financial Position 
(Reviewed - Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 

 

Assets   August 31, 
2022   February 28,  

2022 
     (Note 4)  

Current Assets:     

Cash and cash equivalents  $ 2,356,391 
 

$ 1,247,750 
 

Marketable securities (Note 6)  5,077  7,910 
Prepaid expenses (Note 7)   88,563   161,865 
Sales tax and other receivables (Note 8)   29,296   21,423 
   2,479,327                    

 
1,438,948                    

Non-Current Assets:  
 

  

Deposits  -  12,597 
Equipment (Note 10)  471,596  180,529 
Exploration and evaluation assets (Note 9)  -                  1,344                 
Intangible assets (Note 12)  47,646  49,210 
Prepaid expenses – long term (Note 7)  701,600  31,212 
Right-of-use asset (Note 16) 

 
-   9,962  

Total Assets $ 3,700,169               $ 1,723,802                 
   

 
  

Liabilities and Equity         
     
Current Liabilities:  

 
  

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (Note 15) $ 153,755                     $ 166,119                     
Lease liability – current portion (Note 16)  -  12,167 
Total Liabilities                  153,755  

 
                178,286 

   
 

  

Shareholders’ Equity: 
    

Share capital (Note 17) 
 

22,390,351                
 

22,311,985                
Reserves (Note 17) 

 
7,771,420  

 
7,792,453  

Accumulated other comprehensive loss 
 

                (213,523) 
 

                (213,523) 
Deficit             (27,650,384)             (28,345,399) 
  2,297,864               1,545,516              
Non-controlling interest (“NCI”) (Note 5)   1,248,550                - 
Total Shareholders’ Equity  3,546,414  1,545,516              
Total Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity  $ 3,700,169  $ 1,723,802 

      
Nature of Operations and Going Concern (Note 1) 
Contingency (Note 20) 
 
Approved by the Board of Directors on November 15, 2022: 
 
"Spencer Sung Bum Huh" , Director  "Larry Okada" , Director 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated interim financial statements. 
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The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated interim financial statements. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  For Three Months Ended 
August 31 

 For Six Months Ended  
August 31, 

  2022  2021  2022  2021 
Expenses    (Note 4)    (Note 4) 
  Amortization (Notes 10 & 12) $ 23,898 $ 567 $ 37,626 $ 1,082 
  Amortization on ROU assets  -  14,942  9,962  29,885 
  Advertising and marketing  5,815  32,788  29,479  82,122 
  Consulting and management fees (Note 18)               194,253  109,967  283,899  232,867 
  Corporate listing and filing fees  10,831  11,115  25,963  83,164 
  Exploration and evaluation expenses  -  3,690  -  3,690 
  Investor relations  8,669  25,580  22,341  48,808 
  Office and general  11,560  8,863  24,683  17,627 
  Payroll expenses  122,371  -  209,803  - 
  Professional fees (Note 18)  52,085  31,439  100,328  75,737 
  Rent (non-lease portion)  21,974  19,530  65,357  36,061 
  Research and development (Note 11)  70,309  29,989  151,626  33,265 
  Sublease income  -  (10,602)  (5,925)  (28,035) 
  Stock-based compensation  -  604,224  -  683,248 
  Travel  11,373  16,407  21,304  18,937 
Loss from operations  (533,138)  (898,499)  (976,446)  (1,318,458) 
         
Other income (expense)         
  Interest and miscellaneous expense  -  38  -  58 
  Interest expense – lease (Note 16)  -  (2,785)  (1,857)  (6,893) 
  Interest expense – short-term loan  -  -  -  (68,810) 
  Impairment of E&E assets (Note 9)  (1,344)  -  (1,344)  - 
  Loss on foreign exchange  (33,217)  (1,374)  (52,777)  (2,702) 
  Unrealized loss on marketable securities   (2,176)  (1,622)  (2,833)  (2,384) 
  Write-off of debt   -   65,845  -  65,845 

Total other income (expense)  (36,737)  60,102  
 

(58,811)  
 

(14,886) 
         
Net loss for the period  (569,875)  (838,397)  (1,035,257)  (1,333,344) 
         
Comprehensive loss for the period $ (569,875) $ (838,397) $ (1,035,257) $ (1,333,344) 
         
Net loss Contributable to         
  Controlling equity holders of the Company  (455,103)  (838,397)  (920,485)  (1,333,344) 
  Non-controlling interest (Note 5)  (114,772)  -  (114,772)  - 
  (569,875)  (838,397)    (1,035,257)  (1,333,344) 
Loss per share:          

Basic & Diluted $ (0.01) $ (0.01) $ (0.01) $ (0.02) 
         
Weighted average number of common shares 
outstanding 

  
97,878,979 

  
87,758,799 

 
97,623,388  81,511,743 

NEO Battery Materials Ltd.                                                                                                                                            
Condensed Consolidated Interim Statements of Loss and Comprehensive Loss 
(Reviewed - Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 
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NEO Battery Materials Ltd.                                                                                                                     
Condensed Consolidated Interim Statements of Cash Flows 
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 

 
 
 

 For Six Months Ended  
August 31, 2022 August 31, 2021 

Operating Activities:        (Note 4) 
Net loss for the period $ (1,035,257)       $ (1,333,344)       
Adjustment for items which do not involve cash:  

 
  

Amortization   37,626   1,082 
Amortization on ROU assets  9,962  29,885 
Stock-based compensation  -  683,248 
Impairment of E&E assets  1,344  - 
Unrealized loss on marketable securities  2,833  2,384 
Write-off of accounts payable  -  (65,845) 

Changes in non-cash working capital components:     
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  (12,524)  (45,977) 
Deposits  12,597  - 
Short-term loan interest  -  68,809 
Prepaid expenses  73,302  (211,276) 
Sales tax and other receivables   (7,873)   (8,098) 

   (917,990)   (879,132) 
  

 
 

 
Investing Activities:     
Prepaid expenses - commercial plant design fees  (670,388)  - 
Equipment additions  (326,969)  - 
Intangible assets additions  -  (10,873) 
  (997,357)  (10,873) 
     
Financing Activities:  

   

Private placement  -  2,057,000 
Repayment – share subscription  -  (25,000) 
Repayment – short-term loan principal and interest  -  (1,359,169) 
Exercise of warrants   53,333  380,000 
Exercise of options   4,000  37,000 
Principal portion of lease liability   (12,167)  (34,522) 
Proceeds from issuance of shares of Korean subsidiary  2,978,822  - 
   3,023,988   1,055,309 
  

 
 

 
Net changes in cash and cash equivalents   1,108,641 

 
        165,304 

Cash and cash equivalents - beginning of the period   1,247,750   625,876 
Cash and cash equivalents - end of the period $ 2,356,391 $ 791,180 
     

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated interim financial statements.
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 ACCUMULATED     

   SHARE   OTHER  
 NON-  

 SHARE CAPITAL SUBSCRIPTIONS   COMPREHENSIVE ACCUMULATED TOTAL FOR CONTROLLING  
 SHARES AMOUNT RECEIVED   RESERVES LOSS (“AOCL”) DEFICIT OWNER INTEREST TOTAL EQUITY 

      (Note 4) (Note 4)  (Note 4) 
Balance - February 28, 2021  70,233,980 18,935,514  25,000 6,733,711  (213,523) (26,315,235) (834,533) - (834,533) 
Impact of change in accounting policy 
(Note 4) - - - - - 34,515 34,515 - 34,515 
Restated Balance - February 28, 2021 70,233,980 18,935,514  25,000 6,733,711  (213,523) (26,280,720) (800,018) - (800,018) 
Repayment – share subscription - - (25,000) - - - (25,000) - (25,000) 
Share issued – private placement 17,141,667 57,413 - 1,999,587 - - 2,057,000 - 2,057,000 
Stock-based compensation - - - 683,248 - - 683,248 - 683,248 
Exercise of stock options 500,000 76,170 - (39,170) - - 37,000 - 37,000 
Exercise of warrants 1,500,000 464,500 - (84,500) - - 380,000 - 380,000 
Net loss for the period -  -  - - - (1,333,344) (1,333,344) - (1,333,344) 
Balance - August 31, 2021 89,375,647 19,533,597  - 9,292,876  (213,523) (27,614,064) 998,886 - 998,886 
          
Balance – February 28, 2022 97,525,647 22,311,985  - 7,792,453  (213,523) (28,394,609) 1,496,306 - 1,496,306 
Impact of change in accounting policy 
(Note 4) - - - - - 49,210 49,210 - 49,210 
Restated Balance - February 28, 2022 97,525,647 22,311,985 - 7,792,453 (213,523) (28,345,399) 1,545,516 - 1,545,516 
Exercise of warrants (Note 17) 333,332 70,566 - (17,233) - - 53,333 - 53,333 
Stock options exercise (Note 17) 20,000 7,800 - (3,800) - - 4,000 - 4,000 
Issuance of shares in Korea Co (Note 5) - - - - - 1,615,500 1,615,500 1,363,322 2,978,822 
Net loss for the period -  -  - - - (920,485) (920,485) (114,772) (1,035,257) 
Balance - August 31, 2022 97,878,979 22,390,351  - 7,771,420  (213,523) (27,650,384) 2,297,864 1,248,550 3,546,414 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated interim financial statements 

NEO Battery Materials Ltd.                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                    
Condensed Consolidated Interim Statements of Changes in Equity  
For the Six Months Ended August 31, 2022 and August 31, 2021 
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 
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1. Nature of Operations and Going Concern 

 
NEO Battery Materials Ltd. (the “Company” or “NEO Battery”) is a publicly listed company incorporated under the 
Business Corporations Act of British Columbia on February 10, 2006 as 0748496 B.C. Ltd.  On March 1, 2006, the 
Company changed its name to BCGold Corp, and on March 16, 2017 to Pan Andean Minerals Ltd, and again on March 
2, 2021, to NEO Battery Materials Ltd. The Company is listed on the TSX Venture Exchange (“TSX.V” or the “Exchange”) 
under the symbol “NBM”. The head office, principal address and records office of the Company are located at Suite 
700 – 838 West Hastings Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada, V6C 0A6. The Company’s registered address is 
Suite 1500 - 1055 West Georgia Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada, V6E 4N7. 
 

On April 13, 2022, the Company commenced a “Change of Business” (the “COB”) application with the Exchange. In the 
past, the Company was a Vancouver-based junior resource company with exploration in North America. The Company 
deems that a classification to a Tier 2 Technology issuer on the Exchange instead of a junior Mineral Exploration and 
Mining issuer will better reflect the Company’s long-term goal and serve its shareholders’ best interests. This transition 
is in process and subject to Exchange acceptance as of the date of these financial statements. 
 
The Company’s ability to continue as a going concern on the is highly dependent upon its ability to obtain the financing 
necessary to continue operation. The key risk to the Company’s sustainability is securing the funding for its commercial 
plant’s construction in the near term. The Company’s operation is highly influenced by the capital market 
environment, supply chain, inflation, geographic stability, and global business environment in general. 
 
These unaudited condensed consolidated interim financial statements have been prepared on the basis of accounting 
principles applicable to a going concern, which assumes that the Company will continue in operation for the 
foreseeable future and will be able to realize its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of operations.  
The Company continues to incur operating losses, has limited financial resources, no source of operating cash flow, 
and no assurances that sufficient funding, including adequate financing, will be available to continue operations. These 
material uncertainties may cast a significant doubt on the validity of this assumption.  As at August 31, 2022, the 
Company had an accumulated deficit of $27,650,384 (February 28, 2022 - $28,345,399), a net loss for the period ended 
August 31, 2022 of $1,035,257 (August 31, 2021 - $1,333,344) and working capital of $2,325,572 (February 28, 2022 
– $1,260,662).  
 
If the going concern assumption is not appropriate for these consolidated financial statements, adjustments could be 
necessary in the carrying values of assets, liabilities, reported income and expenses and the statement of financial 
position classifications used.  Such adjustments could be material. 
 

2. Basis of Preparation 
 

Statement of Compliance  
 
These unaudited condensed consolidated interim financial statements have been prepared in accordance with IAS 34 
– Interim Financial Reporting as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”). Accordingly, certain 
disclosures included in annual financial statements prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the IASB have been condensed or omitted and these unaudited condensed 
consolidated interim financial statements should be read in conjunction with the Company’s audited consolidated 
financial statements for the year ended February 28, 2022.  
 
The amended condensed consolidated interim financial statements were authorized for issue by the Board of Directors 
on November 15, 2022. 
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2. Basis of Preparation - continued 

 
Basis of Presentation and Consolidation 
 
These condensed consolidated interim financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for 
financial instruments classified as financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss, which are stated at their 
fair value. In addition, these consolidated financial statements have been prepared using the accrual basis of 
accounting, except for cash flow information. 
 
Control is based on whether an investor has power over the investee and the ability to use its power over the investee 
to affect the amount of the returns. 
 
Where the Company’s interest is less than 100%, the interest attributable to outside shareholders is reflected in non-
controlling interest. Non-controlling interests in the net assets of consolidated subsidiaries are identified separately 
from the Company’s equity therein. Non-controlling interests consist of the amount of those interests at the date that 
the Company’s interest dropped below 100% and the non-controlling interests’ share of changes in equity since that 
date. 
 
These condensed consolidated interim financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and 
the entities controlled (directly or indirectly) by the Company (its subsidiaries) including Neo Battery Materials Korea 
Co, Circum-Pacific Holdings Ltd., Canada, Minera Chanape SAC, Peru and Cima De Oro SAC, Peru. All significant 
intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated. 
 
The current non-controlling interest represents a 40% interest in Neo Battery Material Korea Co (Note 5). 
 
Critical Accounting Estimates 
 
The preparation of these consolidated financial statements requires management to make certain estimates, 
judgments and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial 
statements and the reported expenses during the period. Actual results could differ from these estimates.  
 
Significant assumptions about the future and other sources of estimation uncertainty that management has made at 
the end of the reporting period, that could result in a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities in the event that actual results differ from assumptions made, relate to, but are not limited to, the following: 
 

i) The incremental rate of borrowing used in the measurement of the lease liability was based on estimated 
interest rate the Company would borrow at from arm’s-length third parties as at the dates of adopting IFRS 16 
and entering into its current long-term office lease. 

 
ii) The inputs used in accounting for stock-based compensation expense included in profit or loss calculated using 

the Black-Scholes option pricing model. 
 

iii) The valuations of shares issued in non-cash transactions using the quoted share price as the fair value-based 
measurement on the date the shares are issued for the transaction.  
 

iv) The recognition of deferred tax assets based on the change in unrecognized deductible temporary tax 
differences.  

 
v) The estimated useful lives of the intangible assets. 

 
 



NEO Battery Materials Ltd.  

Notes to the Condensed Consolidated Interim Financial Statements 
For the Six Months Ended August 31, 2022 and August 31, 2021 

 

(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)  
 
 

Page | 8  
 

 
2. Basis of Preparation - continued 

 
Recent accounting pronouncements 
 
A number of new standards, and amendments to standards and interpretations, were not yet effective for the period 
ended August 31, 2022, and have not been early adopted in preparing these consolidated financial statements. These 
new standards, and amendments to standards and interpretations were either not applicable or are not expected to 
have material impact on the company’s condensed consolidated interim financial statements. 

 
3.     Significant Accounting Policies 
 

Intangible Assets 
 
Intangible assets with finite lives are measured at cost less accumulated amortization and impairment losses. These 
intangible assets are amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. Useful lives, residual values, 
and amortization methods for intangible assets with finite useful lives are reviewed at least annually.  
 
The patents classified as intangible assets are being amortized over their useful lives, being 16 or 17 years. 
 
Indefinite life intangible assets are measured at cost less any impairment charges. These intangible assets are tested 
for impairment on an annual basis or more frequently if there are indicators that the intangible assets may be 
impaired. 

    
4.    Change in Accounting Policy 
 

The Company is applying a change to its accounting policy relating to the treatment of license fees under IAS 38 
Intangible Assets. The Company had previously expensed as incurred. The Company has adopted the policy, as 
outlined in Note 3 – Significant Accounting Policies above, to capitalize the license and patents registration fees. The 
Company had previously expensed these fees on the statement of loss and comprehensive loss. 
 
With the change, the Company aims to improve its financial communication by providing more reliable, clear and 
relevant information regarding the Company’s intangible assets to its peers in the industry. 
 
The following summarizes the impact of the change in accounting policy on the financial statement line items impacted 
in these financial statements: 
 
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position as at February 28, 2022: 
 

 
As reported 

($) 
Adjustment 

($) 
Restated Balance 

($) 
Intangible Assets - 49,210 49,210 
Total Assets 1,674,592 49,210 1,723,802 
Deficit (28,394,609) 49,210 (28,345,399) 
Shareholders’ Equity 1,496,306 49,210 1,545,516 
Total Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity 1,674,592 49,210 1,723,802 
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4.    Changing Accounting Policies – continued 

 
Consolidated Statement of Loss and Comprehensive Loss for the six months ended August 31, 2021: 
 

 
As reported 

($) 
Adjustment 

($) 
Restated Balance 

($) 
Amortization - 1,082 1,082 
License fees 10,000 (10,000) - 
Professional fees 76,610 (873) 75,737 

 
Consolidated Statement of Change in Equity for the six months ended August 31, 2021: 
 

 
As reported 

($) 
Adjustment 

($) 
Restated Balance 

($) 
Deficit, as at February 28, 2021 (26,315,235) 34,515 (26,280,720) 
Total Shareholders’ Equity, as at  
February 28, 2021 

 
(834,533) 

 
34,515 

 
(800,018) 

Net Loss for the six months ended August 
31, 2021 

 
(1,343,135) 

 
9,791 

 
(1,333,344) 

Deficit, as at August 31, 2021 (27,658,370) 44,306 (27,614,064) 
Total Shareholders’ Equity, as  
at August 31, 2021 

 
954,580 

 
44,306 998,886 

    
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flow for the six months ended August 31, 2021: 
 

 
As reported 

($) 
Adjustment 

($) 
Restated Balance 

($) 
    
Net loss for the six months ended  
August 31, 2021 

 
(1,343,135) 

 
9,791 

 
(1,333,344) 

Amortization - 1,082 1,082 
Cash used in operating activities (890,005) 10,873 (879,132) 
Cash used in investing activities - (10,873) (10,873) 

 
5.    Non-controlling Interest 

 
On July 1, 2022, Neo Battery Materials Korea Co (“Korea Co”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered 
into an Investment Agreement with Automobile & PCB Inc. (“A&P”). Under the terms of Investment Agreement, Korea 
Co issued 517,657 common shares to A&P at a price of $5,796 South Korea Won (“KRW”) per common share for 
aggregate gross proceeds of $2,999,820,383 KRW (equivalent to CAD $2,978,822). Upon closing of the Investment 
Agreement, A&P acquired 40% of the issued and outstanding common shares of Korea Co, leaving the Company with 
a 60% ownership interest in Korea Co on an issued and outstanding basis.  
 
The Company controls and therefore includes the accounts of NEO Korea Co in these consolidated financial 
statements. A non-controlling interest (“NCI”) of $1,363,322 was recognized as being equal to 40% of the net assets 
of NEO Korea Co immediately after completion of the Investment Agreement. As funds are expended by NEO Korea 
Co, it is anticipated that losses will arise in that entity, which will reduce the collective NCI amount, recorded within 
equity, by its pro-rata share of such losses. The Company’s share of such losses would be included within its expenses 
on a consolidated basis.  Likewise on a consolidated basis the losses of NEO Korea Co attributable to the NCI would 
reduce the Company’s reported loss. 
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5.    Non-controlling Interest - continued 

 
As at August 31, 2022, the details of the NCI are as follows: 

 
Non-controlling interest in net asset given up  $ 1,363,322 
Net loss of NEO Korea Co attributable to the non-controlling interest   (114,772) 
Non-controlling interest as at August 31, 2022  $ 1,248,550 

 
6.    Marketable Securities 
           
         As at August 31, 2022, marketable securities include 100,000 common shares of a publicly traded company, Pembridge 

Resources PLC, valued at $5,077 (February 28, 2022 - $7,910).  
 

 August 31, 2022 
$ 

 February 28, 2022 
$ 

Marketable securities – fair value  5,077   7,910 
Marketable securities – cost  22,200   22,200 
 

7.      Prepaid Expenses 
 

          August 31, 2022 
$ 

 February 28, 2022 
$ 

Prepaid Expenses - current      
Insurance   5,064   4,579 
Rent (a)  23,322   43,736 
Travel  8,932   10,550 
Vendors   51,245   103,000 
Short-term prepaid  88,563   161,865 
Prepaid Expenses – long term      
Insurance (b)  29,137   31,212 
Vendors (c)  672,463   - 
Long-term prepaid  701,600   31,212 
Total   790,163   193,077 

 
(a) Includes payments made to rent a site to build the Company’s commercial plant in South Korea for the period 

from September 1, 2022 to December 31, 2022.  
(b) Includes an insurance payment made to guarantee the deposit held for building the Company’s commercial 

plant in South Korea for the period from March 1, 2023 to February 28, 2032. 
(c) Includes payments made to building and process design fees for the Company’s commercial plant in South 

Korea. Such costs will be reclassified to buildings upon the completion of the facility. 
 

8.      Sales Tax Receivables  
          August 31, 2022 

$ 
 February 28, 2022 

$ 
      
Sales tax (GST & VAT)  29,296   21,423 
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9.      Exploration and Evaluation Assets and Expenditures 
 
 Details of the Company’s exploration and evaluation acquisition costs are as follows: 
 

 

 

 

August 31, 2022 
$ 

 February 28, 2022 
$ 

Beginning of the period   1,344  1,344 
Impairment   (1,344)  - 
Carrying value – end of the period   -  1,344 
 
In connection with the COB, the Company impaired its remaining exploration and evaluation assets during the six 
months ended August 31, 2022. 
 

10.    Equipment 
   

The Company purchased equipment for its research and development center, located at Yonsei University (“Yonsei”), 
South Korea. Such equipment has alternative uses in other business if the Company, in the future, ceases the research 
and development activities. 
 
The net book value of the Company’s equipment is as follows: 
 

  Equipment Total  
Cost:    
February 28, 2021  $ -  $ - 
Additions  192,761 192,761 
February 28, 2022  192,761 192,761 
Additions  326,969   326,969 
August 31, 2022 $ 519,730  $ 519,730 

 
Accumulated Amortization:    
February 28, 2021  $ -  $ - 
Additions  (12,232) (12,232) 
February 28, 2022  (12,232) (12,232) 
Additions  (35,902)   (35,902) 
August 31, 2022 $ (48,134)  $ (48,134) 

 
Net Book Value:    
February 28, 2022  180,529 180,529 
August 31, 2022 $ 471,596  $ 471,596 

 
11.    Research and Development  
 

On August 23, 2022, NEO Korea Co entered an Industrial Advice Agreement (“the Agreement”) with Yonsei to replace 
the original Collaborative Development Agreement signed between the Company and Yonsei on May 10, 2021. The 
term of the Agreement runs from August 1, 2022 to May 31, 2023, over which time NEO Korea Co will be responsible 
for research and development costs of approximately $125,970 (South Korea Won (“KRW”) 130,000,000). 
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11.    Research and Development - continued  

 
During the six months ended August 31, 2022, the Company incurred research and development costs of $151,626, of 
which $71,838 (August 31, 2021 - $33,265) was in connection with the Agreement.  
 

12.    Intangible Assets 
 

Patents 
 
On February 8, 2021, the Company entered into an Exclusive License Agreement with Yonsei (the “1st Agreement”) to 
obtain exclusive rights to use the three patents owned by Yonsei. Under the terms of the 1st Agreement, the Company 
paid an initial license fee of $35,030 during the year ended February 28, 2021. The remaining license fee of $267,887 
will be due upon the first sale of the product produced based on the use of the patents.  
 
On July 22, 2021, the Company entered into a second Exclusive License Agreement with Yonsei (the “2nd Agreement”) 
to obtain exclusive rights to use a separate patent owned by Yonsei. Under the term of the 2nd Agreement, the 
Company paid an initial license fee of $10,000 during the year ended February 28, 2022. The remaining license fee of 
$40,000 will be due upon the first sale of the product produced based on the use of the patent.  
 
The Company also incurred $7,119 of registration fees, documentation fees and other professional fees associated 
with patent registration during the year ended February 28, 2022 (2021 - $nil).   
 
As at August 31, 2022, intangible assets include three registered patents and two patents pending registration. For 
the purpose of calculating amortization, all of the patents have an expiry date of February 8, 2038.  
 
The net book value of the Company’s intangible assets is as follows: 
 

  Patents Total  
Cost:    
February 28, 2021  $ 35,030  $ 35,030 
Additions  17,119 17,119 
February 28, 2022  52,149 52,149 
Additions  -   - 
August 31, 2022 $ 52,149  $ 52,149 

 
Accumulated Amortization:    
February 28, 2021  $ (515)  $ (515) 
Additions  (2,424) (2,424) 
February 28, 2022  (2,939) (2,939) 
Additions  (1,564)   (1,564) 
August 31, 2022 $ (4,503)  $ (4,503) 

 
Net Book Value:    
February 28, 2022  49,210 49,210 
August 31, 2022 $ 47,646  $ 47,646 

 
(see Note 4) 
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13.    Financial Risk and Capital Management 

 
The Company is exposed in varying degrees to a variety of financial instrument related risks. The Board of Directors 
approves and monitors the risk management processes, inclusive of documented investment policies, counterparty 
limits, and controlling and reporting structures. The type of risk exposure and the way in which such exposure is 
managed is summarized as follows:  

           
         Credit risk  

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an obligation and cause the other 
party to incur a financial loss. The Company’s primary exposure to credit risk is on its cash held in bank accounts. The 
majority of cash is deposited in bank accounts at a major bank in Canada and a major bank in South Korea. As most of 
the Company’s cash is held by two banks there is a concentration of credit risk. This risk is managed by using major 
banks that are high credit quality financial institutions as determined by rating agencies. The Company’s exposure to 
credit risk is minimal. 

   
Liquidity risk  
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Company 
ensures that there are sufficient funds to meet its short-term business requirements, taking into account its 
anticipated cash flows from operations and its holdings of cash.  

 
Historically, the Company’s sole source of funding has been the issuance of equity securities for cash, primarily through 
private placements. The Company’s access to financing is always uncertain. There can be no assurance of continued 
access to necessary levels of equity funding. The Company manages liquidity by maintaining a certain level of cash 
balances to meet liabilities as they become due.  As at August 31, 2022, the Company has a cash balance of $2,356,391 
and current liabilities of $153,755. 
 
Market risk  
Market risk is the risk of loss that may arise from changes in market factors such as interest rates, foreign exchange 
rates, and commodity and equity prices. The Company’s financial instruments include investments which are publicly 
traded and therefore subject to the risks related to the fluctuation in the equity markets. The Company closely 
monitors market values to determine the most appropriate course of action.  
 
Foreign exchange risk  
Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair values of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because 
they are denominated in currencies that differ from the respective functional currency. The Company’s cash, accounts 
receivable, and accounts payable and accrued liabilities are held in CAD and in KRW; therefore, KRW accounts are 
subject to fluctuation against the CAD.  

 
         Interest rate risk  

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of 
changes in market interest rates. The Company is not exposed to significant interest rate risks. 

 
         Capital management  

The Company’s policy is, if permitted by market conditions, to maintain a strong capital base so as to support investor 
and creditor confidence and support future development of the business. The capital structure of the Company 
consists of equity, comprising share capital and reserves net of accumulated deficit. The Company is not subject to 
any externally imposed capital requirements. 
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14.    Financial Instruments  
 

The three levels of the friar value hierarchy are as follows:   
 
• Level 1 –   Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities in active markets;  
• Level 2 – Observable inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1, such as quoted prices for similar assets 

and liabilities in active market; quoted prices for identical or similar assets and liabilities in markets that are not 
active, or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data; and 

• Level 3 – Unobservable inputs which are supported by little or no market activity.  
 

As required by IFRS 13, assets and liabilities are classified in their entirety based on the lowest level of input that is 
significant to the fair value measurement. Cash and marketable securities are measured at fair value using Level 1 
inputs. 
 
As at August 31, 2022, the Company’s marketable securities are valued based on the closing trading price of the shares 
on public stock exchange at the year-end date. 

         
15.   Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities 
 

          August 31, 2022 
$ 

 February 28, 2022 
$ 

      
Trade payables   145,586   149,639 
Accrued liabilities  8,169   16,480 
Total   153,755   166,119 
 

16.    Right-Of-Use Asset & Lease Liability  
 

The Company had an office lease for the period from May 1, 2019 to April 30, 2022.  Minimum annual commitments 
for basic rent, excluding additional operating costs, were as follows: 

 
Year Amount 
2020  $ 64,362 
2021   80,032 
2022   83,390 
2023   13,992 

  $ 241,776 
 

(a) Right-of-use asset 
 

As at August 31, 2022 and February 28, 2022, the carrying value of the Company’s right-of-use asset for its 
office lease was as follows:  

 
 August 31, 2022 February 28, 2022 
 $ $ 
Opening balance 9,962 69,733 
Amortization (9,962) (59,771) 
Ending balance    - 9,962 
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16.    Right-Of-Use Asset & Lease Liability - continued 

 
(b) Lease liability 
 

Minimum lease payment in respect of the office lease liability and the effect of discounting as at August 31, 
2022 and February 28, 2022 were as follows: 

 August 31, 2022 February 28, 2022 
 $ $ 
Undiscounted minimum lease payment:   
   Less than one year - 13,992 
   More than one year - - 
   Total undiscounted minimum lease payment - 13,992 
   Effect of discounting  - (1,825) 
   Present value of minimum lease payment - 12,167 
   Less: current portion - (12,167) 
   Long-term portion - - 

 
(c) Lease liability continuity 
 

The net changes in the Company’s lease liability during the periods ended August 31, 2022 and February 28, 
2022 were as follows: 
 August 31, 2022 February 28, 2022 
 $ $ 
Beginning balance 12,167 83,093 
Principal payments (12,167) (70,926) 
Ending balance    - 12,167 

  
(d) Lease liability interest and sublease income  

 
During the six months ended August 31, 2022, the Company recorded $1,857 (2022 - $6,893) of interest expense 
on the lease liability and received $5,925 (2022 - $28,035) of sublease income.  

 
17.    Share Capital 

 
The Company’s authorized share capital consists of an unlimited number of common voting shares without par value. 
 
Private Placements  

 
Six Months Ended August 31, 2022 
 
The Company did not complete any private placements during the six months ended August 31, 2022.  
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17.    Share Capital – continued  

 
Private Placements - continued 
 
Year Ended February 28, 2022 

 
On May 4, 2021, the Company completed a non-brokered private placement of 17,141,667 units at a price of $0.12 
per unit for gross proceeds of $2,057,000.  Each unit consisted of one common share and one common share warrant, 
with each warrant entitling the holder to purchase one common share at a price of $0.16 per common share for 36 
months from the closing date of the private placement. Under the fair value method, $886,000 of the proceeds were 
allocated to the warrants. The fair value of the warrants was calculated using the Black-Scholes Option Pricing Model 
with the following assumptions: 0.49% risk-free interest rate, 3 years of expected life, 218% volatility and 0% dividend 
rate.   
 
Share issuance - Exercise of Warrants 

 
Six Months Ended August 31, 2022 
 
During the six months ended August 31, 2022, 333,332 warrants were exercised at a price of $0.16 per warrant for 
total proceeds of $53,333. Upon the exercise of the warrants, $17,233 of the fair value of the warrants recorded was 
transferred from reserves to share capital.  
 
Year Ended February 28, 2022 
 
During the year ended February 28, 2022, 1,000,000 and 8,500,000 warrants were exercised at a price of $0.30 and 
$0.16 per warrant, respectively, for total proceeds of $1,660,000. Upon the exercise of the warrants, $465,340 of the 
fair value of the warrants recorded was transferred from reserves to share capital.  
 
Share issuance - Exercise of Stock Options  

 
Six Months Ended August 31, 2022 
 
During the six months ended August 31, 2022, 20,000 stock options were exercised at a price of $0.20 per share for 
total proceeds of $4,000. Upon the exercise of the options, $3,800 of the fair value of the options recorded was 
transferred from reserves to share capital. 
 
Year Ended February 28, 2022 
 
During the year ended February 28, 2022, 600,000 and 50,000 stock options were exercised at a price of $0.06 and 
$0.20 per share, respectively, for total proceeds of $46,000. Upon the exercise of the options, $45,166 of the fair value 
of the options recorded was transferred from reserves to share capital. 
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17.   Share Capital – continued 

 
Share Purchase Warrants  
 

 Share purchase warrant transactions are summarized as follows:  
 
 
 

Number of  
Warrants 

Weighted Average 
Exercise Price  

  $ 
Balance, February 28, 2021 4,500,000 0.30 
Issued 17,141,667 0.16 
Exercised (9,500,000) 0.17 
Expired (3,500,000) 0.30 
Balance, February 28, 2022 8,641,667 0.16 
Exercised (333,332) 0.16 
Balance, August 31, 2022 8,308,335 0.16 
 

As at August 31, 2022, outstanding warrants are as follows:  
 

 
 

Expiry Date 

 
 

Exercise Price ($) 

 
 

Number of Warrants 

Weighted Average 
Life Remaining 

(Years) 
May 4, 2024 0.16 8,308,335 1.68 

 
Stock Options 

 
The Company has established a stock option plan (the "Plan") for directors, employees, and consultants of the 
Company. From time to time, shares may be reserved by the Board, in its discretion, for options under the Plan, 
provided that at the time of the grant, the total number of shares so reserved for issuance by the Board shall not 
exceed the greater of 10% of the issued and outstanding listed shares (on a non-diluted basis) as at the date of grant. 
No options shall be granted, without regulatory approval, entitling any single individual to purchase in excess of 5% of 
the then outstanding shares in the Company in any 12-month period and no more than 2% of the optioned shares 
may be issued to any one individual in any 12-month period.  If the option rights granted under the plan shall expire 
or terminate for any reason without having been exercised, such optioned shares may be made available for other 
options to be granted under the plan. The shares so reserved by the Board under the Plan shall be authorized but 
unissued shares.  
 
The options are non-transferable and will expire, if not exercised, immediately upon dismissal by the Company with 
cause or 90 days following the date the optionee otherwise ceases to be a director, officer, manager, consultant or 
employee of the Company for reasons other than death. In the case of death, the expiry becomes one year after the 
death of an optionee. Pursuant to the policies of the TSX.V, options granted pursuant to the Plan in excess of 10% of 
the issued and outstanding common shares at the time of the grant must be subject to vesting. 
 
The Board has previously established a rolling Stock Option Plan which reserves for issuance up to 10% of the 
Company's outstanding common shares.  The policies of the TSX Venture exchange require such stock option plans to 
be approved annually by the Company's shareholders by way of an ordinary resolution.  Shareholder approval shall 
be sought at the next AGM for the Stock Option Plan, as such, any options issued prior to such approval shall not be 
exercisable until such approval is granted by shareholders. 
 
 



NEO Battery Materials Ltd.  

Notes to the Condensed Consolidated Interim Financial Statements 
For the Six Months Ended August 31, 2022 and August 31, 2021 

 

(Expressed in Canadian Dollars)  
 
 

Page | 18  
 

 
17.   Share Capital – continued 

 
Stock Options – continued 
 
Stock option transactions are summarized as follows: 
 

 
 

Number of  
Options 

Weighted Average 
Exercise Price 

  $ 
Balance, February 28, 2021 6,505,000 0.12 
Granted 1,350,000 0.65 
Corrected (canceled by error) 150,000 0.06 
Exercised (650,000) 0.07 
Canceled (90,000) 0.20 
Balance, February 28, 2022 7,265,000 0.22 
Exercised (20,000) 0.20 
Canceled (40,000) 0.33 
Balance, August 31, 2022 7,205,000 0.22 

 
As at August 31, 2022, outstanding stock options are as follows: 
 

Expiry Date Weighted Average 
Exercise Price 

Number of Options 
Outstanding 

Number of Options 
Exercisable 

Weighted Average 
Remaining Life 

(Years) 
March 21, 2023 $0.06 1,200,000 1,200,000 0.55 
February 28, 2024 $0.06 1,925,000 1,925,000 1.50 
February 10, 2026 $0.20 2,840,000 2,840,000 3.45 
May 13, 2026 $0.20 320,000 320,000 3.70 
May 25, 2026 $0.20 30,000 30,000 3.73 
June 1, 2026 $0.20 100,000 100,000 3.75 
June 9, 2026 $0.33 40,000 40,000 3.78 
July 30, 2026 $1.00 750,000 750,000 3.92 
 $0.22 7,205,000 7,205,000 2.51 

 
18.   Related Party Transactions  

 
Related parties include the Company’s key management personnel with authority and responsibility for planning, 
directing and controlling activities of the Company. The Company has determined that its key management personnel 
is comprised of the Company’s Board of Directors and officers, and the entities controlled by the key management 
personnel.   
 
As at August 31, 2022 and February 28, 2022, there were no balances due to related parties.  
 
During the six months ended August 31, 2022 and 2021, the Company paid the following amount to the officers and 
directors of the Company and an entity controlled by the CEO:  
 

  August 31, 2022 August 31, 2021 
Management fees  $ 159,277 $ 96,200 
Professional fees   48,810  27,952 
  $ 208,087 $ 124,152 
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19.   Segmented Information  
 
 The Company currently operates in two geographic segments: Canada and South Korea. No industry segregation is 

given because the Company’s mineral activities are not material. 
 
 Canada ($) Korea ($) Total ($) 
Total assets               225,624    3,475,889            3,701,513 
Total liabilities  96,650 57,105 153,755 
 

20.    Contingency 
 

A former director of the Company filed a Notice of Civil Claim (the “Claim”) against the Company on December 17, 
2021 in the Supreme Court of British Columbia seeking a court order compelling the Company to accept his exercise 
of the Company’s stock options granted to him on March 21, 2018 and to issue to him 350,000 common shares of the 
Company upon the receipt of payment of $21,000 (the "Order"). On January 25, 2022, the Company filed a response 
to the Claim to appeal against the Order.  
 
As at August 31, 2022, the final conclusion of the Claim was indeterminable and no amount of contingency was 
recorded.  
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INCENTIVE STOCK OPTION PLAN 

 



NEO BATTERY MATERIALS LTD. 
 

2021 STOCK OPTION PLAN 
 

1. PURPOSE OF THE PLAN 
 

                    The Company hereby establishes a stock option plan for directors, officers, Employees, Management 
Company Employees and Consultants of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, “Eligible 
Persons”), to be known as the “2021 Stock Option Plan” (the “Plan”). The purpose of the Plan is to give 
to Eligible Persons, as additional compensation, the opportunity to participate in the success of the 
Company by granting to such individuals options, exercisable over periods of up to ten (10) years as 
determined by the Board, to buy shares of the Company at a price not less than the Market Price prevailing 
on the date the option is granted less any applicable discount permitted by the TSX Policies and approved 
by the Board. 

 
2. DEFINITIONS 
 

           In this Plan, the following terms shall have the following meanings: 

2.1  “Associate” means an “Associate” as defined in the TSX Policies. 

2.2  “Board” means Board of Directors of the Company as constituted from time to time. 

2.3  “Change of Control” means the acquisition by any person or by any person and all Joint Actors, 
whether directly or indirectly, of voting securities (as defined in the Securities Act) of the Company, 
which, when added to all other voting securities of the Company at the time held by such person or 
by such person and a Joint Actor, totals for the first time not less than fifty percent (50%) of the 
outstanding voting securities of the Company or the votes attached to those securities are sufficient, 
if exercised, to elect a majority of the Board. 

  2.4   “Company” means NEO Battery Materials Ltd. and its successors. 

 2.5   “Consultant” means a “Consultant” as defined in the TSX Policies. 

 2.6   “Consultant Company” means a “Consultant Company” as defined in TSX Policies. 

2.7  “Disability” means any disability with respect to an Optionee which the Board, in its sole and  
unfettered discretion, considers likely to prevent permanently the Optionee from: 

(a) being employed or engaged by the Company, its subsidiaries or another employer, in a 
position the same as or similar to that in which he was last employed or engaged by the 
Company or its subsidiaries; or 

(b) acting as a director or officer of the Company or its subsidiaries. 
 

2.8  “Discounted Market Price” means, in respect of Shares on a particular grant date, the Market Price 
less the maximum discount permitted by the Exchanges applicable to incentive stocks options 

2.9  “Disinterested Shareholder Approval” means approval by a majority of votes attaching to 
shares voted a meeting of shareholders of the Company, excluding the votes attaching to shares 
held by persons with an interest in subject matter of the resolution, in accordance with TSX 
Policies. 
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2.10 "Eligible Persons" has the meaning given to that term in section 1 hereof. 
 

2.11 "Employee" means an "Employee" as defined in the TSX Policies. 
 

2.12 "Exchanges" means the TSX Venture Exchange and, if applicable, any other stock exchange on 
which the Shares are listed. 

 
2.13 "Expiry Date" means the date set by the Board under paragraph 3.1 of the Plan as the last date on 

which an Option may be exercised, as may be extended in accordance with paragraph 4.5 of the 
Plan. 

 
2.14 "Grant Date" means the date specified in an Option Agreement as the date on which an Option is 

granted. 
 

2.15 "Insider" means an "Insider" as defined in the TSX Policies. 
 

2.16 "Investor Relations Activities" means "Investor Relations Activities" as defined in the TSX 
Policies. 

 
2.17 "Joint Actor" means a person "acting jointly or in concert" with another person as that phrase is 

interpreted in Multilateral Instrument 62-104 Take-Over Bids and Issuer Bids. 
 

2.18 "Management Company Employee" means a "Management Company Employee" as defined in 
the TSX Policies. 

 
2.19 "Market Price" of Shares at any Grant Date means the last closing price per Share on the last day 

on which Shares were traded prior to the day on which the Company announces the grant of the 
Option or, if the grant is not announced, on the Grant Date, or if the Shares are not listed on any 
stock exchange, "Market Price" of Shares means the price per Share on the over-the-counter 
market determined by dividing the aggregate sale price of the Shares sold by the total number of 
such Shares so sold on the applicable market for the last day prior to the Grant Date. 

 
2.20 "Option" means an option to purchase Shares granted pursuant to, or otherwise subject to, this 

Plan. 
 

2.21 "Option Agreement" means an agreement, in the form attached hereto as Schedule "A", whereby 
the Company grants to an Optionee an Option. 

 
2.22 "Optionee" means each of the Eligible Persons granted an Option pursuant to this Plan and their 

heirs, executors and administrators. 
 

2.23 "Option Price" means the exercise price of an Option, being the price per Share at which the 
Optionee may acquire Option Shares pursuant to the exercise of such Option, such price to be 
specified in the Option Agreement for such Option, as adjusted from time to time in accordance 
with the provisions of section 5. 

 
2.24 "Option Shares" means the aggregate number of Shares which an Optionee may purchase under 

an Option. 
 

2.25 "Plan" means this 2009 Stock Option Plan. 
 

2.26 "Securities Act" means the Securities Act, R.S.B.C. 1996, c.418, as amended, as at the date 
hereof. 
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2.27 "Shares" means the common shares in the capital of the Company as constituted on the Grant Date 
provided that, in the event of any adjustment pursuant to section 5, "Shares" shall thereafter mean 
the shares or other property resulting from the events giving rise to the adjustment. 

 
2.28 "TSX Policies" means the policies included in the TSX Venture Exchange Corporate Finance 

Manual and "TSX Policy" means any one of them, and such terms include the policies of any other 
stock exchange or quotation system on which the Shares may be listed or quoted. 

 
2.29 "Unissued Option Shares" means the number of Shares, at a particular time, which have been 

reserved for issuance upon the exercise of an Option but which have not been issued, as adjusted 
from time to time in accordance with the provisions of section 5, such adjustments to be 
cumulative. 

 
2.30 "Vested" means that an Option has become exercisable in respect of a number of Option Shares 

by the Optionee pursuant to the terms of the Option Agreement. 
 

3. GRANT OF OPTIONS 
 

3.1 Option Terms 
 

The Board may from time to time authorize the grant of Options to Eligible Persons. The Option 
Price of each Option shall be not less than the Discounted Market Price on the Grant Date provided that if 
an Option is granted within 90 days of the distribution of Shares by the Company pursuant to a prospectus, 
the Option Price must be the greater of the Discounted Market Price and the per share price paid for Shares 
acquired under such distribution. The 90 day period begins: (a) on the date a final receipt is issued for the 
prospectus, or, in the case of an initial public offering of Shares, on the date of listing of the Shares; or (ii) 
in the case of a prospectus that qualifies the distribution of Shares upon the exercise of special warrants, 
on the date of issuance of such special warrants. 

 
The Expiry Date for each Option shall be set by the Board at the time of issue of the Option and 

shall not be more than ten (10) years after the Grant Date, subject to the operation of paragraph 4.5 Options 
shall not be assignable (or transferable) by the Optionee. 

 
3.2 Previously Granted Options 

 
In the event that on the date this Plan is implemented and effective (the "Effective Date") there 

are outstanding stock options (the "Pre-Existing Options") that were previously granted by the Company 
pursuant to any stock option plan in place prior to the Effective Date (a "Pre-Existing Plan"), all such Pre-
Existing Options shall, effective as of the Effective Date, be governed by and subject to the terms of the 
Plan. 

 
3.3 Limits on Shares Issuable on Exercise of Options 

 
At the time of grant of any Option, the aggregate number of Shares reserved for issuance under the 

Plan which may be made subject to Options at any time and from time to time (including those issuable 
upon the exercise of Pre-Existing Options) shall not exceed 10% of the total number of issued and 
outstanding Shares, on a non-diluted basis, as constituted on the Grant Date of such Option. 

 
Any Shares subject to an Option which has been granted under the Plan and which has been 

subsequently cancelled or terminated in accordance with the terms of the Plan, without having been 
exercised, will again be available for issuance pursuant to the exercise of Options granted under the Plan. 
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The number of Shares which may be issuable under the Plan, together with all of the Company's 
other previously established or proposed share compensation arrangements, within a one-year period: 

 
(a) to any one Optionee, shall not exceed 5% of the total number of issued and outstanding 

Shares on the Grant Date on a non-diluted basis, unless the Company has obtained 
Disinterested Shareholder Approval to exceed such limit, if required by TSX Pol icies; 

 
(b) to Insiders as a group shall not exceed l0% of the total number of issued and outstanding 

Shares on the Grant Date on a non-diluted basis, unless the Company has obtained 
Disinterested Shareholder Approval to exceed such limit, if required by TSX Polic ies; 

 
          to any one Consultant shall not exceed 2% of the total number of issued and outstanding 

Shares on the Grant Date on a non-diluted basis; and 
 
(d)        to all Eligible Persons who undertake Investor Relations Activities shall not exceed 2% 

in the aggregate of the total number of issued and outstanding Shares on the Grant Date 
on a non-diluted basis. 

 
3.4 Option Agreements 

Each Option shall be confirmed by the execution of an Option Agreement. Each Optionee shall 
have the option to purchase from the Company the Option Shares at the time and in the manner set out in 
the Plan and in the Option Agreement applicable to that Optionee. In respect of Options granted to 
Employees, Consultants, Consultant Companies or Management Company Employees, such person is 
required to be, and the Company will represent in the applicable Option Agreement, that the Optionee is a 
bona fide Employee, Consultant, Consultant Company or Management Company Employee, as the case 
may be, of the Company or its subsidiary. The execution of an Option Agreement by the Company shall 
constitute conclusive evidence that the Option issued thereunder has been issued in compliance with this 
Plan. 

 
 

4. EXERCISE OF OPTION 
 

4.1 When Options May be Exercised 
 

Subject to paragraphs 4.3, 4.4 and 4.5, an Option may be exercised to purchase any number of 
Option Shares up to the number of Vested Unissued Option Shires at any time after the Grant Date up to 
4:00 p.m. Pacific Standard Time on the Expiry Date and shall not be exercisable thereafter. 

 
4.2 Manner of Exercise 

 
The Option shall be exercisable by delivering to the Company a written notice specifying the 

number of Option Shares in respect of which the Option is being exercised together with payment in full of 
the Option Price for each such Option Share. Upon receipt of such notice and payment by the Company, 
there will be a binding contract for the issue of the Option Shares in respect of which the Option is exercised, 
upon and subject to the provisions of the Plan. Delivery of the Optionee’s cheque payable to the Company 
in the amount of the Option Price shall constitute payment of the Option Price unless the cheque is not 
honoured upon presentation in which case the Option shall not have been validly exercised. 

4.3 Vesting of Option Shares 

The Board, subject to the policies of the Exchanges, may determine and impose terms upon 
which each Option shall become Vested in respect of Option Shares. Unless otherwise specified by the 
Board at the time of granting an Option, and subject to the other limits on Option grants set out in 
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paragraph 3.3 hereof, all Options granted under the Plan shall vest and become exercisable in full upon 
grant, except Options granted to Consultants performing Investor Relations Activities, which Options 
must vest in stages over twelve months with no more than one-quarter of the Options vesting in any three 
month period. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event that a Pre-Existing Plan imposed vesting 
requirements on a Pre-Existing Option, such vesting requirements must be satisfied before any such Pre- 
Existing Options shall become Vested. 

 
4.4 Termination of Employment 

 
If an Optionee ceases to be an Eligible Person, his or her Option shall be exercisable as follows 

(subject to any extension that may be approved by the Board and permitted by TSX Policies): 
 

(z) Death or Disability 
 

If the Optionee ceases to be an Eligible Person, due to his or her death or Disability or, in 
the case of an Optionee that is a company, the death or Disability of the person who 
provides management or consulting services to the Company or to any entity controlled 
by the Company, the Option then held by the Optionee shall be exercisable to acquire 
Vested Unissued Option Shares at any time up to but not after the earlier of: 

 
(i) 365 days after the date of death or Disability; and 

 
(ii) the Expiry Date; 

 
(b) Termination For Cause 

 
If the Optionee ceases to be an Eligible Person as a result of "termination for cause" of 
such Optionee by the Company or its subsidiary (or in the case of an Optionee who is a 
Management Company Employee or Consultant, by the Optionee's employer), as that 
term is interpreted by the courts of the jurisdiction in which the Optionee is employed or 
engaged, any outstanding Option held by such Optionee on the date of such termination, 
whether in respect of Option Shares that are Vested or not, shall be cancelled as of that 
date. 

          Early Retirement, Voluntary Resignation or Termination Other than For Cause 
 

If the Optionee ceases to be an Eligible Person due to his or her retirement at the request 
of his or her employer earlier than the normal retirement date under the Company's 
retirement policy then in force, or due to his or her voluntary resignation, or to his or her 
termination by the Company or its subsidiary other than for cause (or, in the case of an 
Optionee who is a Management Company Employee or a Consultant, the termination of 
the company providing management or consultant services to the Company or its 
subsidiary), any outstanding Option then held by such Optionee shall be exercisable to 
acquire Vested Unissued Option Shares at any time up to but not after the earlier of: (i) 
the Expiry Date; and (ii) the date that is 90 days (or 30 days if the Optionee was engaged 
in Investor Relations Activities) after the Optionee ceases to be an Eligible Person. 

(d) Spin-Out Transactions 
 

If pursuant to the operation of sub-paragraph 5.3(c) an Optionee receives options (the 
"New Options") to purchase securities of another company (the "New Company") in 
respect of the Optionee's Options (the "Subject Options"), the New Options shall expire 
on the earlier of: (i) the Expiry Date of the Subject Options; (ii) if the Optionee does not 
become an Eligible Person in respect of the New Company, the date that the Subject 
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Options expire pursuant to sub-paragraph 4.4(a), (b) or (c), as applicable; (iii) if the 
Optionee becomes an Eligible Person in respect of the New Company, the date that the 
New Options expire pursuant to the terms of the New Company's stock option plan that 
correspond to sub-paragraphs 4.4(a), (b) or (c) hereof; and (iv) the date that is two (2) 
years after the Optionee ceases to be an Eligible Person in respect of the New Company 
or such shorter period as determined by the Board. 

 
For purposes of this paragraph 4.4, the dates of death, Disability, termination, retirement, voluntary 
resignation, ceasing to be an Eligible Person and incapacity shall be interpreted to be without regard to 
any period of notice (statutory or otherwise) or whether the Optionee or his or her estate continues 
thereafter to receive any compensatory payments from the Company or is paid salary by the Company in 
lieu of notice of termination. 

 
For greater certainty, an Option that had not become Vested in respect of certain Unissued Option Shares 
at the time that the relevant event referred to in this paragraph 4.4 occurred, shall not be or become 
Vested or exercisable in respect of such Unissued Option Shares and shall be cancelled. 

 
4.5 Extension of Expiry Date During Black-Out Period 

 
If the Expiry Date in respect of any Option occurs during or within five (5) trading days 

following a trading black-out period imposed by the Company, the Expiry Date of the Option shall be 
automatically extended to the date that is ten (10) trading days following the end of such black-out period 
(the "Extension Period"); provided that if an additional black-out period is subsequently imposed by the 
Company during the Extension Period, then such Extension Period shall be deemed to commence 
following the end of such additional black-out period to enable the exercise of such Options within ten 
(10) trading days following the end of the last imposed black-out period. 

 
4.6 Effect of a Take-Over Bid 

 
If a bona fide offer (an "Offer") for Shares is made to the Optionee or to shareholders of the 

Company generally or to a class of shareholders which includes the Optionee, which Offer, if accepted in 
whole or in part, would result in the offeror becoming a control person of the Company, within the 
meaning of subsection 1(1) of the Securities Act, the Company shall, immediately upon receipt of notice 
of the Offer, notify each Optionee of full particulars of the Offer, whereupon (subject to the approval of 
the Exchanges) all Option Shares subject to such Option will become Vested and the Option may be 
exercised in whole or in part by the Optionee so as to permit the Optionee to tender the Option Shares 
received upon such exercise, pursuant to the Offer. However, if: 

 
(a) the Offer is not completed within the time specified therein; or 

 
(b) all of the Option Shares tendered by the Optionee pursuant to the Offer are not taken up 

or paid for by the offeror in respect thereof, 
 

then the Option Shares received upon such exercise, or in the case of sub-paragraph (b) above, the Option 
Shares that are not taken up and paid for, may be returned by the Optionee to the Company and reinstated 
as authorized but unissued Shares and with respect to such returned Option Shares, the Option shall be 
reinstated as if it had not been exercised and the terms upon which such Option Shares were to become 
Vested pursuant to paragraph 4.3 shall be reinstated. I f  any Option Shares are returned to the Company 
under this paragraph 4.6, the Company shall immediately refund the exercise price to the Optionee for 
such Option Shares. 
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4.7 Acceleration of Expiry Date 
 

If at any time when an Option granted under the Plan remains unexercised with respect to any 
Unissued Option Shares, an Offer is made by an offeror, the Board may, upon notifying each Optionee of 
full particulars of the Offer, declare all Option Shares issuable upon the exercise of Options granted under 
the Plan, Vested, and declare that the Expiry Date for the exercise of all unexercised Options granted under 
the Plan is accelerated so that all Options will either be exercised or will expire prior to the date upon which 
Shares must be tendered pursuant to the Offer. The Board shall give each Optionee as much notice as 
possible of the acceleration of the Options under this paragraph, except that not less than 5 business days 
and not more than 35 days notice is required. 

 
4.8 Compulsory Acquisition or Going Private Transaction 

 
If and whenever, following a take-over bid or issuer bid, there shall be a compulsory acquisition 

of the Shares of the Company pursuant to Division 6 of the Business Corporations Act (British Columbia) 
or any successor or similar legislation, or any amalgamation, merger or arrangement in which securities 
acquired in a formal take-over bid may be voted under the conditions described in Section 8.2 of 
Multilateral Instrument 61-101 Protection of Minority Security Holders in Special Transactions, then 
following the date upon which such compulsory acquisition, amalgamation, merger or arrangement is 
effective, an Optionee shall be entitled to receive, and shall accept, for the same exercise price, in lieu of 
the number of Shares to which such Optionee was theretofore entitled to purchase upon the exercise of his 
or her Options, the aggregate amount of cash, shares, other securities or other property which such Optionee 
would have been entitled to receive as a result of such bid if he or she had tendered such number of Shares 
to the take-over bid. 

 
4.9 Effect of a Change of Control 

 
If a Change of Control occurs, all Option Shares subject to each outstanding Option will become 

Vested, whereupon such Option may be exercised in whole or in part by the Optionee, subject to the 
approval of the Exchanges, if necessary. 

 
4.10 Exclusion From Severance Allowance, Retirement Allowance or Termination Settlement 

 
If the Optionee retires, resigns or is terminated from employment or engagement with the Company 

or any subsidiary of the Company (including, in the case of a Management Company Employee or 
Consultant, termination of the company providing such management or consulting services to the Company 
or its subsidiary), the loss or limitation, if any, pursuant to the Option Agreement with respect to the right 
to purchase Option Shares which were not Vested at that time or which, if Vested, were cancelled, shall 
not give rise to any right to damages and shall not be included in the calculation of nor form any part of 
any severance allowance, retiring allowance or termination settlement of any kind whatsoever in respect 
of such Optionee. 

 
4.11 Shares Not Acquired 

 
Any Unissued Option Shares not acquired by an Optionee under an Option which has expired may 

be made the subject of a further Option pursuant to the provisions of the Plan. 
 

5. ADJUSTMENT OF OPTION PRICE AND NUMBER OF OPTION SHARES 
 

5.1 Share Reorganization 
 

Whenever the Company issues Shares to all or substantially all holders of Shares by way of a stock 
dividend or other distribution, or subdivides all outstanding Shares into a greater number of Shares, or 
combines or consolidates all outstanding Shares into a lesser number of Shares (each of such events 
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being herein called a "Share Reorganization") then effective immediately after the record date for such 
dividend or other distribution or the effective date of such subdivision, combination or consolidation, for 
each Option: 

 
(a) the Option Price will be adjusted to a price per Share which is the product of: 

 
(i) the Option Price in effect immediately before that effective date or record date; 

and 
 

(ii) a fraction, the numerator of which is the total number of Shares outstanding on 
that effective date or record date before giving effect to the Share 
Reorganization, and the denominator of which is the total number of Shares that 
are or would be outstanding immediately after such effective date or record date 
after giving effect to the Share Reorganization; and 

 
(b) the number of Unissued Option Shares will be adjusted by multiplying (i) the number of 

Unissued Option Shares immediately before such effective date or record date by (ii) a 
fraction which is the reciprocal of the fraction described in clause (a)(ii). 

 
5.2 Special Distribution 

 
Subject to the prior approval of the Exchanges, whenever the Company issues by way of a 

dividend or otherwise distributes to all or substantially all holders of Shares; 
 

(a) shares of the Company, other than the Shares; 
 

(b) evidences of indebtedness; 
 

(c) any cash or other assets, excluding cash dividends (other than cash dividends which the 
Board has determined to be outside the normal course); or 

 
(d) rights, options or warrants; 

 
then to the extent that such dividend or distribution does not constitute a Share Reorganization (any of 
such non-excluded events being herein called a "Special Distribution”), and effective immediately after 
the record date at which holders of Shares are determined for purposes of the Special Distribution, for 
each Option the Option Price will be reduced, and the number of Unissued Option Shares will be 
correspondingly increased, by such amount, if any, as is determined by the Board in its sole and 
unfettered discretion to be appropriate in order to properly reflect any diminution in value of the Option 
Shares as a result of such Special Distribution. 

 
5.3 Corporate Organization 

Whenever there is: 
 

(a) a reclassification of outstanding Shares, a change of Shares into other shares or securities, 
or any other capital reorganization of the Company, other than as described in paragraphs 
5.1 or 5.2; 

 
(b) a consolidation, merger or amalgamation of the Company with or into another 

corporation resulting in a reclassification of outstanding Shares into other shares or 
securities or a change of Shares into other shares or securities; 
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(c) an arrangement or other transaction under which, among other things, the business or 
assets of the Company become, collectively, the business and assets of two or more 
companies with the same shareholder group upon the distribution to the Company's 
shareholders, or the exchange with the Company's shareholders, of securities of the 
Company, or securities of another company, or both; or 

 
(d) a transaction whereby all or substantially all of the Company's undertaking and assets 

become the property of another corporation; 
 

(any such event being herein called a “Corporate Reorganization”) the Optionee will have an option to 
purchase (at the times, for the consideration, and subject to the terms and conditions set out in the Plan) 
and will accept on the exercise of such option, in lieu of the Unissued Option Shares which he would 
otherwise have been entitled to purchase, the kind and amount of shares or other securities or property 
that he would have been entitled to receive as a result of the Corporate Reorganization if, on the effective 
date thereof, he had been the holder of all Unissued Option Shares or if appropriate, as otherwise 
determined by the Board. 

 
5.4 Determination of Option Price and Number of Unissued Option Shares 

 
If any questions arise at any time with respect to the Option Price or number of Unissued Option 

Shares deliverable upon exercise of an Option following a Share Reorganization, Special Distribution or 
Corporate Reorganization, such questions shall be conclusively determined by the Company's auditor, or, 
if they decline to so act, any other firm of Chartered Accountants in Vancouver, British Columbia, that 
the Board may designate and who will have access to all appropriate records and such determination will 
be binding upon the Company and all Optionees. 

 
5.5 Regulatory Approval 

 
Any adjustment to the Option Price or the number of Unissued Option Shares purchasable under 

the Plan pursuant to the operation of any one of paragraphs 5.1, 5.2 or 5.3 is subject to the prior approval of 
the Exchanges and any other governmental authority having jurisdiction. 

 
6. MISCELLANEOUS 

 
6.1 Right to Employment 

 
Neither this Plan nor any of the provisions hereof shall confer upon any Optionee any right with 

respect to employment or continued employment with the Company or any subsidiary of the Company or 
interfere in any way with the right of the Company or any subsidiary of the Company to terminate such 
employment. 

 
6.2 Necessary Approvals 

 
The Plan shall be effective only upon the approval of the shareholders of the Company given by 

way of an ordinary resolution. Any Options granted under this Plan prior to such approval shall only be 
exercised, to the extent to which such Options are Vested, upon the receipt of such approval. 
Disinterested Shareholder Approval (as required by the Exchanges) will be obtained for any reduction in 
the exercise price or extension of term of any Option granted under this Plan if the Optionee is an Insider of 
the Company at the time of the proposed amendment. The obligation of the Company to sell and deliver 
Shares in accordance with the Plan is subject to the approval of the Exchanges and any governmental 
authority having jurisdiction. If any Shares cannot be issued to any Optionee for any reason, including, 
without limitation, the failure to obtain such approval, then the obligation of the Company to issue such 
Shares shall terminate and any Option Price paid by an Optionee to the Company shall be immediately 
refunded to the Optionee by the Company. 
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6.3 Administration of the Plan 
 

The Board shall, without limitation, have full and final authority in their discretion, but subject to 
the express provisions of the Plan, to interpret the Plan, to prescribe, amend and rescind rules and 
regulations relating to the Plan and to make all other determinations deemed necessary or advisable in 
respect of the Plan. Except as set forth in paragraph 5.4, the interpretation and construction of any 
provision of the Plan by the Board shall be final and conclusive. Administration of the Plan shall be the 
responsibility of the appropriate officers of the Company and all costs in respect thereof shall be paid by 
the Company. 

 
6.4 Withholding Taxes 

 
The Company or any subsidiary of the Company may take such steps as are considered 

necessary or appropriate for the withholding and/or remittance of any taxes which the Company or any 
subsidiary of the Company is required by any law or regulation of any governmental authority whatsoever 
to withhold and/or remit (at the highest marginal income tax rate unless a lower marginal income tax rate 
is demonstrated by the Optionee to the satisfaction of the Company) in connection with any Option or 
Option exercise including, without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the withholding and/or 
remitting of all or any portion of any payment or the withholding of the issue of Common Shares to be 
issued upon the exercise of any Option until such time as the Optionee has paid to the Company or any 
subsidiary of the Company (in addition to the exercise price payable for the exercise of Options) the 
amount which the Company or subsidiary of the Company reasonably determines is required to be 
withheld and/or remitted with respect to such taxes. 

 
 

6.5 Amendments to the Plan 
 

The Board may from time to time, subject to applicable law and to the prior approval, if required, 
of the shareholders, the Exchanges or any other regulatory body having authority over the Company or 
the Plan, suspend, terminate or discontinue the Plan at any time, or amend or revise the terms of the Plan 
or of any Option granted under the Plan and the Option Agreement relating thereto, provided that no such 
amendment, revision, suspension, termination or discontinuance shall in any manner adversely affect any 
Option previously granted to an Optionee under the Plan without the consent of that Optionee. 

 
6.6 Form of Notice 

 
A notice given to the Company shall be in writing, signed by the Optionee and delivered to the 

head business office of the Company. 
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6.7 No Representation or Warranty 
 

The Company makes no representation or warranty as to the future market value of any Shares 
issued in accordance with the provisions of the Plan. 

 
6.8 Compliance with Applicable Law 

 
If any provision of the Plan or any Option Agreement contravenes any law or any order, policy, 

by-law or regulation of any regulatory body or Exchange having authority over the Company or the Plan, 
then such provision shall be deemed to be amended to the extent required to bring such provision into 
compliance therewith. 

 
6.9 No Assignment 

 
No Optionee may transfer or assign any of his or her rights under the Plan or any Option granted 

thereunder. 
 

6.10 Rights of Optionees 
 

An Optionee shall have no rights whatsoever as a shareholder of the Company in respect of any 
of the Unissued Option Shares (including, without limitation, voting rights or any right to receive 
dividends, warrants or rights under any rights offering). 

 
6.11 Conflict 

 
In the event of any conflict between the provisions of this Plan and an Option Agreement, the 

provisions of this Plan shall govern. 
 

6.12 Governing Law 
 

The Plan and each Option Agreement issued pursuant to the Plan shall be governed by the laws of 
the province of British Columbia. 

 
6.13 Time of Essence 

 
Time is of the essence of this Plan and of each Option Agreement. No extension of time will be 

deemed to be or to operate as a waiver of the essentiality of time. 
 

6.14 Entire Agreement 
 

This Plan and the Option Agreement sets out the entire agreement between the Company and the 
Optionees relative to the subject matter hereof and supersedes all prior agreements, undertakings and 
understandings, whether oral or written. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



SCHEDULE "A"  

NEO BATTERY MATERIALS LTD. 
 

STOCK OPTION PLAN - OPTION AGREEMENT 

This Option Agreement is entered into between • (the "Company") and the Optionee named below pursuant 
to the Company's 20 Stock Option Pian (the ”Plan"), a copy of which is attached hereto, and confirms that: 

1 . on •, 20• (the "Grant Date”); 

2. • (the ”Optionee"); 
 

3.  was granted the option (the "Option ') to purchase • Common Shares (the "Option Shares") of the 
Company: 

4. for the price (the "Option Price") of $• per share; 

5. which shall be exercisable immediately commencing on the Grant Date [OR set forth applicable vesting 
schedule]: 

6. terminating on the •, 20• (the "Expiry Date"); 

all on the terms and subject to the conditions set out in the Plan. For greater certainty, Option Shares continue to be 
exercisable until the termination or cancellation thereof as provided in this Option Agreement and the Plan. 

The Optionee acknowledges that any Option Shares received by him upon exercise of the Option have not 
been registered under the United States Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Blue Sky laws of any state 
(collectively, the "Securities Acts"). The Optionee acknowledges and understands that the Company is under no 
obligation to register, under the Securities Acts, the Option Shares received by him or to assist him in complying with 
any exemption from such registration if he should at a later date wish to dispose of the Option Shares. [Following to 
be included in Option Agreements with "U.S. Persons" - The Optionee acknowledges that the Option Shares s hall 
bear a legend restricting the transferability thereof, such legend to be substantially in the following form: 

 
 

"The shares represented by this certificate have not been registered or qualified under the United States Securities 
Act of 1933, as amended or stake securities laws. The shares may not be offered for sale, sold, pledged or otherwise 
disposed of unless so registered or qualified, unless an exemption exists or unless such disposition is not subject 
to U.S. federal or state securities laws, and the Company may require that the availability of any exemption or the 
inapplicability of such securities laws be established by an opinion of counsel, which opinion of counsel shall be 
reasonably satisfactory to the Company."] 

 
By singing this Option Agreement, the Optionee acknowledges that the Optionee has read and understands 

the Plan and agrees to the terms and conditions of the Plan and this Option Agreement. 

Acknowledgement — Personal Information 

The Optionee hereby acknowledges and consents to: 

(a) the disclosure to the TSX Venture Exchange and all other regulatory authorities of all personal information 
of the undersigned obtained by the Company; and 

(b) the collection, use and disclosure of such personal information by the TSX Venture Exchange and all other 
regulatory authorities in accordance with their requirements, including the provision to third party service 
providers, from time to time. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF the parties hereto have executed this Option Agreement as of the • day of •. 20•. 
 
 
 

Per:    
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Signature Authorized Signatory 
 
 

Print Name 
 
 

Address 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 

Schedule "I" 
 

TO MANAGEMENT INFORMATION CIRCULAR 
OF NEO BATTERY MATERIALS LTD. 

 
AUDIT COMMITTEE CHARTER 

Mandate 
 
The primary function of the audit committee ("Committee") is to assist the board of directors in fulfilling its 
financial oversight responsibilities by reviewing the following: (a) the financial reports and other financial 
information provided by the Company to regulatory authorities and shareholders; (b) the Company’s systems of 
internal controls regarding finance and accounting and the Company’s auditing, accounting; and (c) financial 
reporting processes. Consistent with this function, the Committee will encourage continuous improvement of, and 
should foster adherence to, the Company’s policies, procedures and practices at all levels. The Committee’s primary 
duties and responsibilities are to (i) serve as an independent and objective party to monitor the Company’s financial 
reporting and internal control system and review the Company’s financial statements; (ii) review and appraise the 
performance of the Company’s external auditors; (iii) provide an open avenue of communication among the 
Company’s auditors, financial and senior management and the board of directors; and (iv) to ensure the highest 
standards of business conduct and ethics. 
 
Composition 
 
The Committee shall be comprised of three directors as determined by the board of directors, the majority of who 
shall be free from any relationship that, in the opinion of the board of directors, would interfere with the exercise of 
his or her independent judgment as a member of the Committee. 
 
At least one member of the Committee shall have accounting or related financial management expertise. All 
members of the Committee that are not financially literate will work towards becoming financially literate to obtain 
a working familiarity with basic finance and accounting practices. For the purposes of the Company’s Charter, the 
definition of "financially literate" is the ability to read and understand a set of financial statements that present a 
breadth and level of complexity of accounting issues that are generally comparable to the breadth and complexity of 
the issues that can presumably be expected to be raised by the Company’s financial statements. 
 
The members of the Committee shall be elected by the board of directors at its first meeting following the annual 
shareholders’ meeting. Unless a chair is elected by the full board of directors, the members of the Committee may 
designate a chair by a majority vote of the full Committee membership. 
 
Meetings 
 
The Committee shall meet at least twice annually, or more frequently as circumstances dictate. As part of its job to 
foster open communication, the Committee will meet at least annually with the Chief Financial Officer and the 
external auditors in separate sessions. 
 
Responsibilities and Duties 
 
To fulfill its responsibilities and duties, the Committee shall: 
 
Documents/Reports Review 
 
(a) Review and update this Charter annually. 
 
(b) Review the Company’s financial statements, MD&A, any annual and interim earning statements and press 
releases before the Company publicly discloses this information and any reports or other financial information 
(including quarterly financial statements), which are submitted to any governmental body, or to the public, including 
any certification, report, opinion or review rendered by the external auditors. 



 

 

 
External Auditors 
 
(a) Review annually the performance of the external auditors who shall be ultimately accountable to the board of 
directors and the Committee as representatives of the shareholders of the Company. 
 
(b) Obtain annually a formal written statement of external auditors setting forth all relationships between the 
external auditors and the Company. 
 
(c) Review and discuss with the external auditors any disclosed relationships or services that may impact the 
objectivity and independence of the external auditors. 
 
(d) Take or recommend that the full board of directors take appropriate action to oversee the independence of the 
external auditors. 
 
(e) Recommend to the board of directors the selection and, where applicable, the replacement of the external 
auditors nominated annually for shareholder approval. 
 
(f) At each meeting, consult with the external auditors, without the presence of management, about the quality of the 
Company’s accounting principles, internal controls and the completeness and accuracy of the Company’s financial 
statements.  
 
(g) Review and approve the Company’s hiring policies regarding partners, employees and former partners and 
employees of the present and former external auditors of the Company. 
 
(h) Review with management and the external auditors the audit plan for the year-end financial statements and 
intended template for such statements. 
 
(i) Review and pre-approve all audit and audit-related services and the fees and other compensation related thereto, 
and any non-audit services, provided by the Company’s external auditors. The pre-approval requirement is waived 
with respect to the provision of non-audit services if: 

 
i. the aggregate amount of all such non-audit services provided to the Company constitutes not more than 
5% of the total amount of revenues paid by the Company to its external auditors during the fiscal year in 
which the non-audit services are provided; 
 
ii. such services were not recognized by the Company at the time of the engagement to be non-audit 
services; and 
 
iii. such services are promptly brought to the attention of the Committee by the Company and approved 
prior to the completion of the audit by the Committee or by one or more members of the Committee who 
are members of the board of directors to whom authority to grant such approvals has been delegated by the 
Committee.  

 
Provided the pre-approval of the non-audit services is presented to the Committee’s first scheduled meeting 
following such approval such authority may be delegated by the Committee to one or more independent members of 
the Committee. 
 
Financial Reporting Processes 
 
(a) In consultation with the external auditors, review with management the integrity of the Company’s financial 
reporting process, both internal and external. 
 
(b) Consider the external auditor’s judgments about the quality and appropriateness of the Company’s accounting 
principles as applied in its financial reporting. 
 



 

 

(c) Consider and approve, if appropriate, changes to the Company’s auditing and accounting principles and practices 
as suggested by the external auditors and management. 
 
(d) Review significant judgments made by management in the preparation of the financial statements and the view 
of the external auditors as to appropriateness of such judgments. 
 
(e) Following completion of the annual audit, review separately with management and the external auditors any 
significant difficulties encountered during the course of the audit, including any restrictions on the scope of work or 
access to required information. 
 
(f) Review any significant disagreement among management and the external auditors in connection with the 
preparation of the financial statements. 
 
(g) Review with the external auditors and management the extent to which changes and improvements in financial 
or accounting practices have been implemented. 
 
(h) Review certification process for certificates required under Multilateral Instrument 52-109. 
 
(i) Establish a procedure for the confidential, anonymous submission by employees of the Company of concerns 
regarding questionable accounting or auditing matters. 
 
Other 
 
(a) Review any related party transactions. 
 
(b) Review reports from persons regarding any questionable accounting, internal accounting controls or auditing 
matters ("Concerns") relating to the Company such that: 

 
i. an individual may confidentially and anonymously submit their Concerns to the Chairman of the 
Committee in writing, by telephone, or by e-mail; 
 
ii. the Committee reviews as soon as possible all Concerns and addresses same as they deem necessary; and 
 
iii. the Committee retains all records relating to any Concerns reported by an individual for a period the 
Committee judges to be appropriate. 

 
All of the foregoing in a manner that the individual submitting such Concerns shall have no fear of adverse 
consequences. 
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